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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY EF M HHEE

2020
BB

—_— ==

HK$'000

BETT

14,939,550

2021
=&
HK$'000
BRTT

16,183,872

2022
—ECCE
HK$'000
BETT

15,832,646

2023
-Eo=

HK$'000
BET

14,997,714

2024
—E_mE
HK$'000
BETT

14,891,574

2274167 2,949,461 3,172,657 3,393,130 4,353,960
12,665,383 13,234,411 12,659,989 11,604,584 10,537,614
BUEHKS33.4570  BMEHKS34.967c  BMEHKS33.447r  BMEHKS30.657c  HMEHK$27.837T
162,560 427,302 86,148 (814,937) (837,056)
BIHKS0.437T  BMHKSL137T  BMHKS0.237T  BEEHKS(2.15)7T BMHKS(2.21)7T
BIHKS0.407T  BMEHKS0.467Tc  BMSHKS0.387T  HBMEHKS0.287  EMEHK$0.287T
93% 41% 165% (13%) (13%)




FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS CHARTS
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present a review of the Group’s business
performance, together with some observations from the overall
economic environment of 2024 and expectations for the year
ahead.

The Global economy in 2024 maintained its momentum from
2023. It grew by some 3.2%, due mainly to lowering inflation,
increasing household income and spending. Unemployment
remained at a historical low, but the labor market was loosening
up. All these led to the significant Central Banks relaxing
interest rates. The Federal Reserve reduced the interest rate 3
times to 4.25% — 4.5%, the European Central Bank 4 times to
3%, and the Bank of England twice to 4.75%. Lowering nominal
yields gives some optimism to the property and credit markets.

However, service sector inflation has remained high.

Stock markets in the developed markets, the Dow Jones
index rose 13%; the S&P 500 gained 23%, 50% of which was
accounted for by the Magnificent Seven; and the Nasdaq
increased by 28.6%. Europe’s Stoxx 600 ended the year with a
6% gain, while the FTSE 250 improved by 8.1%. In Asia-Pacific,
the stock also has a good year. Hong Kong’s Hang Seng Index
is up 17%, and Nikkei 225 is 16%, followed closely by CSI 300
with an increase of 15%. The U.S. dollar Index, which measures
the dollar against a basket of other currencies, was up over 7%
annually. Gold also had a good year, an increase of 27% more
than the S&P 500.

U.S. economy expanded 2.8% in 2024. The personal
consumption advances of 4.2% was the chief engine of
growth. The drop in fixed investment was overcompensated by
spending on both goods and services. The investment growth
in intellectual property products remains strong, though, only
less than 2023. Residential investment rebounded strongly. The
labor market remained hot.

MEBHRR :

AANRAE BTEHRAEE_FT_N
FZXERRE > URAANHEREER
BZBRS > HREERZAL

TEINFEERRKBEET S 2=

HIEREE  ERANA32% > FERH
RBARMEE s KEWRAFNBEEER X
EXRFEBRLEA > B EHHIEZEH
4R - FREELEERFBRITHREFE -
EME=ZREEE425% — 4.5% > BUM
RIFOKREEE3% > AT MRE
BE475% c BRWm XN EARFME
HMEEMIHTER T —LLLERIBLE - 78 »
RIS IBARINABE ©

FEFERNKRETHRIFAT > BB
BB ERT 13% ; B E 500358 LR T
23% » HH50% g iEsR B M EB) ;
AT IR BN LR T 28.6% o BUMBYHTIE
760015 B E K LRk 6% > M= K 25015
A E3R8.1% c BARMEM R T RIKE
RRF FBEERHLERL7% B
2253580 ER 16% » &% 300 15 2122 BE
HE>» ER15% - HEETR—EBFH
HEENETIERERN LIRBA7% - &
ESERBHURE » ERT27% > B
T 1EE 500 I5 2 HVIENE o

“ECNEXREEEER28%  BAAH
BifR42% 2T ENIERE T - BIAE
ERE TE > B AR Hay g
IFRfEfE - B EEEMOKREERK
FRET) > [BBRIEHL 2023 FHIKF © (£
REBYRE > FEHIGHEBER -
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Chong Hing Bank Centre BIESR{THL

As 2024 drew to a close, Europe (Euro Area) was facing a
stalling economy, held back by burdensome regulation, high
energy prices, weak demographics, growing competition in
manufacturing sectors, and lagging in technological advances.
It only managed a meagre 0.8% growth. The UK GDP rise
was only 0.9% in 2024. “Low investment, policy mistakes,
political instability, and Brexit have combined to hold back
growth by more than in many comparable nations,” say the
pundits. The incoming Labour Government has weakened
business confidence by increasing employer national insurance
contribution in the October Budget. However, the commercial
property sector delivered a return of 7.7%, above the average
annual return of 7.2% since 2000.

The Bank of Japan estimated Japan’s Real GDP growth for fiscal
2024 was 0.5%. Exports and Industrial production were stable.
Corporate profits have increased, and the business sentiment
has been good. Private consumption rose moderately despite
price rises, but housing investment was relatively weak. The
Australian economy had a challenging 2024. The economy was
growing at its slowest annual rate, excluding the pandemic,
since the early 1990s recession. The Culprit was inflation and
the resultant high interest. Business insolvencies recently hit a
record high. Growth in consumer spending was well below the
pre-pandemic average. The GDP growth of Australia was 1.2%
in 2024.

BE_T_NEREER > BN (BTE)
HEREEER > REEENEE « SR
B1& ~ AO#SIBRSS « RIEZEHRFMEINU
REMESHFENTE  HIKHEERR
T ME5RI08%IE R o HE T _MERH
BEREEBEERES09% EXERR:
MR BERK « BERKR ~ BUB TR REMNUR
RERENEF R R E AR T RS E
R HEELFZREERBERE 1
MEENTEBNETARERFEM
T EENERMFRBRER > EHIFS T EEE
e AM > BEBMEBRT 7.7%8[0]
m BRBEZEETEURT2%VEFT
[E]#R= o

AARITH A S MM BEERN

ERERNEEREEREA05% 1O
MIEEERGRE - ©EFN BB

m> BERARTF - BEBKELRE F
MNEERMEE » BERREHEEEE -
BAMNERBEE_S - NFmmEIE -
REEBREEAB—NNEERILE
IR REKE (FEIEZERRRM) ©
EEBAEEERMEEHRNENE
EWEHEROATELNS - HES
FHPEREEPRZ BN FEHKE -
BN —E_NENEREEEEERE
#1.2% ©
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China has announced that 2024 GDP growth was 5%, which
is on target with its official goal. This reflected strong exports
and the effectiveness of Beijing’s monetary and fiscal stimulus
measures from September 2024. The manufacturing sector
grew by 6.1%. The manufacturing of high-technical products
alone grew by 9%, matching China’s emphasis on technological
growth. Regarding products, electric vehicles, integrated circuits,
and industrial robots all show impressive growth of 39%, 22%,
and 14%, respectively. The service sector showed a growth
of 5%, of which the IT series and service sector, together with
leasing and business service, both achieved double-digit growth.

The expansion of the total retail sector was 3.5% from that
of the previous year, while the fixed asset investment grew
by 3.2%. Foreign Trade showed a 5% year-to-year increase, a
rebound in global demand, and China’s resilience in a demanding
global economic environment. Exports gained 7.1% from 2023,
and imports increased by 2.3%. Electromechanical goods, a
major item of exports, increased by 8.7%, and the exports of
high-end equipment surged by more than 40%.

The Chinese property market has stabilized and shown signs
of rising demand by the end of the 4th Quarter of 2024. The
depression was arrested after a series of Government measures
throughout the year, ranging from easing of restrictive measures
to reduction of mortgage rates, transaction taxes, and down
payment ratios. In November, the housing prices index showed
a significant improvement on a month-to-month basis, with a
clear narrowing of decline, indicating that the turning point may

have arrived.

The transaction volume of First-hand property and second
hand residential of the Foshan Region declined by 18% and 9%,
respectively, in line with that of the Pearl River Delta. In general,
property prices dropped about 19% annually. The Grade A
market of Shanghai has been flooded by new supplies of some
800,000 per sg.m. As a result, the vacancy rate reached 22.4%
on average in 2024; a year-to-year comparison showed a 15%

decrease inrent.

TEER_SNFERNEERELER
#A5% MEaHEABR - ERMRTA
M OMIERE ZF 2 MF 5L B EBIREX
&8 R BRIBIERNE R - RiE
EERT61%; EeiRERNEED
MET 9% > HPERIFRANERNERE
HE FERAFE EFE - EHRE
T EMEBADRILERT 39% ~ 22% 70
14% ° RIFHEBR T 5% » HPEARE
RERBEUAREEMBERBEEERT
MBI o

TEBEREFERIS%  BIEEER
B R32% - SNEFERS% > 2IKFE
KE > B EERIENEKEEIR

BhMEME - HOR-_BE_=ZFERT
7.1% EOE23% c EESIEAT

EHMOERERET87%  MaimREN
YO T 2818 40% o

—ECNFEENEE AEEMETS
BEENIRE > MR H T KEFA BB
Ko TR —RIIEN > BERR
REVFER - REEFERFER 51
MENEEFR » BMEDBNEXRER
REITES - +—8  BEEHZEAN
- [RIgFAREIRE ERATREINMAE
B o

HBLUMEN—FEM_—_FENRZED
B TFFET 18%HM9% > HHKI=AMNE
BR—H - BEMS > BEFITERY
19% ° EBHNHRRR FIETHIGIGEHE
#3800,000F 77K » B 2024 F /YT 15
EERER224% ; BARFAEL > HET
F&7T 15% ©
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From 2024 Autumn onwards, China announced a series of fiscal
and monetary measures to stimulate the economy. The most
important of all is the one on 24 September led by the PBOC;
the package had a variety of wide-ranging monetary, property,
and capital market initiatives to sustain the economy and
restore investors’ confidence. The key element of the economic
stimulus was cutting the reserve requirement ratio and interest
rates. The property sector was supported by cuts to mortgage
rates and a down payment ratio. New financial market tools
have also been introduced, including a liquidity support program
for securities and loans to companies for stock buybacks,
boosting activities in the Chinese stock markets.

Hong Kong’s economy was lackluster in 2024. It managed
a growth rate of 2.5%, a drop from 3.2% in 2023. The Hang
Seng Index went through a roller-coaster ride; it started at
some 17,000, dropped to 14,700, peaking at 23,240 after the
big stimulus in China at the end of September and finishing at
20,000, up 18%.

Hong Kong's labor market was still strong, with an
unemployment rate of 1.1%. However, we suffered a further
decline in retail sales; total retailed sales decreased by 7% in
value and 9% in volume. This showed the impact of outbound
shopping trips during weekends and long holidays, resulting
in a change in shopping patterns. The High Street retail shop
vacancy stood at 10%, with the non-core area struggling to
keep tenants despite the lowering of rent. In 2024, the overall
vacancy rate of Grade A office space stood at 13%, the highest
in 25 years, due to new competition in Central and another
district. Grade A office rent, in general, decreases by 8.6%.
Central had, in particular, approximately 12% drop.

Hong Kong’s woe did not stop here. The sluggishness in
residential home market sales was the most bothersome.
Residential prices in large private estates dropped by 7%. This
pessimistic view on residential housing, coupled with the higher
mortgage rate, led to lower demand, which in turn led to a
sharp drop in land sales revenue of the SAR Government, as a
result of which the estimated forecast of budget for 2024/2025
deficit double the previous forecast of HK$48.1 billion.

R-Z_NEMFE PEEHRT—F
SR AN G TR U RIBETE - HA R
EENEHPERAREBTRAAZ+H
LB —EF5E; &t 8E2E
BZNER BHENELTIHRE
SEEXEEELRERBEERGD &K
R BB RO R EETFREGT RN
ME > B ETEBBFEIEREMRF
KNG ERF/H o b5 > B3IA
THHNEMHSIA  SEFEFA%E
SXFFFEUKREERELEER B
BhtfEE T PRI HRERE o

TECNEFARERRES  BRE
W_BZ_=ZFEM32% FTHEE25%° 1H
SIRBCETBLERNEE > FBEBRY
#17,000% > G 1K R 14,7008 T A
BEARE#HEARRHEFRESIEE
23,240% > & #2 UL ¥R 20,0008 > £ R
18%

EBNEEFHIGMAET > KEXS
1.1% ° AT > SEBEAE—D TB > 42
TEBETMR7%  HEETMH% - 58
TRARNMRERABEIEBEBNTE > &
HEMEHNNE SHTEENTEE
E2A10% > MIFZOEBIHBEERESTH
MEUZERR c _ET_WF > A E
RREMMEHRHINGRES > BREFT
BHERTEREZEDNII% B25F K
NEREKTE BREFEHEEZETE
8.6% » FIRAIPEIELE » 894 12% o

BEARANERLRIED UL - FETHIHH
ERRESAREE > AEMARENE
EEBTET 7%  HEEDHHNEER
> MERSHEEMNER  ERFEXRE
Do 45 EEATHYE YA KB T EX -
[Al1tE 2024/2025 F EH BB R EZN K F
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181-183 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong &:# 4875 181-1835%

BUSINESS RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a
loss of HK$840.4 million, compared with the loss of HK$873.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s
results were lost mainly due to the fair value loss of investment
properties. As these losses are non-cash, they will not affect the
Group’s operating cash flow. Nonetheless, the overall financial
and business position of the Group remains strong and healthy.

The Board of Directors has proposed to recommend that
the final cash dividend of HK$0.17 per share be paid at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 22 May 2025.
Together with the interim cash dividend of HK$0.11 per share
paid on 13 September 2024, the total cash dividend amounted
to HK$0.28 per share for the year 2024.

REER
BE_T_NFE+-_B=+—HILEE >
7 £ B #% 13 5 18 49 8 1 840,400,000
T MBE_S_=F+"_HA=+—H1
FE - B3 E 18481 873,100,000
Lo AEENESSETIEHNKEY
ENTEERE #ARZZFERAIER
EME AEAFEHAERNKERE
MEBEATE - BEWLL ) REFEMNE
R B TR D IATE G o

BEERN _S_RAERR-+_-HZ
TZRERREBFAE » BFRIKERA
HERESKRBIEI7T - BEAN_-E
“HEAB+=ZHBIREZFERER
BEEKAEK1lT —_E_NEEZR
EREESHASKRABE0.287T -



A detailed business review and analysis are to be found in this

o

Annual Report’s “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

In summary:

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total rent
received by the Group amounted to HK$302.4 million,
increased by HK$0.3 million, slightly increased by
0.1% compared with the year 2023. For our significant
properties, the aggregate occupancy rate is 83.5%.

For the property development in Foshan, The Grand
Riviera, 5,242 residential units had been sold. As of
31 December 2024, the total sale proceeds of the
development project amounted to HK$6 billion. A
substantial income is anticipated from the sale of the
remaining residential units, car parks, and shops in the
future.

in the
Sanshui District of Foshan, started selling in November

Our residential property project, “Elegance Garden,”

2023. As of the date of the report, we have successfully
sold out 75% of available units, generating approximately
RMB366.8 million in sale proceeds. Moving forward, the
decision to release the remaining blocks for sale will be
contingent upon the prevailing conditions of the local
property market.

In November 2024, the Group entered into a 10-year
lease agreement with a consortium led by GDH Limited for
the One-Eight-One Hotel and Serviced Residences, which
will bring stable rental income to the Group in the coming
years.

The Kimpton Kitalay Samui, our Group’s five-star hotel
in Koh Samui, Thailand, managed by the InterContinental
Hotels Group (IHG), continues to do well. As of 31
December 2024, the revenue received by the hotel
amounted to HK$121.4 million, significantly increased by
26% compared with the year 2023.

In 2024, our London commercial property, Barratt House,
in Oxford Street, has an 86% occupancy, generating an
annual rental revenue of approximately GBP2.5 million.

EXRFRMEEE Z5mR DT —EIR
A FENEFOERDH o IR
LI

BEE_E_MFE+-A=+—H
LFEE Z"ERNERHES KRG
#9 7 1302,40000075 B = &
— = F 1907 ¥ 300,000 7T T
01% > FEXREW X 2 ERBHEEX
83.5% o
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In January this year, Economics experts predicted that growth
in the U.S. would be around 2.7% in 2025. This increase was
due to its underlying demand remaining strong with a view that
interest rates would be lowered and there would be a more
friendly business and tax environment. In the Euro area, with
the prospect of a cease-fire in Ukraine, growth was expected
to pick up but at a more gradual pace than expected hitherto
because of the weaker-than-expected economic impetus,
especially in the manufacturing sector, and the uncertainty
of political policies. In the other advanced economies, two
offsetting forces kept growth forecasts stable. On the one
hand, with inflation down, recovering real incomes would boost
consumption. On the other hand, the prospect of a change in
trade policies adds to the uncertainties in business investment.
IMF predicts that the UK would have a growth rate of 1.6%.
This may sound optimistic, given the weak business confidence.
Businesses are worried about the upcoming tax rises, which

may reduce employment and raise prices.

The above is a summary of the pundits, which is, on the whole,
optimistic. However, from February this year, the view above is
increasingly challenged by events. The economic uncertainties
stem from the U.S. The first concern is the Tariffs policy of the
Trump administration on the export countries. Europe, the UK,
and Canada, already struggling without it, may go into recession.
The increases in Tariffs, strengthening measures against illegal
immigrants, and cutting both the corporate tax rate and the top
income tax rate would likely cause interest rates to rise because
they cause inflation and worsen the already high budget
deficit. The U.S. stock market has become more volatile and
could suffer a significant setback, especially with the S&P 500
dominated by the high-tech Magnificent Seven. Prospective
competitors from other countries, such as China, are emerging.

2025 could turn out to be a year of challenges.

“ECRFE-R KEEREAEEZ
E_RENEEERERORB27% B
—RBRTEFRNABBRFEFTRY > I
FREAF KRR E > EHBEMRKRE
FAEMMNRE -BTtEFE > ARER
BE AR AR » Bt EUTE A IS R
Bt BERERLEZATTRANGE R
HEEEBN /155 TEH - AR RIES »
BEABREFEREEM - THMEHE
BT > MRBRHENDERIERTE
ARKRE - —HHE > BEERTE
BRBANEAREENE ; 5—FHH >
BZBEREIEMNAREM T EEREN
THEEM - EREBESHBTRAER
ML RES 1.6% > ERITERESD
%55 BEEIFBNRER > EEREORR
BRI SEG R MELHESERS o

UERRERHENBLE  KEERLER
BN AM > BT _HFE_AiL>
E—HAERIMRES EHAIPEE -
RENAREEREXE  sEHEHN
B2 2SS BT H O ERRRTIREEE
AIREEEAMHBAEUN « HEMMERKX
BARE - B L - RITRIFER
RAVHEE - URFBEEEERRMEAR
SFERE > MAEERME LHA
AERIIZBRIMAEESENTER
KRF e XERMESENEE > 155=E
UERE AT Mt EmBE) & EMIEE 500
EHAIEEBREKRER > REFREFH
hERNEETRFHFEEER —F
“HERREERTMREN—F -



The Chinese economy may reach 5% in 2025. At the Central
Economic Conference in December 2024, the Chinese
Government gave clues on how to soften the blow of rising
Tariffs imposed by the U.S. At the Conference, increased
domestic demand was the central theme, and next to it,
technological innovations. Key measures for increasing
consumption include promoting income growth, lessening the
burden on middle- and low-income groups, raising retirees’ basic
pensions, and raising subsidies on medical insurance. Also, the
loosening of monetary policy and fiscal expansion are already
underway in 2025. There may be a meaningful adjustment of
the RMB exchange rate to lessen the impact of higher Tariffs.
Analysts expect property prices will be stabilized in late 2025.
Technology finance is emerging as a top priority in 2025 to
support new quality product development. The most profound
impact on the technology sector in 2025 will be the U.S. further
section against China. However, this action leads China to
accelerate self-innovation and domestic substation efforts.
The emergency of DeepSeek is an example. The Automotive
industry will promote a “from domestic to Global” transition
from domestic demand-driven growth to a balanced strategy
embracing the international market by penetrating emerging
markets, product diversification, and overseas production.

The Hong Kong economy is forecast to grow by 2%-3%, but
the outlook is uncertain. The Tariff war of the U.S. may hit Hong
Kong's exports. More importantly, it may slow down the pace of
the interest rate cuts in Hong Kong, keeping the currency strong
vis-a-vis our neighbors. We also expect local consumption to be
weak. The property segment may not recover as new supplies
are plentiful. The good news is that the Hang Seng Index may
well be up because high-tech stocks are receiving a boost from
the success of DeepSeek.

FREKEE _S _RAEAREEDS%M
MR HEZTNE+ AP RKE
THgEL PEBRNEET EHEE
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MR > WeaARATAIH o RIEHEN
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WABREEE - REBRKABNELE
EBE ARG INEE R RRAERL o thsh > =
ETHFEMNERBERRMNMBERE
TFETH A\EEEXIESETER
WA LURKRAR LBNTE . 2
MALTEN  BHEBKEE-S-H
FREBNEE ENEME_ZSHE
ABERZE > ULZFHEEERNFE
o ZEHPENE—THRBHE
ERELEFERE > BEHEEFEM
EERAFMERNBERNE S - FEXR
2 (DeepSeek) W HHIR T 2 — BB F © )5
BHITERHES MEEANEIZER) S
RUBEANFERAESIE RE W EIEE
RTHISH T EERE » @REATETS
ERZTEHBNEERER o
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Given the uncertainties that we are facing, our Group will adopt
a policy of caution in terms of both acquisition and disposal of
investments. Our prudent management over the past few years
has paid off. We have a healthy balance sheet, and the gearing
ratio of the Group is low. We can afford to dispose of assets
at a time of our choosing, thus maximizing the benefits to our
shareholders. We will invest if there is an absolute bargain in

domestic and international business arenas.

In our property leasing, our emphasis will continue to be on
the occupancy rate, and cash flow is our key criterion. All our
rental properties have respectable occupancy rates, the ones in
Hong Kong, on average, above 85%, and the one in London, on
average, some 86%. Our Thailand hotel continues to generate
good revenue. We believe the Group is in a good position to

weather any storm of 2025.

On 31 December 2024, Ms. Mariana Ngan was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of our Group.
We are fortunate that she, a reputable banker with immense
experience, has joined our Board. | want to use the opportunity
to extend my warm welcome to her, not only to be a member of

our Board but also the first female to do so.

ERNFFAIBENZBIREN  £&H
R E R B R AE AN 2 B 75 E R EGE 1R AY
R HAIBERFNFHEEERSK
Mo BANBEEERRRER  SENE
REERBIE » FULFHAFIAI AT E B BB
WEEEE  tM&ACKRREIF -
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IHE > HFIRETIRE -
ERMANMEREFR > RAREERE
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M FEHHEERNA86% o MMEREH
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AU PLEL -
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Last but not least, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks
to stakeholders and shareholders for their continued trust and
support, all my fellow directors for their wise stewardship, and
our senior management and our staff for their commitment and
dedication.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Lit Chi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13 March 2025

RE > FABUEHFNERRRZES
ERARF - REFZHERAEE > UK
EEABHBTIZR/OBNRT > B
ROHE o

AEEG®
EIE
FE

58> _E-_RFE=A+=H

w
[
&
r4
m
("]
(%]
r)
m
<
m
g
>
r4
=)
Q
(o)
A
v
(e}
5
=
m
3
<
m
~
4
>
r4
(o)
m
bl
#
m
&
&
5
o
1}
L3

EvHERTEEE N

=

L EHSO



U
\J
O
\J
\J
U
O
\J

M

11]

Il
1|
II[E)

3
[]
it

A II

S i ] A A
] ] I-‘--r; N TR " L
o G o , “' )’ I:II g ‘{w
& w j s . .I' j
2 = s |
o S ; Sl
R L A

R

SEEZHEESE IDNVNIIAOD ILVIOJIOD ANV MIIATY SSANISNG

T IVHONVHS
NVNI4 ONIH ONOHO

S — f /
o '
! I "'| 7
= ) L A
I i 9 u | ,‘ﬁ 4
- "Ili - / 4 | =
T, /L
i

Iél

\

Ve §

¥

3IN3D 35

ﬁm". >
4 7
a "'i'.f.'
'7-1"'}"“
. .
B
-

N
w

y = - /- l
i s - ~g
._-zu i ;n.«mﬂ.uﬂ.thd L

. l—. L 2 ..r
.|m ko (}'t)i]'['c)i'

BErHEXRIHEE

BEEsE=—&= |

“We._(Computer rendering after renovation {2 [ETR
s _ e 5
o 3



20T LYOd3Y TYNANNY | QILIWITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT 2

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEgHR&E &

g

|Il[”_l

EE— == !
" hé &
. 1 i
o [

Chong Hing Finance Center, Shanghai £ 88 B &R (Computer rendering after renovation ${£ &M B TEE)

The Board of Directors of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited
(the “Board”) has pleasure in presenting to the shareholders its
annual report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are property investment, property development,
investment holding and hotel operation. The principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are shown
in notes 40 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“Companies Ordinance”), including a fair review of the business
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group
since the end of the 2024 financial year, and an indication
of likely future development(s) in the Group’s business, can

n o«

be found in the “Five-Year Financial Summary”, “Chairman’s

Statement”, “Summary of Financial Highlights”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report”
sections of the Annual Report. These sections collectively form

part of this report.

BRIBGZARATDEFE(EFE))
REFHE_T_NF+_A=+—H
LFEZFEREEREEZZMBR
xoMRARARETIMIRREE -

FEEFREHEIRE
FRBKREMBARE (TAEE)ZEE
EBAMERE - YMRELER - REER
RBEED BXEMBRAARGER
EZITEEBEDRFIINGEMBHR
RMIFEE 40K 18THA ©

MEARMAR R E B A BRI (TREEG)
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HHNEERRERTARE RS s =
T NFEMBEEREREELZESL
SENEESHFB  URBEEERE
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RESULTS AND STATE OF AFFAIRS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs at that

date are set out on pages 176 to 288 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

An interim cash dividend of HK$0.11 per share was paid to
shareholders on 13 September 2024. The Board recommends
a final cash dividend of HK$0.17 per share, making a total cash
dividend of HK$0.28 per share for the year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
movements in reserves of the Company during the year are set

out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2024 comprised the
accumulated profits of HK$6,979,697,000 (2023:
HK$7,086,774,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Movements in investment properties during the year are set out
in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/RIGHT-OF-USE
ASSETS

Movements in property, plant and equipment/Right-of-use
assets during the year are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Movements in properties under development for sale/
properties held for sale during the year are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars relating to the subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to

the consolidated financial statements.

EBEREBIKR

AERBE_T_NE+HA=+—H
L FENEBERBNATEAERNRZE
HEFRAHINAFIRSE 176 £288H ©
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Details of bank loans and other borrowings repayable are
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group has no capitalized interest during the year. (2023:
HK$nil)

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are shown on page 138 of this annual report.

The term of office of each director, who has been longest
in office, shall retire by rotation and offer themselves for
re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of

Association.

In accordance with Article 105 and 106 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston, Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo
Chi Moses, Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur and Mr. Tong Tsun Sum
Eric shall retire by rotation at the conclusion of the Annual
General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. The Company
intends to comply with code provision B.2.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules, which provides, among other things, that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Mr.
Liu Kam Fai Winston, Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses, Mr. Au
Kam Yuen Arthur and Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Moreover, in accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of
Association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Accordingly, Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana, who was appointed by
the Board with effect from 31 December 2024, will hold office
until the AGM and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election.

The biographical details of directors and senior management are
set out on pages 143 to 153.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and the Company considered all Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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COMPLIANCE OF THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

All directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules throughout the review period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the directors and the
Chief Executive Officer in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which have been notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO, or have been recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers were as follows:

INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND IT’S ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

THE COMPANY

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited

BFLEHARNEFETESFIBNE
#TA

REEEME > FIEESERERSEEET
EHRRIMERCIFEz LT ABESE

TESXZORETRZHE -

EEETARIREEBEEBEREZR
R
RZZ_MOFE+ZA=+—H > EEK
THARERARTREBEEE(ER
RES RSB EXVER) Z &% - 48
RSN RESPHNERERIEES R
EEBIEXVEE7RESDFBEME L
REIREBHMERZMBRAR (THHR
Fr1) » XEIIRBHE S RIS %55 352
RERERQATAFEFENELM > HE
RIELTRITAESETESRFZIE
HEFAMERAT RN » 2SS
mnF

£ 45 22 5) e H A8 Bk 0% [ B9 R 153 B 481 A
Rz 15 TR B E &5

TAF
ERIEBTERRAS

NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES HELD {55 Zi&MR {7 8 B

Family interests

Total interests as

(interests of spouse or Corporate interests approximate % of the
child under 18) (interests of controlled relevant issued
Long/short Personal interests Ei corporation) share capital
position (held as beneficial owner) (Fof@ 18 5% Vgl 4 Total interests R eERT
8/ %A B (BiEHE) UTFFL2ziER) (BT ZHER) Ll 3 REBNERE
Mr. Liu Lit Chi Long 24,000 - 222,289,000 222,313,000 58.72%
EE?.IJ\%: %E ﬁ}% (notes 1and 2)
(GEIY)
Mr. Liu Kam Fai Long 2,756,867 = = 2,756,867 0.73%
Winston 50=}
notes: M

1 132,326,710 shares in the Company are beneficially held by Liu's Holdings Limited, of which
Mr. Liu Lit Chi are amongst its shareholders. The above numbers of shares are duplicated
under the corporate interests for each of these directors.

2. Alba Holdings Limited, of which Mr. Liu Lit Chi and his associates are shareholders,
beneficially holds 89,962,290 shares in the Company, and thus is included in the corporate
interests of Mr. Liu Lit Chi.

1. PBABREAEREEERARDZKER > ZAFE
BEBEEAATRM 132326710/ - SERE T
BERRTZARERBERNERE

2. PEABREREMEATAREEEARARZRR
ZARBEEAEARRN 89,962,290k > WHMATE
BABRERTZARRRRAR o
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Company,
the following persons (other than the directors or the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or were
directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal

value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all

FERREEMALNED

AZEZNE+ZRA=+—H > A2
SIPTEN > FYIRRER (R AT ERHITHAE
HBRIM) RA QB Z AR K ABRARR AR R #E
BEREBEESRIAERGIEXVEE2RE
IPEZMEBAARATKE Z #ERIK
B NEEIBEEEREIEEFBRT
RAEEFEAEMKEATRKRREARE L
KREZ BRI AEE 5% A £ Z

circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the % :
Group:
Name of substantial shareholder Long/short position Capacity No. of ordinary share held % of the issued share capital
TERFER B/ %R i3 Rty EiERRAR (R 8 B EERTREFRLL
Liu's Holdings Limited Long Beneficial owner 132,326,710 34.95%
BREEBRAT e EafAA (note 1)

(MtzE 1)
Alba Holdings Limited Long Beneficial owner 89,962,290 23.76%
EEEERRRAR 150 BafFAA (note2)

(ME2)
notes: M5
1. Liu's Holdings Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong Kong, is owned by, amongst 1. BREBBRARADNREAZIMMILZIAART > #

others, Mr. Liu Lit Chi. Such corporate interests are also disclosed in the sub-section under
“Directors’ interests in Share Capital of the Company and its Associated Corporations.”

2. Alba Holdings Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong Kong, is owned by Mr.
Liu Lit Chi and his associates. Such corporate interests are also disclosed in the sub-
section under “Directors’ interests in Share Capital of the Company and its Associated
Corporations.”

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by
any person (other than the directors or Chief Executives Officer
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company of 5% or more as
at 31 December 2024 which were required to be disclosed to
the Company under Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

BEANBEENERE - ZERAEENER LIRS
TEREFARRERERES 2 REERD ) D HRK

EE'S o
2 EREEARAFADREERMALZMARE > 5
RlBEAE EERABRALERARS - REQAM
HRIER L3S A (ESEAAAREAMARES
ZIRAkE) HBRE -
PR ERFRIRERSN » WA ERMAL (EA
Bl EFHITEARHFRIN MERBE TR
HERMEXVHBHR T -NF+=H
=+—BRHAELFRES%HUALZKRN K
MRk D Z EmR KA A QB ELHE
B SRIRE S IR R 6155 33617 A
FEEZECMAFRCEREITIE



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, “Related Party Disclosures”, no contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had, whether directly or indirectly,
have material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was partied to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company entered into a lease agreement
with the landlord, a company wholly owned by Mr. Liu Lit Chi,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and his associates.
The Company leased the property for a monthly rent of
HK$420,000 for a term commencing from 14 March 2024 and
ending on 13 March 2026. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the aggregate rent payable by the Company amounted to
HK$4,023,871.

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Company upon
entering a lease transaction as a lessee have recognized a
right-of-use asset in its consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the entering into of the Tenancy Agreement by
the Company will be regarded as an acquisition of asset by
the Group from a Connected Person, which will constitute a
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

ESSOED

Prén S MBS IRRMEESE 39T/M MRl A
TIRBEEIR FRitZ 5 MEEHEFE
REEERE > AABSEFLEERN
BIZERABHEEMME AT L
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EXRME -

TEEATRBHEEAMELSMRER
2HEEMZHIBESEZTEANEEAT
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“EINF RATEEFERITEAER
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s turnover
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were both
less than 30%. None of the directors, their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Board owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest

in the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company and
its subsidiaries have not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

shares in the Company.

SHAREHOLDINGS INFORMATION

TOP 10 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

According to the register of members of the Company as at 31
December 2024, the top 10 largest shareholders are as follows:

FERRRMEH

TEERN > ZEBZAAREREEHG
FEBRBARBDZ=1 > MAER
ZHARERREEERERERER
DZ=tT FRABDREFKRHEBBAL
HERARR (EZEGNBEERATNEHR
TRABERDZH) BEAEZEAM
FEM s E R R o

fBE - L& EE R %
BE_E_NE+_"_A=+—HLEFE
RN AABFREMBARLERE « W
EWBEERERFZRKM -

FRRER
FRERSMNI10MEER
REBAATDRRESHANER > RIE

—mE+"_BA=+—HEREEREH10
IRRERANTF :

Number of

shares held %
Name of shareholder BRERRE HERNEE BRIt
1. HKSCC Nominees Limited EERREHE (REAN) BRA 160,777,739 4247
2. Chong Hing (Nominees) Limited BlE (R3F) ERAR 138,449,528 36.57
3. Alba Holdings Limited EEEERRAR 35,000,222 9.25
4. MUFG Nominees (HK) Limited MUFG Nominees (HK) Limited 10,000,000 2.64
5.Wragg Limited Wragg Limited 5,000,000 1.32
6.Cheng Kee Man Cheng Kee Man 3,160,000 0.83
7.Cheng Kee Hong Cheng Kee Hong 3,100,000 0.82
8. Leung Kwok Choi Leung Kwok Choi 1,324,000 0.35
9.Leung Lai Fong Leung Lai Fong 1,300,000 0.34
10. On Luk Tong Limited On Luk Tong Limited 1,090,000 0.29
Total Aas 359,201,489 94.88




LOCATION OF SHAREHOLDERS
According to the register of members of the Company as at 31
December 2024, the location of shareholders are as follows:

Bz 3R 53 6
BREARBRREILMOEL > RZF
“mME+"A=+—HBKRRIMHUTF :

Number of

shares held %
Location of shareholders RRAG RHERMHE BRLE
Hong Kong &8 378,523,540 99.9842
Chinaand South East Asia Bl KRR 33,660 0.0089
Europe BUM 800 0.0002
US and Canada EZERMNEK 16,860 0.0044
Australia BN 8,580 0.0023
Total &t 378,583,440 100
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT REZATBFRE

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Companies Ordinance requires the directors to prepare
the financial statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at the end of the financial year and of their
respective profits or loss for the year then ended. In preparing
the financial statements, the directors are required to select
suitable accounting policies and apply them on a consistent
basis, making judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable; state the reasons for any significant departure
from accounting standards; prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis, unless it is not appropriate to presume
that the Company and the Group will continue in business for
the foreseeable future.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and of
the Group and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

KRR _E_MNE+_"_B=+—HIt
FE» EFEERTEZATRITRE ©
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEgHR&E &

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Executive Management Committee was established on
30 October 2014. The current members of the committee are
comprised of Mr. Liu Lit Chi, Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston, Mr. Lee
Wai Hung, Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl, Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian
and Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger. Based on the duly approved
terms of reference by the Board, the committee is authorized
to discuss, formulate policies and make decisions on all matters
relating to the daily management and operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries. It also helps to discuss significant
daily operational issues, review business performance and take
prompt corrective actions as appropriate. The Board believes
that the function of committee could help to relieve the Board of
detailed review of information and to increase the operational
efficiency among different departments.

Detailed terms of reference could be seen at the Company’s
website.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Audit Committee report is shown on pages 42 to 43. The
principal duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
internal controls and the financial reporting requirements of
the Group. The Audit Committee meeting will normally be held
twice each financial year immediately before the Board meeting
for approving the interim and final results. The committee is
satisfied with the Company’s internal control procedures and the

financial reporting disclosures.

WNITEEZE S
HITEEZEEENR _E—NE+A
=+HRIL- - ZEGREZEEEE

BrRE-BETERE - FRELE B
BEERE - BEAREREESRKE -
RESEFGTEAMENTHESLE > 28
CEREMNERFARENBATNAEE
EEREERREEMN - FIEBR
IWAEHRR - ZE G HBIF & Ekﬁ
FEEBEHE BAEBRE LEE
BN TREREELEE - EFE 18
5 ZEGZHEFAAKEESTFFE
BRENZBRTRAZHBFIZHEEE
BRE -

HEHEZFBR2RAQEME -

EZESY
BREEGRETINEI2E43H - Bz
ZEEIEREABTEAERMZAL
EEEFRNEMBREZER 8%
ZET—REFHIMR > TEEESE
EEEEBPARKRIEENOREE
ZEERMERRTZANEERZF R
B EFMIEEZER -



NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Nomination Committee report is shown on pages 44 to 45. The
report showed the main duty and the work performed by the
committee during the year of 2024.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee report is shown on page 46. The
report showed the main duty and work performed by the
committee during the year of 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has substantially complied throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024 with those paragraphs of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules, with which it is required to report compliance.

Guidelines and procedures for corporate governance of the
Company are set out on pages 68 to 95.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its directors and senior management arising out
of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance when this report prepared by the
directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

RBEEY
REBZEGREVINFE44E45H - &K
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HNEE S
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEgHR&E &

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The names of all directors who have served on the Board of
Directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year

and up to the date of this report are as follows:
Mr. Mok Siu Kwong Stanley

Mr. Guan Chubin

Mr. Liu Ying Shing Claudius

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who have
expressed their willingness to continue in office. Accordingly, a
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to reappoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Lit Chi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13 March 2025
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LIU CHONG HING INVESTMENT LIMITED SIMPLIFIED ORGANISATION CHART
BRIBETXARASBICAEBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESg

EXECUTIVE CORPORATE
MANAGEMENT GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE COMMITTEE
HITEEZEY THEEREZEE

REMUNERATION AUDIT
COMMITTEE COMMITTEE
=SS BREEY

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE
REEEY

Finance Management Projects Facilities Property
and Information Management Management Management
Technology Department Department Department Department

B EER AR REEE REEERER MEEEE

Human Leasing & Asset
Resources Management
Department Department

WE ADERE BHREEEEL

Secretarial
Department
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT B ZE g8 HR &=

The Audit Committee (“AC”) is made up of four members, all of
them are Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company.

The AC oversees the financial reporting system and internal
control procedures. In this process, management is principally
responsible for the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements including the selection of suitable accounting
policies. External auditors are responsible for auditing and
attesting to the Group’s financial statements and will report
to the management of the Company from time to time on any
weakness in controls which come to their attention. The AC
oversees the respective work of management and external
auditors to ensure the management has discharged its duty to
have an effective internal control procedures.

The AC had performed the works as follows:

1. Toreview the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024,

2. Toreview the interim results of the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2024;

3. To review and monitor the external auditors’
independence;

4. Toreview the system of internal control of the Company;

5. To review the audit plan and the engagement from
external auditors;

6. To make recommendation on the re-appointment of

external auditors; and

7. To review the sufficiency of manpower resources of
account and finance team of the Group in order to carry
out the duties.

It was reported that no major internal control weakness was
found and all the recommendations previously suggested by
auditors were agreed and implemented by the management in
2024.

2Z8GHNREEEN > 2HAT
BIEIULIFITES -

BEZEZEEEEAEEMBHRERER
MEERERF - REAMER > EEEX
EREEEMBRRZGHR > SERE
BHEZEHR - SNERHAMNE T EZ
REBEEERZMBRRRARREAT
EEEEREENSHAMEERE -
BZZEeREEEERINEZHMZ
I RREEEERITERERILA
MEINEBEEIE R A

tﬁm
ol s

B REGERITUTIMfF:

1. BEXATIBEE_ZS_WNE+_A
=+—BHILFEZHHEREK ;

2. BMEAXABRBE_ZT_NENA
=+HIESNER 2L

3. WAKRERIMNERHENZEILIE

4. BAEREZAMEIEHE ;
5. WEEFEEIREBRASNBIZEET ;

6. TIBEZEINSZEENMIRE HEE
)4

7. BANTEREARMBERZAF
BERESNE  UERDBITHE -

ARBZABEZELBEEFEERAERR
RZE > LEBEFHRZHEMRELEZRA
ERETESEEERMIEE_—ZT N

FRNIT ©



Based on these reviews and discussions, together with the
report of the external auditor, the AC recommended to the
Board’s approval of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024 with the Auditor’s Report
thereon.

The Committee recommended to the Board that the
shareholders be asked to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the Company’s external auditor for 2025.

Members of the Audit Committee
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman)

Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses
Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur

Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric

Hong Kong, 11 March 2025
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT RB2ZEEHRET =

The Nomination Committee (“NC”) consists of seven members.
The main duties of the Committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and to make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board in
order to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become directors of the
Company and to select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii)
to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company; and (iv) to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of the
directors and succession plan for directors, in particular the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The NC discharges its responsibilities by reference to the Terms
of Reference which set out their roles, responsibilities and
duties. The Terms of Reference were duly authorised by the
Board.

In year 2024, the NC had reviewed and discussed the following

issues at its meeting:

1. Toreview the composition, size and structure of the Board
of the Company.

2. Toreview the attendance records of directors of the
Company.

3. Toreview the brief details of each director (including years
of service).

4. To review the scope of responsibilities of directors of the
Company.

5. Toreview the directors’ appointment control schedule —

Rotation of Directors.

6. To review and confirm the independence of all the

Independent Non-executive Directors.

7. Toreview and amend as required from time to time the

Board’s diversity policies.

8. Toreview and appoint Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana as

Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.

REEZEEHLREZEEN - ZEEE
ERERNBNEFEHRE - AHXK
MEBY > WL ERAE S A ATF ZRIEM
RESESFHZEHREER; (i)Y
BAREGEERITREESFZAL I
RERZENALTHEESHILRE
FERMRER ; (i) FTRE AT HILIFHR
TEEZ/UM , R(VVREFEERE
MEEREE (FHREAREFERITH
M) BEFTEMESTREES

REZEEETZHET2RBELE
ERTIRAZAE  EEMEKRT o ILRE
HESTEEEEGRE-

ATENEFERN RREETENEE

TEE R R TYIEIE .
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The NC is accountable to the Board and minutes of the meeting
are circulated to the Board for information. The NC meets when
required but at least once per year.

Members of the Nomination Committee
Mr. Liu Lit Chi (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston

Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher

Dr. Ma Hung Ming John

Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric

Hong Kong, 11 March 2025
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT #HMZE@HREE

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) consists of five members,
a majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company.

The main duties of the Committee are to formulate the
Company’s remuneration policy as well as to determine and/
or make recommendations to the Board with regard to the
structure of remuneration packages for all directors and senior
management. When necessary and appropriate, the Chairman is
consulted on such issues.

The RC discharges its responsibilities by referring to the Terms
of Reference which set out their roles, responsibilities and
duties. The Terms of Reference was duly authorised by the
Board.

The RC, having consulted with the Chairman of the Board, had
reviewed and discussed the following issues at its meeting:

1. Toreview the Company’s policy, structure and the
remunerations packages for all directors and senior
management;

2. To determine and/or make recommendation to the Board
regarding the Directors’ fees and other allowances for the
year 2025; and

3. To review and confirm the bonus arrangement and its
policy.

The RC is accountable to the Board and minutes of the meeting
are circulated to the Board for information.

The RC meets when required but at least once per year.

Members of the Remuneration Committee
Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher

Dr. Ma Hung Ming John

Hong Kong, 11 March 2025
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS Bt ZE

2024 2023 Change
EomE —8-= -

HK$'000 HK$'000 %
BETR BETR Ho%

933,029 732,311

(837,056) (814,937) (3)
(B¥HK$2217m)  (BEHK$2.157) (3)
BWHKS2783T  EWHKS30.657T 9)

A HK$0.117T BIEHKS0.117T -

AEHKS0.17 7T B HK$0.17 7T _
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEE z 505 &k 7 #f

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the audited
consolidated losses of the Company and its subsidiaries
amounted to approximately HK$840.4 million, reflecting a
reduction of HK$32.7 million compared to the HK$873.1
million loss recorded in 2023.

The loss result was primarily driven by a fair value loss of
approximately HK$718.1 million on investment properties and
loss on transfer from property, plant and equipment for the year
ended 31 December 2024, compared to a loss of approximately
HK$297.5 million recorded in the previous year. This increase
in fair value loss includes the impact of reclassifying of a hotel
from Property, Plant and Equipment to Investment Property. It
is crucial to note that these fair value losses are non-cash items
and do not affect the Group’s operating cash flow.

Despite these challenges, the Group maintains a strong financial
and healthy business position. The management continues to
review our operations and will adapt the business model as

necessary to ensure sustained growth and market resilience.

Revenue mainly referred to the revenues generated from
property investment, property development, property
management, treasury investment, trading & manufacturing and

hotel operation.

Other income referred to various miscellaneous income other

than the main revenue.

Other gains and losses mainly comprised of losses on changes
in fair value of investment properties and net exchange gains
(losses).
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

OVERALL RENTAL REVENUE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
gross rental revenue of approximately HK$302.4 million,
increased by approximately HK$0.3 million from approximately
HK$302.1 million in the year of 2023, slightly increased by 0.1%.

OVERALL OCCUPANCIES
The Group’s overall occupancy of major investment properties
maintained at 83.5% as of 31 December 2024.

HK PROPERTIES

Chong Hing Square

Chong Hing Square, located at 601 Nathan Road Mongkok,
is a 20-storey ginza-type retail/commercial development that
offers over 182,000 square feet of retail and commercial space.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, Chong Hing Square
generated a gross rental revenue of approximately HK$59.7
million, increased by approximately HK$3.1 million from
approximately HK$56.6 million in 2023. The occupancy was
96% as at 31 December 2024.

Chong Hing Bank Centre

Chong Hing Bank Centre, located at 24 Des Voeux Road
Central, is a 26-storey Grade A office building. Having retained
several floors for the Company’s use, this office building was
leased to Chong Hing Bank Limited. On 24 March 2023, Chong
Hing Bank Limited exercised its option to renew the lease for
another five years, commencing from 19 February 2024 to 18
February 2029, at a monthly rental of HK$6.08 million. The
management considered that Chong Hing Bank Limited as a
long-term strategic partner of the Group. Taking into account
the tenant’s strong financial background, the surrounding office
supply and the future economic development, the management
is confident that the renewal of the lease will ensure long-term
success and competitiveness of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Chong Hing Bank
Centre has generated rental revenue of approximately HK$77.9
million, decreased by HK$19.2 million from approximately
HK$97.1 million in 2023. Despite this decline, the management
believes that the tenancy would bring stable and consistent
income stream for the Group.
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The Rockpool

The Rockpool, situated at 402-404 Des Voeux Road West,
underwent a comprehensive revamp in 2019. The mall was
transformed into a trendy community mall serving the local
neighborhood, providing numerous different brands of retailers
and F&B outlets.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, The Rockpool
generated gross rental revenue of approximately HK$15.5
million, increased by HK$2.1 million from approximately
HK$13.4 million in 2023. As of today, the mall achieved an
occupancy of 88% and carpark spaces were fully leased.

Fairview Court

Fairview Court is located at 94 Repulse Bay Road. The Group
owns 5 units, each of areas over 4,100 square feet, luxury
apartment on a low-rise building. For the year ended 31
December 2024, Fairview Court recorded rental revenue of
approximately HK$2.6 million, decreased by HK$0.5 million
from HK$3.1 million in 2023. This property recorded 80%
occupancy as of 31 December 2024.
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PRC PROPERTIES

Chong Hing Finance Center, Shanghai

The Group’s mainland flagship property located at 288 Nanjing
Road West in Huang Pu District of Shanghai is a 36-storey
Grade A commercial building which commands a strategic
location and enviable view over The People’s Square just across
the street. With a total floor area of over 516,000 square feet,
including office and commercial spaces and 198 carparks, the
property was approximately 75% leased for office space and
83% leased for retail space as of the year end. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, this office building, after accounting
for exchange rate translation, generated rental revenue of
approximately HK$108.7 million, reflecting an increase of
approximately HK$6.2 million from HK$102.5 million in 2023.

Despite the unfavorable market conditions in Shanghai
throughout 2024, the rental income from this property
continued to grow, demonstrating the effectiveness of our
leasing strategies and the attractiveness of the leasing terms in
securing new tenants. In 2025, the management is confident
that the occupancy levels and rental revenue for our Shanghai
property will further improve, positioning us for sustained
growth and profitability in the years to come.
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UNITED KINGDOM PROPERTIES

Barratt House, 341-349 Oxford Street, London

Barratt House is located on 341-349 Oxford Street, London
which provides 7 floors of accommodation with a total area
of 16,200 sq.ft., consisting of a 5,894 sq.ft. prime retail unit
over basement, ground and first floors, and 8,244 sq.ft. of

refurbished offices on four upper floors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the rental income
attributable to the Group was approximately HK$24.3 million.
This property recorded 86% occupancy rate as of 31 December
2024.

The management considers this is a sound investment, given
its prime location, favorable tenant mix, attractive discounted

valuation, and potential for future redevelopment.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

PRC

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
sale revenue of approximately HK$223.7 million, increased by
approximately HK$157 million from approximately HK$66.7
million in 2023, representing an increase of 235%. This
substantial increase was primarily attributed to the recognition

of new sales of Elegance Garden in Sanshui.

The Grand Riviera, Foshan

This comprehensive development project, situated at 1 Guilong
Road, Luocun in the Nanhai District of Foshan, is conveniently
located within half an hour’s drive from the Foshan financial
district and within 5 minutes’ drive from the new Foshan West
Station.

Development Status

This Foshan residential project is a comprehensive development
and is developed by phases. The entire project, from Phase 1 to
Phase 4, was completed and handed over for occupation since
September 2018.

Sales Results

The number of residential units sold and recognized in 2024
decreased from 20 units in 2023 to 3 units in 2024, while
carpark sales dropped from 104 units in 2023 to 46 units in
2024.

HEME

R385 341-349 35 Barratt House
Barratt House i i 25 B fi 3 4 72 1471 34 1-
3495% IR T L EMIT(EZER » BEBE
# 16200 FR > HPEIETE - #
EMN—ENETETEmE > @HEH58%
THER> URMUEEEHNMAZ » @
48244 F R o
BE_T_ME+-A=+—HLEF
B> AEERZVMEESHSWRELHE
# 24,300,000t RZE-_MWFE+H
=+—8B > ZMELEXA86% -

ENEEMEIENE - RIFNEFE
& BRSINNFHNEENRENER
B BEEERRER—BFHEIRE -

MERR

=
HE_ZT_NME+_-_B=1+—HLEE >
A& E 22158 & WA 49781 223,700,000
T BRZIEZ_=ZERBPHNBE
66,700,000 7T > 3G INAY % HE 157,000,000
70 > IEIEIE 235% c EERIEMEERH
S IKETFEMEFTIESHE AR ©

FHULRBMENER
ZiraERAEBNUEG LT R EEEN
HER 158 > XiEERE > BRfLESHME
R H/NEFEEAZ o TR R 65 LU PR Uk R
RBS5EHEE o

& BB
BUEEHEER—BFSEE - DR
HWIEE - BEEBEESE —EF T
EEMERTR > LE_F—-N\FNA
R3S ER ©

HEMARNEESEUHEN T ==
FW0ERLVE S UEMNIE; B
EHEEMNHER_T - =5 1041E
ROEZENER461E ©



BUSINESS REVIEW AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ##EIRBRAFE &

UNITED KINGDOM 22




20T LYOd3Y TYNANNY | QILIWITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT g

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEE z 505 &k 7 #f

As at 31 December 2024, a total of 5,242 residential units out
of total 5,264 units (representing 99.6%) and a total of 2,467
carpark spaces out of total 4,670 spaces (representing 52.8%)
were successfully sold, generating accumulated sale proceeds
of approximately HK$6 billion. The management estimates that
additional sale proceeds of approximately HK$700 million could
be realized if all remaining residential units, carpark spaces, and
retail shops were sold under current market conditions.

Elegance Garden, Sanshui

Location and Vicinity

The development is centrally located in Bei Jiang Xin Qu and
is surrounded by the well-developed facilities, such as Beijiang
Primary School, Xindongli Center, Beijiang Feng Huang Park,
Sanshui Renmin Hospital and Sanshui Bus Stop. It is 15 minutes
away from Guangzhou and Foshan High-Speed Railway Station
and 20 minutes from Sanshui High-Speed Railway South
Station. Additionally, the development is just 2.1 miles away
from the Sanshui Metro Route 4, ensuring strong connectivity
to the Guangzhou and Foshan.

Development Status

This residential development named Elegance Garden consists
of 9 blocks 31-storey residential apartments, offering three
unit sizes of 88, 98 and 108 square meters. With a plot ratio
of 3.2 and green area ratio of 30%, it provides a total of
1,084 residential units with developable area of over 108,000
square meters. Including the retail and commercial area of
approximately 1,461 square meters on the ground floor and
874 carpark spaces mainly built at basement level, the total

developable area exceeds 142,000 square meters.

Sales Results

Sales for Block 1, 2, 6 and 9 were officially launched. The sales
performance of Elegance Garden ranks among the top three in
Foshan Sanshui in 2024. As at the date of board meeting, a total
of 360 residential units had been sold, generating sale proceeds
of approximately RMB366.8 million. Interior decoration work
for Block 1 and 6 has been completed and the units have
already been handed over to buyers. Meanwhile, Blocks 2 and 9
are scheduled for completion and handover by June 2025. The
next batch of unites for sale will be Block 4 & 8, where interior

renovation work has already commenced.
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HOTEL OPERATIONS

PRC

Budget Hotel

Since 2008, the Group has operated budget hotel business in
Shanghai, Beijing and Guangzhou, all of which were managed
under the Hanting brand. However, as part of a strategic
restructuring initiative, the Group sold its budgeted hotels in
Shanghai and Beijing in 2016.

Furthermore, due to the expiration of the lease, the hotel
business operation in Guangzhou ceased on 11 January 2024.

HONG KONG

ONE-EIGHT-ONE Hotel & Serviced Residences

The former office building (formerly known as Western Harbour
Centre), located at 181-183 Connaught Road West, was
converted into a 182-room hotel and serviced residences. The
hotel commenced full operations on 2 December 2019 after
obtaining its hotel license.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the hotel and F&B
business recorded gross revenue approximately of HK$83.7
million, which recorded negative profits before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortization (“‘EBITDA”) of approximately
HK$1.5 million. If accounting for a depreciation of HK$56.2
million, the Hotel and F&B business recorded a net loss of
HK$57.7 million.

In pursing effective property management strategy, the Group
had entered into a tenancy agreement of the hotel property
with an associate company of GDH Limited, effective from 15
November 2024. This tenancy includes an annual base rent with
a turnover rent component and has a 10-year term expiring
on 14 November 2034, with an option for a five-year renewal.
This agreement ensures a stable and predictable income
stream while reducing operational complexities in direct hotel
management.
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THAILAND

Kimpton Kitalay Samui

In 2021, the Group invested in a hotel property at Koh Samui,
Thailand, through an acquisition of entire issued share capital
of Choengmon Real Estate Company Limited, a company
incorporated in Thailand.

The hotel is located at the northeastern part of Samui Island
along the Choengmon Beach. The land is held under a freehold
title and covers an area of 29,588 sq.m. The hotel comprises
21 pool villas and 117 premium rooms and suites, with a total
gross floor area of over 22,098 sq.m. The property also features
a main reception building, a lobby bar, a lobby lounge, an all-day
dining restaurant, a beachfront specialty restaurant, a swimming
pool, a spa, a fitness center and yoga studio, a kid’s club and a
multi-purpose space designed to accommodate weddings or
executive meetings. The hotel has been fully operational since
January 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the hotel achieved
gross revenue of approximately HK$121.4 million, increased by
approximately HK$25.1 million, from approximately HK$96.3
million in 2023, and generating EBITDA of approximately
HK$47.8 million. These results indicate a highly successful
performance for 2024, with both gross revenue and gross
operating profit exceeding the budget. This success can be
attributed not only to the implementation of various IHG
marketing campaigns but also to the hotel’s focus on enhancing
guest experience, which has led to its recognition as the top-
rated Kimpton property in Asia Pacific.

Looking ahead, the hotel management will continue to closely
monitor financial and operational performance. The hotel team
remains committed to implementing effective strategies to

sustain and further enhance this positive momentum.
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Over the past years, the Group teamed up with Value Partners
Group Limited, has acquired four warehouses in Japan, two
commercial buildings in Australia and seven logistic centers in
Italy. These investment properties have consistently generated
stable rental revenue streams, boasting impressive occupancy
rates ranging from 90% to 100%.

The management remains optimistic about the potential of
these joint venture investments, anticipating that they will
continue to deliver stable rental returns along with long-term
capital appreciation. As part of the strategic decision, the Group
initiated the sale of its Japan portfolio, which has seen a notable
increase in asset value. One of the warehouses in Hokkaido
was successfully sold in 2024, generating proceeds of JPY 3,230
million (equivalent to approximately HK$160 million). The sale
of the remaining three warehouses is currently underway, with
transactions expected to be finalized in the first and second
quarters of 2025.

For the year ended of 31 December 2024, the share of results
from joint ventures decreased from the gain approximately
HK$22.1 million in 2023 to the loss approximately HK$46.2
million in 2024. The negative share result was primarily due
to the fair value losses on Australia investment properties and

unrealized exchange losses.

Despite the challenges posed by persistently high interest rates
and slow economic growth, the Hong Kong economy continues
to face difficulties and uncertainties. However, the Group
remains confident in the gradual recovery of local consumption
and overall business activities, driven by the revival of the retail
and real estate markets, along with a steady increase in PRC
visitors and investors. These factors are expected to stimulate
economic growth and boost business activities across various
sectors. The management remains committed to improving
overall financial performance through operational efficiency
and asset optimization. Moving forward, the focus will be
on strengthening existing business operations to increase
profitability and maximize returns for stakeholders.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s shareholders’ funds decreased from approximately
HK$11,566.8 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$10,506.5 million as at 31 December 2024, representing a
net decrease of approximately HK$1,060.3 million. The decrease
in shareholders’ funds was attributed to (a) loss attributable to
the owners of the Group of approximately HK$837.1 million;
(b) net decrease of investment revaluation and exchange
reserves totaling approximately HK$117.2 million; and (c) 2023
final dividend and 2024 interim dividend paid approximately
HK$106.0 million.

FINANCE AND TREASURY OPERATIONS

NET DEBT BALANCE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net debt balance (being
borrowings less cash and deposits) amounted to approximately
HK$1,135.0 million, decreased by approximately HK$66.3
million from approximately HK$1,201.3 million in 2023. The
reduction in net debt is primarily attributed to an increase
in cash reserves. This has contributed to a stronger financial
position, enabling the Group to effectively manage its liabilities

while enhancing liquidity.

The Group will closely monitor their future investment and
capital expenditure to ensure all those expenditures incurred
are within the budget and do not undermine the company’s
working capital. At 31 December 2024, the Group had a gross
gearing ratio, (gross borrowing divided by equity attribute to
owners of the Company) of 32.0% (31 December 2023: 20.8%),
and a net gearing ratio (net debt divided by equity attribute to
owners of the Company) of 10.8% (31 December 2023: 10.4%).

The management expected that the Group’s cash balances
could be improved steadily further by the sale of the remaining
residential and carparks units of “Elegant Garden”. Additionally,
stable rental income from various properties, including overseas
joint venture projects and new revenue from hotel premises, is
expected to contribute positively to cash flow.
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BANKING FACILITIES

Most of the banking facilities as at 31 December 2024 were
committed banking facilities. In managing the debt portfolio,
the Group has endeavored to maintain diversified sources of
funding. Currently, the major source of financing is still coming
from the banking sector, in which the Group has bilateral
banking facilities with various banks, most of which have
established long relationship with the Group. The management
will consider to widen the funding source from capital market
if both the market conditions and terms are favorable to the
Company. The management will closely monitor the company’s
funding position, internal funding and cheaper external funding

will be used for coming development projects.

LIQUIDITY RISK AND CASH BALANCES

It is the Group’s financial policy to maintain a healthy cash
balance and high liquidity levels. To maintain sufficient
liquidity will not only help the Group to fulfill all short-term
payment obligations but also improve the Group’s working
capital. Liquidity mainly derives from recurring income from
various investment properties, cash sale proceeds from various
completed development projects, overseas joint ventures

projects, and committed banking facilities.

The liquidity risk of the Group is low, and it has been further
reduced by early refinancing and improvement of cash flow.

LOAN MATURITY ANALYSIS

In 2024, the Group successfully renewed its existing loans,
resulting in a significant improvement in the loan maturity
profile. As a result, only 36% of the bank loans will expire in the
upcoming year, representing a substantial decrease from the
previous year’s figure of 74%. This successful renewal process
not only ensures continued access to essential funding but also
effectively mitigates liquidity risk by extending the loan tenors
and enhancing the Group’s overall financial stability.

Additionally, the Group will further improve the cash position by
selling the residential units in Sanshui and stable rental revenue
from various investment portfolios in HK and overseas projects.
These efforts will contribute to strengthening the Group’s
overall financial stability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEE z 505 &k 7 #f

RISK MANAGEMENT

In managing interest rates and foreign exchange exposures, the
Group may use certain derivative instruments such as interest
rate swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward rate agreements
and foreign exchange contracts. It is the Group’s policy to allow
derivatives to be used as hedging purposes only. With respect
to the counterparty risk of the derivatives, the Group transacts
only with financial institutions with strong investment-grade
ratings.

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE

The Group faces potential financial challenges due to the
volatility and unpredictability of interest rate movements.
To mitigate this risk, management is actively monitoring and
analyzing interest rate fluctuations to minimize adverse effects
on the Group’s financial position. In 2024, the Group strategically
refinanced a loan facility to Japanese Yen, benefiting from lower
interest rates compared to borrowing in HKD, thereby reducing
the Group’s interest rate exposure and enhancing its financial

resilience.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

It is the Group’s policy to minimize mismatch in currency and
not to speculate in currency movement. As at 31 December
2024, other foreign exchange exposures related to some major
investments in Shanghai, Foshan, Thailand, United Kingdom and
overseas Joint Ventures projects which altogether amounted
to the equivalent of about HK$6,172.2 million or 41.4% of the
Group’s total assets.

For the overseas project, the group has acquired a hotel
property in Thailand, which is financed by Thai bank borrowing.
The foreign exchange risk exposure has been lowered by
matching the Thai asset with Thai liability. The management
keep closely monitoring these foreign exchange exposures by
implementing different appropriate measures on a timely and
effective manner.
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EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a workforce of
546 (31 December 2023: 621). Staff costs for the year include
salaries, bonuses and allowances, were approximately HK$154.1
million (31 December 2023: HK$145.1 million). The Group’s
remuneration policy, having been advised and determined by
the Remuneration Committee, will ensure that the pay levels of
its employees are reasonable and competitive in the market and
their total rewards including basic salary and bonus system are
linked with their performance. The members and work done of
the Remuneration Committee are shown on page 46.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1t

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has substantially complied with the Provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance
Code” or the “Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of Listing Rules.

GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURES FOR CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE OF THE COMPANY

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CHART

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the purpose of enhancing long-term
value for shareholders. The corporate governance chart adopted
by the Company could be referred to Liu Chong Hing Investment
Limited Simplified Corporate Structure Chart on page 162.

(B) DIRECTORS

() THE BOARD: RESPONSIBILITY FOR LEADERSHIP
AND CONTROL OF THE COMPANY

e The Board is accountable to the shareholders for
leadership and supervision of the senior management for
the purpose of creating long-term shareholder value and

producing a sustainable growth and successful business.

e The principal tasks of the Board are to set objectives,
formulate strategies and to monitor the operating and

financial performance.

e The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

e The Board also oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems, and management should
provide a confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness
of these systems.

° Duties of the Board include approving interim and annual
reports, announcements and press releases of interim and
final results, setting the dividend policy, and approving the
issue, allotment, disposal or grant of options in respect of
unissued new shares of the Company.
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(1) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER: CLEAR

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has a clear and distinct division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

Mr. Liu Lit Chi, the Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer, provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board. The Chief
Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the
Company’s business, daily management, and overall
operations.

Following the resignation of the role as Managing Director,
the role of CEO remains combined with the Chairman
position, with Mr. Liu continuing to serve in both capacities.

The Board considers that this arrangement is in the best
interest of the Company, given Mr. Liu’s deep industry
knowledge and strategic leadership experience in the
property and banking industries, which are key to the
Group’s long-term success.

Throughout the year, the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer have not been segregated as required by
Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

To ensure a balance of power and independent oversight,
the Board has implemented the following governance

measures:
° Independent Non-Executive Director Representation:

o The Board comprises at least one-third
Independent Non-executive Directors, ensuring
independent perspectives in decision-making.

o INEDs play a crucial role in overseeing risk
management, financial reporting, and corporate
governance, strengthening transparency and
accountability.
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BIEEEET !
BREEEhFNEES

° Independent Board Committees: °

o The Audit Committee and Remuneration o
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Committee are chaired by INEDs, reinforcing
independent supervision in financial oversight,

executive compensation, and risk management.

The Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committees are currently chaired by Executive
Directors, and the Board is actively reviewing
the composition of these committees to further

enhance governance best practices.

° Lead Independent Director Consideration:

(0]

The Board acknowledges the importance of
appointing a Lead Independent Director to
further enhance the governance structure.

The Board is actively considering the
appointment of a suitable Lead Independent
Director to serve as a key liaison between the
INEDs and the Chairman, ensuring independent
perspectives are effectively communicated.

° Board Evaluations and Governance Reviews:

(0]

While a formal Board evaluation process has not
yet been implemented, the Board recognizes the

importance of conducting periodic reviews.

The Board is currently assessing the introduction
of a structured Board evaluation mechanism
to enhance governance effectiveness and align

with corporate governance best practices.

e  The Board remains fully committed to maintaining a high

standard of corporate governance and will continue to

review and refine its governance framework in alignment

with evolving regulatory standards and stakeholder

expectations.
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(1l1) BOARD COMPOSITION: BALANCE AND

INDEPENDENCE

The Board currently comprises six Executive Directors,
one Non-executive Director and six Independent Non-
executive Directors. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Board has met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least one-third
of the Board should be Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The appointment of Independent Non-executive
Directors strictly adheres to the guidelines for assessing
independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has received written confirmation of
independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Board considers that the six Independent Non-
executive Directors are free from any businesses or other
relationships which might interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgment and each Independent Non-
executive Director brings his own relevant expertise to the
Board.

The presence of all Independent Non-executive Directors
could ensure that the Board functions effectively and
independently.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are also
the committee members of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. In
short, these committees have Independent Non-executive
Directors.

In addition, the Company has set up the Corporate
Governance Committee on 7 March 2012 comprising
three Executive Directors and two Independent Non-
executive Directors to perform the corporate governance
duties.

The biographies of the directors appear on pages 143 to
153. These demonstrate diversity of experience and calibre
of the Board in making management decisions.
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(IV) BOARD DIVERSITY (IV)EEEZZME
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The Company recognizes the importance of diversity
among its Board members and has adopted a Board
Diversity Policy, which is available on the Company’s
website. The Board reviews this policy annually to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company is committed to
maintaining board diversity across multiple dimensions,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, and length of service. These factors are regularly
evaluated to ensure a well-balanced and competent Board
that supports the Group’s long-term growth.

In alignment with the Board Diversity Policy and HKEX
Listing Rule 13.92, the Company successfully appointed Ms.
Ngan Suk Fun Mariana as an Independent Non-Executive
Director on 31 December 2024. This appointment
ensures compliance with HKEX requirements to eliminate
single-gender boards, marking a significant milestone in
the Company’s commitment to diversity and inclusion.
With this appointment, the Board has achieved gender
diversity, and the Company remains dedicated to further

strengthening inclusivity at the leadership level.

To foster gender diversity beyond the Board, the Company
applies similar considerations when recruiting and selecting
key management and personnel across its operations. As
of 31 December 2024, the Company maintained a 61:39
male-to-female ratio in the workplace. For further details
on our recruitment and employment practices, please refer

to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Furthermore, the Nomination Committee recognizes
that the average age of the Board is 58 and is actively
considering succession planning by inviting more young
professionals and experts to join the Board. Current
directors have been encouraged to nominate suitable
young candidates for the Committee’s consideration. In
support of internal talent development, the Company
has also established an internal management training
program to cultivate future leaders and promote internal

succession.
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(V) APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.

Those directors who have been longest in office as at each
annual general meeting shall retire from office and be
subjected to re-election.

For newly appointed directors, they are required to
submit themselves to shareholders for re-election to the
Board at the first annual general meeting following their
appointment.

All directors have entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company and were appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election and retirement by rotation at least
once every three years in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Code provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Under the Article 105, 106 and 113 of the
Company’s Articles of Association, all directors are subject
to retirement by rotation.

Details of the term of appointment of all Non-executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors are as
follows:

(i) to perform such functions and exercise such powers
as are appropriate to the position as an Independent
Non-executive Directors or Non-executive Directors
of the Company;

(i) to comply with all laws, rules and regulations
applicable to be a director of the Company, including
but not limit to the Listing Rules; and

(iii) to notify the Board immediately upon the occurrence
of, or the directors becoming aware of, any matter
which may affect their independence.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and Executive Management Committee are
available to review on the Company’s website.
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(VI) RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS: GENERAL

DUTIES AND SHARE DEALINGS
The directors fully appreciate their roles and duties as
directors, committing to support the creation of a healthy

corporate governance culture.

On appointment, new directors will be given an
introduction to the Group’s major business activities,
induction into their responsibilities and duties, and other

regulatory requirements.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of the Rules Governing the
listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rule”) as its own code of conduct for Directors in their
dealing in the securities of the Company. Having made
specific enquiries with the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the
Reporting Period.

(V1) CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Code provision C.1.4 proposes that all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

All directors are well aware of the requirement of
attending continuous professional training for the year
ending 31 December 2025.
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(VIl) COMPANY SECRETARY

(€
n

Mr. Lee Wai Hung, the Company Secretary also an
Executive Director of the Company, is a full time employee
of the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company'’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board through
the Chairman of the Board or Executive Management
Committee on governance matters and also facilitates
induction and professional development of the directors.
All directors have access to the advices and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures,
all applicable law, rules and regulations are followed.
During the year, the Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biography of Mr. Lee
is set out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in the annual report.

BOARD PROCESS

MEETINGS: MATTERS RESERVED FOR FULL BOARD
DECISION AND GENERAL PROCEEDINGS

In order to achieve a high standard of corporate governance
and in compliance with the requirement as mentioned
under Appendix C1 — Corporate Governance Code, The
Board has held full Board meetings at least quarterly
during the year 2024.

The Executive Management Committee was established on
30 October 2014. The current members of the committee
comprised of Mr. Liu Lit Chi, Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston, Mr.
Lee Wai Hung, Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl, Mr. Liu Chak Hung
Adrian and Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger. Based on the duly
approved terms of reference by the Board, the committee
is authorised:

(1) to discuss, formulate policies and make decisions
on all matters relating to the daily management and
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries;

(2) todiscuss significant daily operational issues;
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(3) toreview key business performance and take prompt
corrective actions as appropriate;

(4) to discuss and formulate financial policy, including
review and present of final and interim results
of the Company to the Board, as well as make
recommendation of interim and/or final dividends or
other distributions to the Board;

(5) to discuss business opportunities arising from
changing conditions so as to formulate policies to

sustain the growth of the Company; and

(6) The Executive Management Committee is currently
receiving monthly management report which shows
the Group’s financial and operating results with
detailed analysis of different business activities.

The main function of the committee could help to relieve
the Board of detailed review of information and to increase
the operational efficiency among different departments.
For the avoidance of doubt, all matters that require public
announcement pursuant to the Listing Rules or rules of
any other relevant regulatory body must be approved by
the Board.

Matters reserved for full Board decision include material
bank facilities arrangements, material acquisitions and
disposals of assets, material transactions with connected
parties, significant investments including large capital
projects, delegation of authority, treasury and risk
management policies and any matters involving a conflict

of interest for a substantial shareholder or director.

All directors have access to the Company Secretary who
is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures
are complied with and advises the Board on corporate

governance and compliance matters.
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The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes
of the Board and the Board committee meetings, which
are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final signed
version is sent to all directors for their records and open
for directors’ inspection.

All directors are allowed to take independent professional
advice at Company’s expense.

The Company has purchased the Directors and Officers
Liability insurance.

Details of 2024 Board meetings attendance record are set

AEMERRREEFIRESFS
BEZERKH  RFEHECHE—
REBREZRZAERBEAER
EXEER MxREEFEZER
AERE2REEER > LAHES
MERF &R o

FREEFIEEFNRAABSRIEIL
HEERR-

AEEREFKREERERMERME

TERCNFEEEEERLELRE

out below: FIWMT -
Number of Attendance
meeting attended rate
HEEERY HE=E
Executive Directors HITER
Liu Lit Chi (Chairman and BIIE
Chief Executive Director) (FERITHLE) 4/4 100%
Liu Kam Fai Winston BELiE 4/4 100%
Lee Wai Hung =21 4/4 100%
Liu Kwun Bo Darryl BEF 4/4 100%
Liu Chak Hung Adrian BEH 3/4 75%
Liu Kwun Hung Tiger BE 4/4 100%
Non-executive Director JERITESR
Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher TR 4/4 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHTER
Cheng Mo Chi Moses BRE 3/4 75%
Au Kam Yuen Arthur EiE 4/4 100%
Ma Hung Ming John BB 4/4 100%
Cheng Yuk Wo BRERAN 4/4 100%
Tong Tsun Sum Eric EE&X 4/4 100%
Ngan Suk Fun Mariana BN - -

(appointed on 31 December 2024)
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(1) SUPPLY OF INFORMATION: QUALITY AND

TIMELINESS
The Company attaches great importance to continually
improve on the quality and timeliness of the dissemination

of information to the directors.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring adequate supply

of information to the directors.

The agenda and accompanying board papers will be sent
in full to all directors in a timely manner (we aim to give
relevant documents at least five clear days replacing
current practice of at least three clear days in advance of
meeting). Where appropriate, communications are sent
electronically.

All directors are currently provided with quarterly
management reports which shows the Group’s financial
and operating results with detailed analysis of those major
rental properties, property under development and other

investments.

A full Board meeting, held by each quarter, was regularly
taken for the purpose of reviewing and updating the
Company’s business and operating results with reference
to the quarterly management report.

Chief Executive Officer is currently holding internal
management meetings once a week with all Executive
Directors and different department heads to update
directors on their lines of business and to review
performance for delegated assignment.

Executive Management Committee meetings were
held twice a week to discuss the daily operation and to
review the Company matters by reference to monthly

management reports.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ‘% EAHRE S
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(Ill) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

After the year ended of 2015, the Executive Management
Committee had engaged Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”) to provide consultancy services in relation to
enterprise risk management and internal controls. The Board
understands that it is the Board’s responsibility to evaluate the
risks of the Company and to implement the Company’s strategic
objective through an established, appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

Senior management had discussed with Deloitte regarding to
the Company’s existing system and internal controls and an
appropriate policy and detailed work plan had been formulated
after having identified the main area of risks.

° During the year of 2024, the management had completed
enterprise risk management and the internal control
assessment and various follow up actions had been done
based on the findings and recommendations by Deloitte.
The management highly regards the internal controls and
considered that such review based on the identified audit
areas, will be performed annually so as to manage the risk
and control the effectiveness of the system.

(D) REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
Procedures for Remuneration Committee to set directors and
senior management’s remuneration policy:

e The Company has set up Remuneration Committee on
3 March 2005. Its terms of reference are to review and
determine the remuneration packages for all directors and

senior management.

e The Remuneration Committee currently comprises five
members, including a Executive Director, Mr. Liu Kwun
Hung Tiger; three of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses
(Chairman), Dr. Ma Hung Ming John and Mr. Cheng Yuk
Wo and a Non-executive Director, Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan
Christopher.

e  The committee meets at least once per annum.
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The main duties of the committee include the followings:

(i)

(iii)

to make recommendations to the Board on or
determine the Company’s policy and structure for
all directors and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent

procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payment
and any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on or
determine the remuneration of Non-executive

Directors;

to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s

corporate goals and objectives.

Details of 2024 Remuneration Committee meeting

attendance record are set out below:

ZEEZTERSBETIIRE!

() BMERBEMBEFABREE
ABZ F B BUR R 2R A8 WA e i
RIIEXNMAZEREZIZFH]
SJIEEFHMER > MESF IR
HEE

(i) REBEEENAITEENS
REEABNFNGE > 28
BEYEF - BRIKEEF MRS
B URkEFERKIAK LR
¥,/ {E e & 3 AU I BE(E
£ ;

(i) MEBEEFATESZHMRAE
FEFEHER

(iv) REEFEREZEEER
et R B IR E Fa 2 o

TERCNFEHFMEETTRLE
SCEREGIANT :

Number of Attendance
meeting attended rate
HEGERY HEE

Members of Remuneration Committee iNEEe%E
Cheng Mo Chi Moses (Chairman) e (FE) 11 100%
Liu Kwun Hung Tiger BB - -

(appointed on 14 March 2024) (M-_ZT_ME=R+NHZE)

Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher HER 1/1 100%
Ma Hung Ming John BB 1/1 100%
Cheng Yuk Wo EREHAN 1/1 100%
Tin Siu Kuen (Secretary) H/ME (FZ) 1/1 100%

The committee is authorised by the Board to oversee and

determine the remuneration of Executive Directors and

senior management.

No director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

On matters other than those concerning him, the Chairman

may be invited to committee meetings to give advices.

Committee members are allowed under certain procedures

to take independent professional advice at Company’s

expense for making and determining the remuneration

package proposal.
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(E)
n

(m

The committee will present a report to the Board after
each meeting, which addresses its work and findings.

The committee will make recommendation to the Board
regarding the remuneration, comprising directors’ fees
for all Directors, for shareholders approval at the annual
general meeting.

Details on the mandate and summary of the work by the
Remuneration Committee during the year are set out in the

Remuneration Committee Report on page 46.

The terms of reference of Remuneration Committee
are available on the Company’s website and the Stock

Exchange’s website.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

FINANCIAL REPORTING: BALANCED, CLEAR

AND COMPREHENSIVE ASSESSMENT OF THE
COMPANY'’S PERFORMANCE, POSITION OF
PROSPECTS

The Board believes that it presents a comprehensive,
balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s position and prospects in all shareholder

communications.

The Board fully understands its responsibilities regarding
the preparation of financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND AUDITORS: TERMS

OF REFERENCE AND RELATIONSHIP WITH
MANAGEMENT AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Audit Committee currently comprises four members,
including four of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman), Dr. The
Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses, Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur and
Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric.

All members have experience in reviewing and analysing
audited financial statements of public companies or major
organisations.

The committee meets not less than twice per annum. The
Chairman and the Executive Director who is in charge
of finance matters may be invited to the meetings. The
committee also meets not less than twice per annum with

the Company’s auditor.
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e  The main duties of the committee include the followings:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(wvii)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation
or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable

standards;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an

external auditor to supply non-audit services;

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, interim
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting

judgements contained in them;

to review the Company’s financial controls, and
unless expressly addressed by a separate board
risk committee, or by the board itself, to review the
Company’s risk management and internal control
systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duties to have
effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experiences, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

(viii) to review the Group’s financial and accounting

policies and practices;

ZEEZTERSBETIIRE!

(i)

(ii)

(wvii)
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(ix) to review the external auditor’s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management about the accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and management’s
response; and

(x) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely

(ix) WEINEZHBEMREERREZ K
fr~ ZBEN S ACE « TS
REREETEREEE R
NEREARRE R EEEFH
Z[FE ; &

(x) HREFGREFEERINESZ

response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s A TEEE 2B BERR
management letter. BRI HIRHNEE
e  Details of 2024 Audit Committee meetings attendance TEREINFEEBZEZESERYE
record are set out below: SCERETIANT -
Number of Attendance
meeting attended rate
HEEERY HE=E
Members of Audit Committee BREEE%ZE
Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman) B (/) 2/2 100%
Cheng Mo Chi Moses nEe 2/2 100%
Au Kam Yuen Arthur ERF 2/2 100%
Tong Tsun Sum Eric EX 2/2 100%
Lee Wai Hung (Secretary) FRIE#HE) 2/2 100%

Under its terms of reference, the committee is required,
amongst other things, to oversee the relationship with
external auditors, to review the Company’s interim and
annual financial statements, and to evaluate the Group’s

system of internal controls.

There is an agreed procedure for Audit Committee
members to take independent professional advice at
Company’s expense.

The committee presents a report or makes advice to the
Board after each meeting for addressing their work done
and findings.

Details on the mandate and work performed by the
Audit Committee during the year are set out in the Audit
Committee Report on pages 42 to 43.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee are available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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(Ill) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the auditor had
received from the Company and its subsidiaries approximately
HK$3.4 million for audit and audit related services (2023:
HK$4.2 million) as well as approximately HK$0.6 million for

non-audit services including consultancy service and due
diligence service (2023: HK$0.4 million).

(IV) INTERNAL CONTROL: SOUND AND EFFECTIVE

(F)

SYSTEM TO SAFEGUARD SHAREHOLDER INTERESTS
AND COMPANY ASSETS

Risk management is a crucial part of the Group’s strategic
management to monitor the Company’s overall financial
position and to protect its assets.

The Group is committed to implementing effective risk
management policies and internal control procedures
to identify and manage the risks that the Group may be
exposed to.

These policies and procedures are reviewed regularly by
Executive Management Committee together with the
assistance of external auditors during the course of audit
and separate assighnment to ensure their effectiveness and
compliance with Code on Corporate Governance Practices.

The Executive Directors will discuss with external auditor
in the Audit Committee meeting at least twice a year on
key issues in relation to internal controls, audit findings

and risk management.

As concluded in 2024 Audit Committee meeting, no
irregularities and major weakness in control were found by
the auditor.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on
7 March 2012, which is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by the Chairman of
the Board. The committee shall comprise members not less
than three and a majority of the committee is Independent
Non-executive Directors.
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RELECTIFERHEFTEERE
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e  Other members are Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston (Executive o ZESRHEEHMSZEQEHNITES
Director), Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur, Dr. Ma Hung Ming BEeELE > BIUERITESER
John, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric R E ~ BERIEL « BEiMALE

e  The Nomination Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Liu e
Lit Chi, the Chairman of the Board.

(Independent Non-executive Directors) and Mr. Kho Eng EEESHLE  UERIERITES
Tjoan Christopher (Non-executive Director). BREE

e The committee meets at least once per annum. o HETEEFEFVHEIT—RIE -

e  The mainduties of the committee include the followings: o ZEEIERSEETIIRIE
(i) to review the structure, size and composition (i) EVEERNEETGTZERE

(including the skills, knowledge and experience
required) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
directors of the Company and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the

ANB KA (BIEREE -~ A#H
R E) TMERRES
ERBZREMBREEZF
HZ EER N EE ;

(i) MEABSEERAEEERRD
BIEFZAL > MHKEERE(E
MATHESEEXFILERES
ZRMUER

(i) FRARABBIUIFATERZ
B|irk 5 &

(iv) MEENEZEAERZERE

@
[=
=
z
m
("]
(%
A
m
=
m
2
>
Zz
%
[}
o
~
v
o
5
=
m
8
<
m
x
4
>
Zz
[e]
m
i
#
&
B
&
]
o
]
iit

appointment or re-appointment of the directors ERNBRE R EERITH
and succession plan for directors, in particular M) NETITERNESEIR
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the HEE o
Company.
e Details of 2024 Nomination Committee meeting o Z—E_FERZZECeEZLE
attendance record are set out belows: SCERESIUNT ¢
Number of Attendance
meeting attended rate
HEEERY HEE
Members of Nomination Committee RZZEEZE
Liu Lit Chi (Chairman) BIE (£E) 1/1 100%
Liu Kam Fai Winston Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ - -
(appointed on 14 March 2024) (RZZZME=F+MBZ) 2
Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher SRS 1/1 100% P
Cheng Yuk Wo BB 1/1 100% &
Au Kam Yuen Arthur BHRIR 1/1 100% %
Ma Hung Ming John EEsg 1/1 100% =
Tong Tsun Sum Eric BE% 1/1 100%
Lee Wai Hung (Secretary) ZRIEFHE) 1/1 100% &
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(G)

Committee members are allowed to take independent
professional advice at Company’s expense.

Details of the mandate and summary of the work by the
Nomination Committee during the year are set out in the
Nomination Committee Report on pages 44 to 45.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the Company’s website and the Stock

Exchange’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Corporate Governance
Committee on 7 March 2012, which is mainly responsible
for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Board.

The Corporate Governance Committee is chaired by Mr.
Liu Kam Fai Winston.

Its other current members are two Executive Directors
namely, Mr. Lee Wai Hung and Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian
and two Independent Non-executive Directors namely,
Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur and Dr. Ma Hung Ming John.

The committee meets at least once per annum.

The Corporate Governance Committee determines the
policy for the corporate governance of the Company.
The duties performed by the Corporate Governance
Committee include the followings:

(i) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors of the
Company and the senior management;

(iii) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to the directors and the employees of the
Company;

(G)
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(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the (v) MR ATERTETEEESR

@

c

(72}

Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the TFARASRELHRAZE | =

w0

Corporate Governance Report as required under the ERTEERRSEHEE,;, |4

m

Listing Rules; and B E

(vi) to hold regular meetings with all department heads (vi) FEEFMBEFIEETHET | 2

from time to time requesting them to review their & ERBERTHIMA g

corporate governance within the department and ZHEER MIREERIMH g

require them to submit proposal or remedy action to BITENAIERREER ’_>°|

redress the matters. §

S

e Details of 2024 Corporate Governance Committee o T NFELPLELEETES 5

meeting attendance record are set out below: HECEREHIIAT - 2

fa

m

Number of Attendance 3

meeting attended rate o

HEGERY HEE g

Members of Corporate Governance Committee ¥4 REEEE §;

Liu Kam Fai Winston (Chairman) BEE () 11 100% al

Lee Wai Hung TR 1”71 100% ;
Liu Chak Hung Adrian F“;E;ﬁ 0/1 0%

(appointed on 14 March 2024) RZZEZNE=A+HBZMF)

Au Kam Yuen Arthur EiRR 1/1 100%
Ma Hung Ming John EI5HH 1/1 100%
Lee Wai Hung (Secretary) FRIEFHE) 1/1 100%

e Committee members are allowed to take independent o ZECLZEREENEIZXR
professional advice at Company’s expense. 8> BEFEBARXEERIE-

e The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance o FHERETEXELEZETZHEEHE .-

Committee are available on the Company’s website. AREARATHEE

(H) DELEGATION BY BOARD (H EFgRE

() RELATIONSHIP WITH MANAGEMENT () BEEBEEZRR

e The Board and management (include different o ZEEEEREEE(EEFELXTMHTE)
departmental heads) fully appreciate their respective TOBBREILESFRE—ER#S
roles with supportive commitments of creating a healthy TEEAXELEEEZARB -

corporate governance culture.

e  The Board is responsible for overseeing the processes that e %Eﬁﬁiﬁkﬁm‘ﬁlﬁ (B3R 0P
management, including different departmental heads, has B EHMRREIEZIRGTERE °
in place to identify business opportunities and risks.

87

e The Board has delegated management functionsto o ZEEGOEEHTEEZEERE !
Executive Management Committee and different M EERBATIHEEE RER E
department heads for the Company’s operations and daily = == ;{T

business affairs.
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REFERENCE AND REPORT TO FULL BOARD

The Board currently has five Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance Committee
and Executive Management Committee, each of the

Committees have specific written terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and

comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Dr. The Hon.
Cheng Mo Chi Moses and has a majority of Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Lit
Chi, the Chairman of the Board and has a majority of
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Corporate Governance Committee is chaired by Mr.
Liu Kam Fai Winston and comprises of two Executive
Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company.

The Executive Management Committee comprises of six
Executive Directors of the Company.

Each Board committees present(s) their respective reports
to the Board after each meeting, for addressing their work
done and findings.

EXEEREMERR
EXERRRALEEERES
DHABREEE FNEES -
RURZEET - EEEBRZETRH
TEEZEE  RZEGIITAR
ERERLES -

BERZEZEEXEABHMEERH
=RBIIFRITESRAER °

FHMEEEXFEABREBLIRE
FEMIFRITERERSZH -

RELEGTFE—"HHEFTERE
BB REHE  HPBIIIFRIT
EELARZH -

A% =) /n%ﬁ@ﬂ\irmpﬁﬁﬁ%i
HE > REEARBMBHITEER
MBBILIERITESAER ©

HITEEZEEHAATRNZNT
EEMEM -
BEFZEENERERRAES

ERXAMHEIFBERARERER
ZHE o



() SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

() PREAMBLE

This policy sets out the Company’s standards and practices in
relation to communicating with its shareholders and prospective
investors.

e The Company is committed to maintaining a policy of
open and timely disclosure of relevant information on
its activities to shareholders, subject to applicable legal
requirements.

e The Company believes that providing regular
communications to its shareholders and the market is
important to ensure they have the available information
reasonably required to make informed assessments of the
Company’s strategy, operations and financial performance.

° Communication channels
Communication is made through:

— the Company’s annual and interim reports, which
have been enhanced to present a comprehensive,
balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group position and prospects.

— notices of and explanatory memoranda for annual and
other general meetings, which have been enhanced
to provide shareholders with additional information

in an understandable manner.

— press releases on major developments of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

— disclosures to the Stock Exchange and relevant
regulatory bodies.

— Company’s website at http://www.lchi.com.hk
which shareholders can access information of the
Group. The website provides, inter alia, corporate
announcements, business development and
operations, press releases, financial reports, and
corporate information of the Group.

() RFRBEHEK

m ®m=s
FEREHIERMEATEEARRREAER
REEBBZEAKRER -

o ARFBNMFERFRKRRLMK
REHEZZAERE  HARE
FERREFRR ©

o AREMEEERRKETEERE
# > HREARSESSEMEEM
URmAEAT 2K« SERMBR
REHABHEEAEE
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- BRAFRAFAKREMBARARERKR
BRZEQM -

- RBXARAREEHEFD
ZIREE -

- KREROUFEAERREZHEE (B
it : http://www.lchi.com.hk)
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(I1) SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The Board regards the annual general meeting as the
principal opportunity to meet with shareholders and

welcome any constructive opinions.

Details of director’s attendance record of the annual
general meeting of the Company held for year ended 31
December 2024 are set out below:

(1) RRRKXE

EFERURRERRAERE L
RHEAERMZESR  LRKRRE
FREAHHEERNRRZEZ TE2K

go
BE_Z_NWE+_A=+—HILt
FEZARATRRAGEFTHET
BRETIATF :

Number of Attendance

meeting attended rate
HEEERY HEE

Executive Directors HITER
Liu Lit Chi (Chairman) BIE (£/E) 171 100%
Liu Kam Fai Winston BEiiE 1/1 100%
Lee Wai Hung e 11 100%
Liu Kwun Bo Darryl BEE 1/1 100%
Liu Chak Hung Adrian BEt 1/1 100%
Liu Kwun Hung Tiger BEf 1/1 100%
Non-executive Director FHTES
Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher SRR 1/1 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors BIiEHTER
Cheng Mo Chi Moses mEe 1/1 100%
Au Kam Yuen Arthur ERR 11 100%
Ma Hung Ming John Joop i 11 100%
Cheng Yuk Wo | 1/1 100%
Tong Tsun Sum Eric BEE% 1/1 100%
Ngan Suk Fun Mariana BERS

(appointed on 31 December 2024)

(R-B-ME+-A=+—H%M)

The Company arranges for the annual report and
financial statements and related papers to be posted
for shareholders so as to allow at least 21 days for
consideration prior to the annual general meeting. And all
other general meetings to be sent at least 14 days.

The Board encourages and supports shareholder
participation in general meetings. Shareholders are
encouraged to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend such meetings.

Mechanisms for enabling shareholder participation will be
reviewed on a regular basis by the Board to encourage the
highest level of participation.

Chairman of the Board, appropriate members of the Board
committees and the external auditor of the Company will
attend the annual general meetings to answer questions
from the shareholders.

AFERRERBREEZRE > QT
ZHRRRAFREMEL 2187
RERFEFHR - WHRRREAX
o MAMABEHMRRAEMS >
APRERERTRED 14 EXRE
0 o

EFERRAAXERRZBERRK
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EFEIE EFEATLEEE
BRAAE 2SN LUMRS AR
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(1l1) SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

° Inquiries from shareholders, investors, media or the public
are responded by the Executive Directors, Director of
Finance, Company Secretary or the appropriate members
of senior management.

e The Company will respond in a timely manner to
shareholders’ queries and concerns.

(IV) THE ADMINISTRATION OF ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

e All ordinary shares of the Company have equal voting
rights. Annual general meeting proceedings are continually
reviewed in the light of Code on Corporate Governance
Practices.

e Separate resolutions are proposed at the meeting on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors.

° Preparation of a comprehensive annual general meeting
circular containing:

e re-election of directors;

e  general mandate to buy-back shares;

e  general mandate to issue shares;

e amendments to the Articles of Association, if any;
e  voting at annual general meeting; and

e comprehensive information on each resolution to be
proposed.

The Company’s Articles contain the rights of shareholders to
demand and the procedures for a poll voting on resolution at
shareholders’ meetings. Details of such rights to demand a poll
and the poll procedures are included in all circulars in relation
to shareholders’ meetings and will be explained during the
proceedings of shareholders’ meetings. In case poll voting is
conducted, the poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on the business day following
the shareholders’ meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at http://www.lchi.com.hk where the Company’s
announcements, business development and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are posted.

Information on top 10 largest shareholders and location of
shareholders are set out in Directors’ Report on page 36.
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GENERAL MEETING (“GM”)
Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders having a right to vote may

request to call a GM of the Company.

The written request: (a) must state the general nature of
the GM; (b) may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
GM; (c) must be signed by the shareholders making such
request, and (d) may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more of those shareholders.
A request by joint holders of shares must be signed by all
such holders.

The request should be deposited at the registered office of
the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The request will be verified by the Company’s share
registrar and upon its confirmation that the request is
valid, the Company Secretary will convene a GM on behalf
of the Board by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the statutory requirements or applicable rules or
regulations to all the registered shareholders.

If the request is verified to be not in order, shareholders
concerned will be informed and no GM will be convened.

If the directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the request proceed to convene a GM, the
shareholders concerned or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may
themselves convene a GM, but any GM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of the deposit of the request.

In the case of a GM at which a resolution is to be proposed
as a special resolution, the directors shall be deemed not
to have duly convened the GM if they do not give such
notice as is required by section 578 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

ZiEF
AT DR 5% RREZ R
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(V1) PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT

FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS
Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap 622, Laws of Hong Kong), the Company must give
notice of a resolution if it has received requests from the
following number of shareholders:

(i)  Shareholders holding at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders having the right to vote on
the resolution at the annual general meeting to which
the request relates; or

(i) not less than 50 shareholders who have the right to
vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting
to which the request relates.

The written request: (a) must be signed by all the
shareholders concerned; (b) must be sent to the Company
in hard copy form at the registered office of the Company;
(c) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given; (d) must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and (e) must be received by the Company not
later than 6 weeks before the annual general meeting to
which the requests relate; or if later, the time at which
notice is given of that meeting.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar and upon its confirmation that the request is
valid, the Company will give notice of the resolution or
circulate the statement provided that:

(a) if the request relates to an annual general meeting,

(i) the proposed statement must be received in
time to enable the Company to send a copy of
the statement when the notice of annual general
meeting is despatched;

(i) and, the shareholders concerned have to
deposit a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in regard thereto not later
than 7 days before the annual general meeting.
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(b) if the request relates to a GM (other than an annual
general meeting), the shareholders concerned have
to deposit a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in regard thereto not later than
7 days before the GM.

° If the request is verified to be not in order or the e
shareholders concerned have failed in the above manner to
deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses
for the said purposes, the shareholders concerned will be
advised of the result and no action will be taken by the
Company in that regard.

° Pursuant to section 616 of the Companies Ordinance, e
the Company that is required under section 615 of the
Companies Ordinance to give notice of a resolution must
send a copy of it at the Company’s own expenses to each
shareholder of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the annual general meeting in the same manner as
the notice of the meeting; and at the same time as, or as
soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the

meeting.

(b) AZEERA(RRBERE
BUSNN) RERAE AR BIA
FRRBAEFNERRRAE7
BRI EFFEEESMRIRIELZ
HAERBMILEENFR

HZERWEEEN > HBEMRR
RERU LA RNFEFRHRIE
TABRMFFEENZHR > mAF
RBAARMKRR > BAERIFL
EA1TE ©

RIBATEGIFE 61618 EERTE
ERA R B IRIE D F KBS 615 &
BHARRBE > AARMKERS
BRI REFARGBEHAR
NERRFERERALS > BERH
ARAZM FREHFREBEAGES
—; REAFHAGBERE—
B ZAENEEERARSRETHE

==}
= ©

The above procedures are subject to applicable legislationand W 2 F BEFERANEZEZMER
regulations, in particular, the Companies Ordinance (Cap 622, EEM=EAGIKG (FBEZEFE 622
Laws of Hong Kong). For further details on the shareholder %) o BRAKREKRERNE—TFHE > U
qualifications, and the procedures and timeline, shareholders R&iZFMEFRER @ #EREEREAD FE
are kindly requested to refer to Sections 566 to 567,571,578, (T B EEFE6225E) F566F 567~

580 to 582, 610 and 615 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap 571
622, Laws of Hong Kong).

~ 578 ~ 580F 582 ~ 610K 6151% ©



(V) PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, including
Companies Ordinance (Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules
and the articles of association of the Company as amended
from time to time, if any shareholder(s) of the Company intends
to propose a person other than a director of the Company for
election as a director of the Company at any GM, the following
procedures shall apply:

e anotice signed by a shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention
to propose such person for election and also a notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged with the Board at the
registered office of the Company;

e the minimum length of the period during which such
notice(s) are given shall be at least 7 days and that the
period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
GM appointed for such election and end no later than 7
days prior to the date of such GM; and

° in order for the Company to inform shareholders of
the Company of that proposal, such notice(s) for the
nomination of a director must state the full name of the
person nominated for election as a director and include
the person’s biographical details as required by the Listing
Rules.

(J) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were changes to the Company’s Articles of Association
in the annual general meeting held on 29 April 2015 and 15
May 2018, the shareholders of the Company had approved the
amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company.
The changes were carried out in compliance with the latest
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) which came into
effect on 3 March 2014. The revised Articles of Association is
available on the Company’s website.
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

f&iﬁ‘ %i BZ :FEI:IEI

ABOUT LIU CHONG HING INVESTMENT LIMITED

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group” or “We”) are engaged in
a range of principal business activities, including investment
holding, property development, property investment, property
management, and hotel operations for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

We are pleased to present this Environmental, Social, and
Governance (ESG) Report (the “Report”) for the Reporting
Period, highlighting our commitment to sustainability
and ongoing efforts in these areas. This Report provides
stakeholders with insights into our sustainability initiatives,
activities, and overall performance, demonstrating the Group’s
dedication to responsible business practices.

REPORTING SCOPE AND STANDARDS

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. To the fullest extent possible, the Report follows the
guide’s requirements, including adherence to the “comply
or explain” provisions. The reporting scope was determined
primarily based on factors such as revenue streams and staff
numbers across the Group’s business operations. As a result,
the environmental key performance indicators (KPIs) mainly
cover the principal activities located in Hong Kong. However,
the hotel operation in Koh Samui, Thailand (the “Samui Hotel”)
is excluded, as it is managed and operated by an independent
professional hotel operator and does not fall under the Group’s
direct operational control, consistent with the previous

reporting period.

In compiling this Report, we have strictly followed the four core
principles outlined in the ESG Guide: Materiality, Quantitative,
Balance, and Consistency, ensuring comprehensive and reliable

disclosure.

Materiality: We conduct and review materiality assessments
annually to ensure that the ESG topics covered are relevant and
significant to both our business operations and stakeholders.

Quantitative: The disclosed Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) are measurable and allow for valid comparisons under
appropriate conditions.
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Balance: Information presented for the Reporting Period
is neutral and objective, avoiding any bias that may unduly
influence readers’ judgments or decisions.

Consistency: To ensure the comparability of disclosed data,
we maintain consistency in data collection methods and KPI
calculations.

By upholding these principles, we aim to provide transparent
and meaningful ESG disclosures that reflect our sustainability
commitments and performance.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group dedicates to incorporating sustainability and
corporate social responsibility (CSR) into all aspects of our
operations. Our ESG strategy is guided by a framework that
promotes sustainable practices, reduces risks, and creates value
for stakeholders. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees
the overall ESG strategy, while the Executive Committee is
responsible for executing and monitoring these initiatives. This
division of responsibilities ensures effective governance and
supports our continuous improvement towards sustainability
goals.

The Board holds ultimate responsibility for the overall
sustainability and long-term success of the Group, with specific
responsibilities including:

I.  The Board sets the overarching ESG strategies and goals
for the Group, providing leadership and direction on
sustainability issues.

Il. The Board is responsible for identifying and assessing
the potential risks that could impact the Group’s long-
term sustainability, including environmental, social, and

governance-related challenges.

I1l.  The Board oversees the progress and effectiveness of ESG
initiatives, ensuring that performance metrics are met and
continuously improved.

IV. The Board approves the Report, ensuring transparency
and alignment with regulatory requirements and industry
standards.
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The Group’s Executive Committee plays a crucial role in

executing the ESG strategies outlined by the Board. It is tasked

with the responsibility of managing and implementing ESG

initiatives on a day-to-day basis, with specific responsibilities

including:

The Executive Committee develops specific ESG strategies
that align with the broader goals set by the Board, ensuring
that the Group’s sustainability efforts are operationalized
effectively.

In line with the ESG Reporting Guide, the Executive
Committee reviews and tackles ESG-related concerns,
ensuring that potential risks and opportunities are properly

managed.

The Executive Committee is constantly seeking
new opportunities to grow the Group’s business in
an environmentally sustainable manner, identifying
innovative solutions and practices that promote long-term

sustainability.

The Executive Committee ensures that identified ESG risks
and opportunities are embedded into the Group’s overall
business strategy, fostering a more sustainable approach
to operations.

Operational department heads are empowered by the Executive

Committee to collect relevant information, review KPls, and

align operational policies with the Group’s sustainability

objectives. The Executive Committee is responsible for

overseeing the effectiveness of ESG initiatives and reporting

progress to the Board at least annually.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT FiRESH

The Group acknowledges that stakeholders play a crucial role in ~ ZEBFMNFHEEITELR LK ER
its sustainable development and long-term success. To ensure I EEER - ARFHEERE
alignment with their needs and expectations, the Group actively EiZRIEF— ' ~EBFZEBRXEERAK
engages with key stakeholders through various transparent and Eﬁﬁﬂlﬂ’\]%L?ﬁLﬁIEFfﬁ%FWﬁ@] °
open communication channels. By maintaining close contact, BBFRIFBRZHE > XEFETESHE

the Group refines its operational and ESG strategies, enhances &IRiE - H R EEHRE Trzﬂ'%‘h‘:‘
governance quality, and continuously creates value for all & > Wi EARBZHERIEERE -
stakeholders.
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Stakeholder Communication channels
BinE BERE
Investors 0 Corporate website
REE YASIEED
0 Announcements and financial reports
NERMBRE
0 Annual general meetings and shareholders’ meetings
REFAFAERREAE
Government/ o Announcements and public information
regulatory organizations NERAHER
BT/ e o Otherregulatory reports
HiEE B RS

0 Correspondences through email and letters

EREHREFER

Employees 0 Regular meetings
=] THgH
o Training and seminars
B R bRt &
o Questionnaire
GiEeschey
o Performance evaluation
KRG
Customers 0 Customer instant messaging tool & service hotline
®FR EFEREA T ARRBE G
o Customers' review
XR:E
o Face-to-face communication
AHEER
Suppliers o Suppliers and subcontractor assessment
iy "R RS B
o Site visit
Ria28

EvHERTERE Q

—&= |

L EHSO



=
20T LYOd3Y TYNANNY | QILIWITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT 8

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIgs 8 ARELBRSSE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Executive Committee (comprising our Executive Directors)
conducts an annual materiality assessment to identify and
prioritize the ESG topics most relevant to the Group’s business
operations and stakeholders. The assessment follows the
process outlined below:

1. Identifying ESG Issues: The Group compiles a
comprehensive list of potential ESG issues based on
industry best practices, regulatory requirements, and

emerging market trends.

2. Assessing materiality: Each ESG issue is evaluated based
on two key dimensions:

° Impact on the Group — The extent to which the issue
affects business operations, financial performance,
and long-term strategy.

° Importance to Stakeholders — The level of concern
stakeholders have regarding the issue and its impact
on their decisions and expectations.

3. Validating Findings: The results of the assessment are
reviewed and validated by the Executive Committee to
ensure alignment with the Group’s strategic priorities and
business objectives.

4. Regular Review and Updates: The materiality assessment
is periodically reviewed to account for evolving business
conditions, stakeholder expectations, and regulatory
changes.
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The following ESG topics are considered material to our TIHEEAREAHFTHEMSBEE

stakeholders. HIRIE « HEREAEE °
Environmental aspects o Emissions
RIREE B
o Waste management
EYEE
o Energy efficiency
AER M

o Climate-related risk and opportunities
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Social aspects 0 Staff compensation and welfare
HEEE B TH R EF
0 Staff occupational health and safety
ETHEREEZZ
o Staff development and training
ET#EREN
o Equal opportunities
TERE
Operating practices o Quality of service
ZEED RHEER
o Customer satisfaction
ERWEE
o Supply chain management
e EE
o Anti-corruption
RE&S
o Compliance with laws and regulations
BT EEER
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PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

This Reporting Period, the Group continued to focus on
environmental protection through various initiatives to raise
awareness and promote sustainable practices among employees.
We actively involved our staff in environmental events and
activities, equipping them with knowledge and encouraging
proactive actions. Our goal is to contribute to a healthier planet

and create a positive impact for future generations.

In July 2024, we made a cash donation and organized a
volunteer initiative for the Pak Nai Restoration — Aquaculture
Debris Clean-Up. This volunteer activity was led by The Nature
Conservancy Hong Kong Foundation Limited (TNC), a global
environmental organization dedicated to conserving land and
water resources to create a sustainable future. TNC works
extensively in Hong Kong and beyond to restore ecosystems,
protect biodiversity, and address pressing environmental
challenges.

Recognizing the importance of this initiative, we saw it
as an opportunity to contribute to the restoration of the
natural habitat in Pak Nai, a coastal wetland known for its
rich biodiversity and ecological significance. By participating
in this cleanup effort, our team helped remove aquaculture
debris, reducing environmental pollution and supporting
the preservation of this vital ecosystem. Through this
hands-on experience, our volunteers not only contributed
to environmental conservation but also gained a deeper
understanding of the importance of protecting our natural

resources.
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In addition to organizing environmental events for our staff,
we integrate sustainability into our daily operations. Our hotel
operations generate oil and grease in wastewater, which we
manage in compliance with applicable regulations. To minimize
our environmental impact, we conduct regular vacuum cleaning
and engage laboratories for wastewater testing. Additionally,
we have established comprehensive environmental policies,
including water, waste, and noise control policies, to ensure
responsible resource management. For certain properties
managed by the Group, the environmental management system
has achieved ISO 14001:2015 certification, enabling us to
evaluate, monitor, and enhance our policies and procedures
to further reduce our environmental footprint. The Group also
continuously assesses the feasibility of offering environmentally
friendly products and services, reinforcing our commitment to

environmental preservation.
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The Group’s primary air pollutants come from exhaust
gases generated by electricity consumption and vehicle use.
Recognizing the significant impact of greenhouse gases (GHGs)
on climate change, we strictly enforce our established policies
to control emissions by managing energy and fuel consumption

effectively.

During the Reporting Period, total GHG emissions decreased,
primarily due to a reduction in electricity usage. To further
enhance energy efficiency, we launched energy-saving
campaigns encouraging staff to minimize energy consumption
in their daily tasks. Measures include ensuring that idle
printers, lights, and air-conditioning are only activated when
needed. Additionally, our engineers closely monitor daily meter
consumption and promptly address any abnormalities. However,
vehicle emissions and business travel-related emissions slightly
increased during the Reporting Period due to expanded
business development efforts in Hong Kong and other regions.
To manage this, we strictly enforce policies that limit vehicle use
to essential needs and promote the use of public transportation.
Approval procedures are in place to ensure that only necessary

business trips are undertaken.

The Group set a target in 2021 to reduce GHG emissions
intensity by 2% in its Hong Kong properties by 2025, using
2021 as the baseline, and we successfully achieved this target
in the Reporting Period. Moving forward, we aim to further
reduce emissions from gaseous fuel consumption and lower the
overall intensity of Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions. To achieve
this, we have implemented several measures, including regular
machinery maintenance, replacing old vehicles with electric
ones, and upgrading chillers in managed properties to improve

energy efficiency.
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GHG emissions during the Reporting Period: RS EEREEHEM =
(72}
E
Sources Types of GHG Unit 2024 2023 ;
P BERBSY Efi “E-mE —gC= m
Emissions data from gaseous fuel consumption Nitrogen oxides (NO,) tonnes 0.02260 0.02093 E
and use of vehicles e
REBMMELEFE R SEFE AN EE agftymNo,) i =
Sulphur oxides (SO,) tonnes 0.00011 0.00010 9
fré{t4(S0,) i §
>
Direct emissions or removals from sources (Scope 1) ﬁ
B REREHR A (BE 1) 2
GHG emissions from mobile combustion sources Carbon dioxide (CO,) tonnes 98.79 92.72 a
ENERRERT R E RS HEK Z&1EHKk(CO,) W S
Methane (CH,)! tonnes 0.30 028 [
Y5 (CH,)! 0 "
Nitrous oxide (N,O)* tonnes 12.26 11.50 %
FIEEE (N,0)! U =
b
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) ;1
i RE RASHEH (8 2) g
Electricity purchased from power companies Carbon dioxide (CO,) tonnes 3,389.12 3,426.12
ABNREBEES Z&1ER%(COy) U7
Gas purchased from Towngas Carbon dioxide (CO,) tonnes 68.34 63.14
REBPEEAATRERR Z&1EHKk(CO) i
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)
HitiRE RASHE (8E 3)
Electricity used for processing fresh water and Carbon dioxide (CO,) tonnes 1471 12.30
sewage by government departments
BRSMHEERKRGKEEEEN Z &b (COy U
Business air travel by employees Carbon dioxide (CO,) tonnes 8.90 5.83
BEMTEEHEER Z&1EHKk(CO) i
Total GHG emission (Scope 1, Scope 2 & Scope 3) Carbon dioxide (CO)Nete? tonnes 3,592.42 3,611.89
BERBHNAEE (EE 1 58E2 KHE3) Z& 1A% (CO,)Ha! i
Total GHG emission intensity Carbon dioxide (CO,)/ tonnes 16.04 12.63
empby(;'\e Note 2 f{zF2
AERBHRERE —&1Eik(CO,) /BE i
Notes: Wizt
1. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions were converted into carbon dioxide emissions based 1. RE2IKEEE (TGWP)) » BRGERECEATNK
on global warming potential (“GWP”). Therefore, the total amount of greenhouse gas AT RN Bt BEREHREEAZ
emissions is the total amount of carbon dioxide emissions equivalent. SR EaEE -
2. Theintensity of total GHG emissions increased due to a decrease in the number of staffas 2. HREEEBTIAKHD » BEREEHKRESRRR L
of the year-end date. o
The Group did not record any instances of non-compliance with R ER&EHIR > NEB L RZREBER 1§5
relevant laws and regulations that significantly impact on GHG  BEEFm B E AR EIBR A G RGN 3
emissions during the Reporting Period. EIFo %
I
i
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

This Reporting Period, we continue to uphold our “Reduce,
Reuse, Recycle” (3R) philosophy as our guiding principle.
Through various initiatives, we strive to minimize waste
generation, maximize resource efficiency, and promote
sustainability across our operations. We actively reduce waste
by optimizing resource usage, encourage reuse by implementing
refillable and sustainable alternatives, and enhance recycling
efforts through proper waste sorting and management.

REDUCE

We have implemented various waste reduction initiatives
across our office, property management, and hotel operations.
In our offices, we minimize paper waste by promoting digital
documentation and double-sided printing. Within property
management, we encourage tenants to adopt recycling
practices, while also reducing unnecessary packaging materials
in common areas. In our hotel operations, we have eliminated
single-use plastic amenities, introduced refillable dispensers
for toiletries, and optimized kitchen inventory management to

minimize food waste.

REUSE

The Group has implemented various initiatives to promote
reuse. In our offices, we encourage the reuse of supplies such
as files, folders, and envelopes while promoting refillable
ink cartridges and reusable utensils among employees.
Within property management, we facilitate material reuse by

repurposing old furniture and refurbishing equipment.

In our hotel operations, linens and towels are reused through
controlled laundering programs, and gently used furniture are
donated to charities whenever possible. For long-stay hotel
guests, without compromising customer satisfaction, we offer
the option to reuse towels and mattresses for multiple days,
contributing to water and energy conservation. Additionally,
old towels and unused tissue rolls are repurposed for internal
cleaning use.
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RECYCLE

Recycling helps conserve natural resources by reducing the
need for extracting raw materials. In our offices, we have
designated recycling bins to ensure the proper disposal and
recycling of materials. Within property management, we
implement waste separation programs, encouraging tenants
to recycle paper, aluminum cans, and plastics. In our hotel
operations, recyclable materials such as plastic bottles and
aluminum cans are collected and sent to recycling facilities.
Additionally, used cooking oil from hotel kitchens is recycled
into biodiesel, reducing waste and supporting renewable energy.

Materials recycled during the Reporting Period:

BRIRBIE
BIRBERBNERR D RENRMEHFR
EHERER  EWAEF > HFRET
FRARIUFE - RV ZEEE KRB
EMEEES > RABRERY D\
2> HENE P L UARSR - SREEREBE -
FBIEEES > RFIREEBMREE
35 5] [B] WA ) St s B X =[] W s e o Uk
5h > T AFIRE B IS B B E AR I BY R ] U
HEEYSRH  BOBEYL AR
EHER ©

S AR AT [E] U AR

Materials

Unit 2024

2023

i Efi —ECmE —E-zf
Used cooking oil tonnes 2.064 1.384
FRENRH L]
Paper tonnes 0.310 0.390
R i
Plastic bottles tonnes 0.220 0.599
BB i
Aluminium cans tonnes 0.100 0.080
izt i

During the Reporting Period, we have expanded our recycling
efforts from headquarters to include the collection of waste
fluorescent tubes for proper disposal and recycling, preventing
hazardous materials from entering landfills. Through these
initiatives, we strive to minimize our environmental footprint
and contribute to a more sustainable future.

Food Waste

Food waste is an unavoidable byproduct of hotel kitchen
operations. To minimize waste, the Group regularly reviews and
optimizes food preparation processes, ensuring efficient use of
ingredients while reducing excess. In line with our commitment
to sustainability, kitchen waste undergoes simple fermentation,
transforming it into fertilizer that is used for hotel landscaping
and greening efforts. This initiative not only helps reduce waste
but also contributes to a circular economy by repurposing
organic materials for environmental benefits.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a total of
23.36 tonnes of general hotel and office waste, a decrease
from 27.38 tonnes in 2023. This equates to an intensity of 0.1
tonnes (2023:0.1 tonnes) per employee. The Group did not
generate any hazardous waste during this period. In the rare
instances where hazardous waste may be present, the Group
has established policies to ensure its proper collection and
handling by recognized contractors. Since no hazardous waste
was generated, a reduction target is not applicable. However,
the Group aims to reduce non-hazardous waste in the coming
year by promoting the use of reusable products.

To further reinforce the Group’s commitment to waste
reduction, in November 2024, the Company organized a visit
to WEEE e PARK, a Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
(WEEE) treatment and recycling facility located in EcoPark, Tuen
Mun, Hong Kong. The aim of the visit was to raise awareness
among employees about the importance of recycling electrical
appliances, encouraging them to adopt green living practices
in their daily lives. By witnessing the processes firsthand,
employees were able to connect the broader environmental
impact of e-waste with their personal contributions to a greener

future.

WEEE contains harmful substances like lead, mercury, and
greenhouse gases, which can harm the environment and
human health if not properly handled. During the visit to this
leading facility, our staff learned about the Hong Kong SAR
Government’s efforts in sustainable resource use and the
producer responsibility scheme for WEEE. They also saw how
WEEE ¢ PARK uses advanced technology to safely process
electronic waste, turning it into reusable materials through
detoxification, dismantling, and recycling. The visit reinforced
the importance of responsible e-waste disposal in reducing

pollution and conserving resources for the future.

EEREZEEY
REREHAR > NEERS S 23.36 M —
RBERRAZEEEY RITEZ=
#927.38MEBFR T /% - HHERERESO0.1
ME(CEZ=4:0.1M8) o RIRSHAR -
AEBREEETRAEZEEY - EIELD
HERT MEEEEEEY s5£H
BHRIEHEK  BREBKIEREHE
EWEREE - ARANEBKREEEM
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The visit to WEEE e PARK not only broadened our staff’s
understanding of environmental issues related to e-waste but
also reinforced our commitment to integrating sustainability
into both the workplace and our everyday lives.

For the Reporting Period, the Group has not received any notice
of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group’s primary resource consumption includes electricity,
water, and materials. We continuously evaluate and adopt new
strategies to improve the management and conservation of

these resources, ensuring sustainability across our operations.

Ilb %% 2 ¥ WEEE o PARK R {£#ER T 1
ETHETREEYIEMIRIZRERNH
a7 BB eI FEEERATLES
Ff B B % 5B RIS ©

RESHE > *EBLEZEETMNER
ERELERERESREEYMNERZES
KR BIRYIER] o

BERER
FEBHENEIEEREEE KK
i} o FAPIFFAEET (4 M ER AR SR B - WL
HMEHELERNEERRE  BRE
BRAIRFEN o

w
c
&
z
m
("]
(%]
]
m
s
m
g
>
z
o
Q
(o)
A
v
(e}
2
b
m
8
<
m
z
z
>
z
o)
m
W
#
]
&
&
5
a
]
L3

O

EYHEETEEE O

—&= |

L EHSO



[y

20T LYOd3Y TYNNNY | QILIWITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT >

(=]

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIgs 8 ARELBRSSE

ENERGY SAVING

B fE

The Group has established policies and procedures to promote ZANEE 2 &I EBREKRIZF » MU{EHELER
efficient energy use, aiming to improve energy efficiency and SXER > S7EIBF AR & A H D R
reduce unnecessary electricity consumption. MHERAE -

The Group monitors the building management system and ZAEEEREFEEAAKTELHGEERS
tracks daily meter readings to quickly spot any unusual energy H:iEBE > U KRB EREAEEFERER
usage. This helps us identify problems early, take corrective 15X BN RMERPRIRATE - %
action, and maintain energy efficiency. By doing so, we can  EXAU IE 35 X FE(RAER S 3E A o Bl
prevent unnecessary waste and reduce costs, while also finding EL82# > HMEHHLEAKLENRE
further opportunities for energy savings. Several measures have &R 7 > FERFSIE G IE—SEHE o
been implemented to reduce energy consumption, including: REB B LIS » 815 !

Head office )
431

oY=}

Switching off some lifts after office hours, as well as idle office equipment
EMAREREREAARERREENARE

Using electrical appliances with a Grade 1 energy label according to the Hong Kong
government’s Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme

FERTE AT RN R RE A2 —REFEBNES

Posting notices on saving energy to promote environmental awareness

REGEIBES T 0 RBRRE M

Managed properties o

REME

Using light-emitting diode (‘LED”) lighting for exterior billboards and switching off lights
in unoccupied areas

ENESHEERE N ZHE (TLED)) RAAKER & A BIF R

Having dedicated staff to conduct regular inspections and monitor energy consumption
REATHRERERZERHEE

Upgrading building management systems, variable speed drives and chillers in managed
properties for current control and energy usage monitoring purposes

ARAENENEFEERR  SERRRRRIAM  EHERRERERER

Hotel operations .
BIEEE

Switching off lights in unoccupied areas and some lifts at midnight

B ARENRARETREEHNIAESH

Reducing the frequency of changing mattresses and towels where possible, without
affecting customers’ experience in using our hotel services
EAFEBRZZREERBNAIRT » Frlfn) B RREREDIER
Purchasing waterproof mattresses and pillow covers to reduce unnecessary steaming
steps

BEMKRBNNE > LUAD AR ENZ SIS R

Manual switching off chiller operation when the outdoor temperature reaches a lower
temperature

EENRERERERER  FHMMRSASR

Additional frequency inverter drives for flush water upfeed pump replacement

SRERSRINAS » BHURRIK KR




Electricity consumption and intensity during the Reporting RIRSHIBMNWAEERZE .
Period:

Unit 2024 2023
Efi —EomE —¥_=f
Electricity consumption kWh 4,829,283.94 4,880,208.68
REE& ThE
kWh/employee 21,559.30 17,063.67
TEE &8

During the Reporting Period, the Company reaffirmed its long-
standing commitment to environmental protection. In alighment
with the Group’s energy-saving objectives, the “Let’s Save
Electricity Campaign” was successfully implemented as a pilot

RE{REME > X RFERERAUKRE
REAE - sEEABROEER X
—ENFERAENAMEIT e
""\Jﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁu o IEAHEAMEA KRS S

program from May to June 2024. This two-month initiative &/ H EFRHNAEE > TR{EEEMN
aimed to reduce electricity consumption in daily operations and E{%EEEK °

reinforce environmental responsibility among employees.

As part of the campaign, the Company provided several f{EAIFEEIN—ZD > AATRME TR

guidelines to staff, including but not limited to setting and
maintaining air-conditioned room temperatures between

T 21855 BIEEARRREBERE
=8 &Ejﬁ&ﬁﬂﬁ%mizéﬁz&%

24°C and 26°C, using air conditioners in conjunction with fans ERERERAETHUIES R SME > U
to enhance cooling efficiency, and setting photocopiers and &% E‘Eﬂff%&ﬂ'Eﬂff%ﬁqﬁﬁﬁ A MEIh
printers to enter “Low Power” mode as quickly as possible when  #E) & IR AR5 o

idle.

The campaign yielded positive results, with all participating
offices achieving a total electricity savings of 680 kWh. This
represents an approximate 2% reduction in consumption
compared to the same period in the previous year,
demonstrating the effectiveness of the initiative in promoting
energy efficiency and sustainable workplace practices. The
Company will continue to actively implement sustainable
practices in daily operations, striving to contribute to long-term
environmental sustainability.

IEEBESEEMR > FRESERAE
WBEHEEEBOTRE » REFFHA
L EI2%NAEE » B T ILREER
FHEERM m R E R E LRGP E B
FHENRY - AARREETAREE
PRBERAIFERR  BRAORAREA
RIFAIFEEREMNE -
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During the Reporting Period, in addition to our energy-saving
campaign, we made efforts to reduce electricity usage. Although
the electricity consumption intensity increased due to a
reduction in staff by year-end, the total electricity consumption
decreased. We continue to target a 3% reduction in energy
consumption across our Hong Kong properties by 2025, using
2021 as the baseline year. To achieve this goal, we will maintain
our energy-saving campaigns, strengthen employees’ energy-
saving awareness through internal training and education, and
replace electrical appliances with the most energy-efficient
models.

During the Reporting Period, one of our subsidiaries, Liu Chong
Hing Property Management and Agency Limited, pledged its
support for WWEF-Hong Kong’s Earth Hour 2024. Additionally,
several properties under the Group’s management participated
in Earth Hour 2024 on 23 March 2024 by switching off non-
essential exterior and interior lighting, as well as electrical
appliances, for one hour at night. This global initiative serves
as a powerful reminder of the urgent need for climate action
and sustainable energy use, reinforcing our commitment to

environmental responsibility and a greener future.

Beyond reducing energy consumption during the event, Earth
Hour also raises awareness about the collective impact of small
actions in combating climate change. By participating, we hope
to inspire our employees, tenants, and the wider community to
adopt more sustainable habits in their daily lives, contributing to

long-term environmental preservation.

RS HAR - BREITEIREEENSb > A
NEHBLVEE - BEHRRERETA
R LVENREEZERBM LA BLER
EEBMTE RAEBUA-ZT_—%F
AREE, BIEEIN _S_RAEREBY
EMEFEHEZEMREI% ABERILE
1B B HERTEHEES  BBR
g B ARCEEMNEESH » I
A A REAEIEE o

R{REME > ~EENREASERH
MEEERAEBRAB AEXFHiH
FRERETEEEBLGH MIk—/)\F
2024 ES) o LS AEEEENZE
MER_Z_ME=B_+=H24 Nt
IX—/\BF2024) > TERERARAIELZERISH
i ;e EAIREA R B s —/\B o L2 IR
EBRERFREITERAIFEERE
ArETE > WRET HRFABIRFRERE
Rk BARIRBI G

BRip VD EBNHARI B BETRH RSN o THhIR—
NEF) MR T B TE/NMTEERE RE
SIEPERZENDH - HAFEER
SHILEZPREES AR REREZM
EBEREEETEABEAFENER
ARPIRFREMNE -



The following properties took part in this initiative:

Chong Hing Bank Centre
Chong Hing Square
Bonsun Industrial Building
Fairview Court

Fung Yip Building

Grandview Court

Beyond participating in Earth Hour 2024, several of our

managed properties also joined the Energy Saving Charter

and 4T Charter Schemes 2024, organized by the Environment

and Ecology Bureau. These initiatives reflect our ongoing

commitment to energy conservation and environmental

sustainability.

Under the Energy Saving Charter, our participating properties

pledged to:

Maintain an average indoor temperature between 24-
26°C during the summer months from June to September
2024.

Switch off electrical appliances and systems when not in
use and prioritize the procurement of energy-efficient
appliances, such as those with Grade 1 energy labels, from
June 2024 to May 2025.

Engage staff and tenants to adopt the above energy-saving
practices collectively.

Promote energy data transparency by sharing energy-
saving measures and achievements.

Support building energy retrofits to enhance overall energy
efficiency.

These initiatives not only reinforce our dedication to sustainable

operations but also inspire collaboration within our community,

driving collective action for a greener future.

SHENMES

RIELERITHL
AIEES
BRIEKRE
E=E
SERBHMAE

ERME

PR2EA NIk —/\K5 2024 §b > ANEEETE
ENZEMETMATREREREBAE
BEVEIREAE 2024 R ATHE TS - BLE
BHERR T I B SE RIRIB AT E S
FREVFFERGE o

RIB(EIBENE) » T FIN S B ERGE

E_E_NEEFABENLBAH
B B EREEEFEIRK24
E26E 2R o

EZZE_NEARBEZZZREF
LRHME > EAERANESREKRR
o W BEBERBAERNENE
23 (MNBEE —RAETRIZHAIESS)

BEETRERARBEEU LEHAIEE
IRFEIE ©
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During our operations, the Group prioritizes the use of
sustainable materials that are certified or made from renewable
resources or recycled materials as part of our commitment
to protecting the environment. For office paper usage, we
exclusively procure paper certified by the Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC). In the Reporting Period, we also introduced an
umbrella dryer in public areas to reduce the use of disposable
umbrella raindrop bags.

In our hotel operations, we have eliminated single-use plastic
packaging for hygiene products such as shampoo and shower
gel. Instead, we now use large refillable containers for bath
products, reducing the use of traditional small plastic bottles.
Additionally, we have replaced plastic toothbrushes, combs,
and other disposable hygiene items with alternatives made
from recyclable or biodegradable materials, such as bamboo
and compostable products. The shampoo, conditioner, and
shower gel provided in our hotel guest rooms are organic, made
from natural plant-based ingredients, herbs, and essential oils,
avoiding synthetic chemicals.

We also use fully biodegradable garbage bags to reduce plastic
waste. Eco-friendly products such as biodegradable takeaway
meal boxes and cutlery, as well as oxo-biodegradable paper
cups and paper straws, have been introduced for takeaway
services. Furthermore, we have opted for bamboo tissue instead
of tissue paper made from wood pulp. Bamboo, which grows
up to 30% faster than other trees, helps reduce environmental
harm, preventing harmful chemicals from entering waterways

and protecting ecosystems.

We are dedicated to embracing sustainability across our
business operations.

EAHEPFRERRAEN D > £&
EEEEREREIERENENRA
BEERIBEMH R AIFHEMEL
EMAZRMSE > HFERBERM
EEZEERB/AMK - NIRSHAE
BB QAHEHBERERRKES > LU
MER—RMEREFHKE o

EBEEESR > ZRMAEELKAEK K
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WATER MANAGEMENT

Our water consumption primarily comes from office, commercial
building, hotel sanitation, cleaning, and restaurant purposes.
We have established water conservation policies to provide
guidelines for using clean water and handling wastewater.

Water-saving practices are emphasized through various
measures, including the installation of sensors at taps to regulate
water flow, and dual flush systems in all guest room bathrooms
to optimize water usage. We also conduct regular inspections
and repairs of plumbing fixtures and pipes to prevent water
wastage. To maintain water quality, we clean our freshwater
tanks quarterly and send samples to recognized laboratories
for testing to ensure compliance with water quality standards.
Additionally, employees are educated on the importance of
water conservation, and signs are posted near sinks to remind
staff and guests to save water.

Water consumption and intensity during the Reporting Period:

KERER

BN KEREETERENWRAE - E
EXE - BEHE - BREREBRR -
BMEGIEHKEE > AERABTRKK
RIREEKIRMHIES] o

BRZIEEHAAMKER > 2FEK
FEEH £ HE R MRS UABEI KT > UKRTE
FREERAEREE MKAKUEIER
Ko HFIEEHREMAMEE EERE
BiEKEIRRE - BMERIKE > ZfiE
FEBRABKKE—R > LRERERE
RN ERZETER > URETS
KERE - ILSh > HfIREE S REA
KB EEN > WERFMMTRAR
ab 0 IREEE T R E NEIKIAK o
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Unit 2024 2023
Efif —ECmE —EC=

Water consumption m® 24.423.00 19,944.80

kg AR

Water consumption intensity m®/employee 109.03 69.74

FEkBE Up5K/1EE

Water consumption and intensity during the Reporting Period
increased due to higher usage at one of our hotel restaurants,
which was not fully operational in the previous year but has
been fully operational this Reporting Period. Moving forward,
we aim to reduce water consumption intensity as a short-term
water-saving target by strengthening staff awareness of water
usage.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has not received any
notice of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
regarding discharges into water and land.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change presents both challenges and opportunities for
businesses and our Group remains committed to proactively
addressing its impacts. Our Executive Committee acknowledges
the importance of identifying, assessing, and managing climate-
related risks to ensure long-term business resilience. To this
end, we have implemented a comprehensive risk management
policy that enables us to mitigate potential climate risks while
adapting to evolving environmental conditions. Through
strategic planning and sustainable initiatives, we strive to

REBEEHE > ~EETERZETAER
B R kR B 1t k05 B AR RR A 5 Ko AR
LLESEER SR

%M

RIFEEAEETRBEEARE » K&
BB NN RBREREEZE - RN
HITEZEGRAMEG  SFEREERE
HEARENEEN  UREXBHRE
e B> RMPEEREZENERE
EHER » EHRMIEREETRERER -
[ By 68 PR A~ i BB RV IR IR AR - IR 8
BRIR B R AT A 2246 RIS D
BB H - RAFERY = > LAERRE

minimize our carbon footprint, enhance energy efficiency, and &R EEAIE

contribute to a more climate-resilient future.

Physical risks = E

Risk identified Implications Response measures

BB ERE e FESHEHE

The frequency of extreme weather o Property damage from strong . Enhancing infrastructure resilience

conditions, such as typhoons, flooding, and
rainstorms, may increase.

MIRR RN MEeR « HKKRFER 48
EEREGIEmM

and insurance claims.

B o

0 Staffs safety concerns, requiring
emergency response measures and

evacuation plans.

BTIL2MHE  BENERZEIR

Higistal o

winds, heavy rainfall, and flooding,
potentially leading to costly repairs

5B~ RRKRAKEIEERNER
1% 5| BB RNEEERRR

1A
‘A ZIN

by reinforcing buildings, upgrading
drainage systems, and installing flood
barriers in high-risk areas.
BRMERET - ARFKARRES
& SRR AER - RAERR
FERYENME o

o Establish a policy to provide guidelines
for staff on work arrangement during
extreme weather conditions.
HIEHR » A8 TRMABHER AR
THRTIIEZHNIES]




B AR

Transition risks

Risk identified Implications Response measures

BN PSR

Asshift in customer preferences toward 0 Loss of market share as customers o Keep communication with customers
competitors who prioritize environmental increasingly seek environmentally to understand their preferences and
protection responsible businesses that align needs to respond to changes promptly.

RRENHRERESENINRIETF BERFREE TRERENEX

MERESEREE o

with their values.
BEXAHRHL S KEAHEER
—HNIRREE > THMERK o

o Adopting sustainable practices

such as reducing energy and water
consumption, waste management
improvements, and sourcing eco-
friendly products and services.
R HERE > WA ERRkKE
THFE  NSEEMERE Uk
RRERKRRE o

Changes in environmental 0

Increased compliance costs for o Regularly monitors existing and

policies and rules

REHRNAE S EEME

adapting to new environmental
regulations, including the cost of
implementing changes in operations,
infrastructure, or waste management.
AERRRERBMIE NN SRR
X BIEEE  ERSINSEENE

new climate-related policies and
regulations.
EHREERIIRE RArA R EAERIERA
B

BEEENEMME

To effectively manage the potential impacts of climate change,
the Group conducts regular reviews of identified risks and takes
necessary actions to mitigate them.

EMPLOYMENT

The Group values its human resources as its greatest asset and
is committed to cultivating a diverse, inclusive, and dynamic
workforce. As part of its corporate sustainability strategy,
the Group places employee contributions at the core of its
operations. To ensure effective human resource management,
the Group has developed an Operations Manual and Staff
Handbook outlining comprehensive policies on recruitment,
dismissal, promotion, anti-discrimination, benefits and
remuneration, health and safety, and other employee welfare

measures.

AENEERGECAERRNZE
AEEE BT S B BY R BRI R A
EHRMLUREHRE -
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not notice any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to
preventing child and forced labour, compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity, discrimination prevention, or other
benefits and welfare such as Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57
of the Laws of Hong Kong); and Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

RECRUITMENT

The Group is committed to fostering a diverse workforce,
recognizing that individuals from different backgrounds,
experiences, and perspectives contribute to a more dynamic
and innovative workplace. To ensure a fair and equitable
recruitment process, all job applicants are assessed solely based
on their experience and qualifications, regardless of gender, age,
race, family status, religion, or disability. Additionally, candidates
must disclose any potential conflicts of interest with the Group.

As part of our hiring procedures, shortlisted candidates may
be required to undergo multiple rounds of interviews and
assessments, including technical evaluations or situational
judgment tests, to ensure they meet the role’s requirements and

align with the Group’s values and expectations.

The Group strictly prohibits child and forced labor. To uphold
this commitment, we implement rigorous candidate screening
and age verification measures to ensure the accuracy of
disclosed information and compliance with our employment
standards. If any cases of child or forced labor are found, the
Human Resources department will investigate immediately. If
confirmed, the employee’s contract will be terminated.

To protect sensitive personal data, all information collected
during recruitment is used strictly for its intended purpose
and is accessible only to authorized personnel. The details of
unsuccessful candidates are securely retained and typically
erased 24 months after application submission.

PR SRR A& B R 3 IR AR AR
BRI IEE T RIRHIZE T - #rii Kk #E -
BERSH  TERE - BB TEH
g Znlb s RERIEMTEREF
HERRROIBIER » BREEBEGSE
57 E(EEIFG) KREBEDISE 4855 (58
w4 QTEZETBRG)

B
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BRI EATEE R KRAxAENE
ABER TS RE ZE I KAIR ©
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MR ~ FiE ~ iR ~ KERSR ~ REEGE
RIBEM o Mo > RIEAN AWML ARER
ZERNEABENDmESR -

EREBIEFN—82 > ABREAT
FERBETZSHE ARG BEKM
LB R FER R URERERT S
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FERBRBRREIRBHFETL - BETT
HE7&GEE » FPIBE MBS RV IR IE AN B E K
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STAFF COMPOSITION

The Group values effective communication for company and
staff growth. We provide open channels for employees to
discuss job challenges or concerns with their supervisors.
Department heads and supervisors are responsible for ensuring
work quality, communicating with staff, and managing daily
operations within their departments.

Working hours and rest periods are clearly stated in
employment contracts to ensure transparency. We regularly
review practices to ensure compliance with labor standards in
both Hong Kong and the PRC. We also conduct regular checks
and provide employees with opportunities for anonymous
feedback, ensuring both employee welfare and legal compliance
are maintained.

Detailed information about our workforce can be found below:

ETHHMK
FEBERAERBEURERATRET
R HfIAEERERKARE > 8
BEREHRETEN®HLFRRREN
Mo BPIBSEANTEGETRELF
HE -HRETERTERAINFANAE
BEF-

B B 545 EM 588 T {ERF 8 (RAA »
EREERE - RFIEHRFTEE » X
BEEMEERRTENG TRE &K
MEETEMRRE  IAESRMHTESR
REBHHE > BRESGEMN ARG R
PEIFLUMESS ©

BERZRFAEINFAERNT ¢

By gender 2024 2023 By age group 2024 2023
1451 —EomE “ECEE FRAER “E-mE - ek 2
Male 61% 59% 30 yearsold or younger 8% 12%
B 30AMUT
Female 39% 41% 31-50vyearsold 52% 54%
it 31E50m%
51-60yearsold 26% 23%
51Z607%
Over 61 yearsold 14% 11%
615 L
By geographical region 2024 2023 By employment category 2024 2023
2 “EomE —EC=E (ERER “E-mE - ek 2
Hong Kong 73% 74% Senior level 16% 14%
&E BHREEAE
Others 27% 26% Middle level 32% 25%
Hith FREEAS
Entry level 52% 61%
EEET
DISMISSAL ;3

Employees of the Group are expected to comply with internal
policies and the code of conduct. Any instances of misconduct
or unsatisfactory performance may result in disciplinary
action, which could include termination if necessary. However,
the Group strictly prohibits unfair or unlawful dismissals.
Termination of employment is carried out only on reasonable
and legally justified grounds or in cases of serious policy
violations.

FEERESRETARBERMITAZER
ERARZETAHRBERAENBRITAT A
SEERCEED » K ERNERILER -
AT > ZEBBBRIERQFHIFER
B REAGEKRGENBERT » HE
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EMPLOYEE RETENTION

The Group believes that our success is closely linked to the
development and well-being of our employees. To support
their growth, we prioritize staff development and retention by
providing training opportunities, career advancement paths, and
a positive work environment where employees feel valued and
engaged.

To attract and retain talent, we offer competitive salary
packages, performance-based bonuses, and benefits such as
health insurance and retirement plans. Medical benefits also
extend to eligible employees’ spouses and children.

We promote work-life balance by providing various paid leave
options in addition to statutory holidays, including casual leave
for personal matters, marriage leave, and compassionate leave.
To foster an inclusive and supportive workplace, we actively
seek employees’ feedback on improving workplace facilities and
policies. For instance, we accommodate working mothers by
providing designated breastfeeding areas and break times after
childbirth.

Additionally, we ensure flexibility during extreme weather
conditions or transportation disruptions. Employees are
required to report for duty under No. 8 or higher tropical
cyclone warnings or black rainstorm warnings are eligible for
overtime pay and allowances, including meal and transportation

support.

The total turnover rate during the Reporting Period increased
from 36% in 2023 to 66% in the Reporting Period, primarily
due to changes in Hong Kong’s hotel operation model. As the
hotel leased to another party for rental income, many original
staff members were no longer required. Moving forward, we
will continue to strengthen employees’ sense of belonging by

fostering a supportive and engaging work environment.
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Detailed information about employee turnover can be found

BB T RARFAEANT ¢

below:

By gender 2024 2023 By age group 2024 2023

145 —ECMmE ZE=F FRER “ECmE —E=f

Male 58% 35% 30years old or younger 122% 51%

B 30BEFHIMUT

Female 76% 36% 31-50yearsold 73% 32%
51-60yearsold 51% 37%
51F 605%
Over 61 yearsold 32% 35%
61BN L

By geographical region 2024 2023

HE “ECmE - ek -3

Hong Kong 82% 41%

&E

Others 23% 19%

Hit

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING 2R B ig A

The Group values employee development and continuous
learning for long-term success. We offer training programs
to enhance skills, knowledge, and career growth, providing
tools for employees to excel. By promoting lifelong learning
through internal and external training, we ensure our team stays
adaptable in a changing industry.

We believe in providing clear career progression pathways
and encouraging long-term commitment through internal
promotions and lateral moves. To support this, we conduct
annual performance reviews for all employees, fostering open
dialogue between staff and department heads. These reviews
help assess compensation packages and identify promotion
opportunities, with eligible employees rewarded through salary
increases and career advancement.

During the Reporting Period, we organized a range of internal
and external training programs to equip employees with the
necessary skills for their roles. In addition to company-organized
training, we offer discretionary training allowances for work-
related courses, encouraging employees to take initiative in
their personal and professional development.
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On-the-job training is provided to enhance employees’
practical skills, ensuring they gain hands-on experience in a real
work environment. This approach allows staff to apply their
knowledge directly to their tasks and projects. New employees,
particularly frontline staff who interact with customers, are
required to attend an orientation program on their first day. This
training familiarizes them with the Group’s objectives, culture,
and workplace policies.

To further support employee learning and engagement,
we incorporate interactive and team-based initiatives into
our training programs. These activities not only reinforce
professional knowledge but also promote collaboration and a
sense of community within the workplace. One such initiative
was the “Environmental Protection Q&A Competition” held in
October 2024.The event aimed to enrich employees’ knowledge
of environmental protection through interactive participation,
ultimately enhancing their environmental awareness while
fostering team spirit among colleagues. Winners of the
competition received generous prizes, which were allocated for
team-building activities within their departments, allowing them

to share the rewards with their colleagues.

The Group believes that our employees gained valuable insights
into various aspects of environmental protection during the
preparation for the competition and throughout the Q&A
process. The topics covered during the competition included
energy efficiency, climate change, the Hong Kong Climate
Action Blueprint 2050, renewable energy, air quality, and
endangered species. Participation in the competition helped

promote teamwork and collaboration among employees,

strengthening their sense of unity.
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During the Reporting Period, a total of 76% (2023: 57%) of
employees were trained with average of 2.86 (2023:1.64)
training hours per employee. The breakdown is as shown below:

RIREHE aH76%(ZTE =
57%) NEEE#HRIZI > S8 EEMN
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By gender 2024 2023 By employment category 2024 2023
1451 —ECmE ZEC=E (RRER “E-mE —gC=
Male 76% 49% Senior level 31% 21%
B BREEAR
Female 76% 68% Middle level 65% 56%
peq i hREEAS
Entry level 95% 66%
BiEET

The average number of trainings taken per participated
employee during the Reporting Period:

RS 582 REARSEIN
TIRY

By gender 2024 2023 employment category 2024 2023
145 —ECmE ZEZZHE (ERER “ECmE —EC-=
Male 3.96 3.29 Senior level 2.95 1.66
%lﬁ %?&%EEAE
Female 346 2.44 Middle level 4.67 2.92
pegis HREEAR
Entry level 3.60 2.94
EBEET
HEALTH AND SAFETY BESZR

The Group acknowledges the importance of workplace safety
and the health and well-being of its staff. As part of our
commitment to this, we have established an occupational health
and safety framework designed to promote safe practices
and prevent accidents. This framework is aimed at ensuring
employee safety, creating a secure work environment, and
minimizing risks. Through this proactive approach, we strive to
uphold the highest standards of workplace safety, prioritizing
both the physical and mental health of our staff.

Certain properties managed by Liu Chong Hing Property
Management & Agency Limited have implemented a
comprehensive safety and health management system, earning
ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System certification. This ensures the effective execution
of health and safety measures across our operations. To
proactively manage workplace risks, regular risk assessments
are conducted to identify potential hazards, track risks, and
implement appropriate mitigation measures. Employees are
well-informed about emergency handling procedures, ensuring
they can respond effectively to unexpected situations.
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Depending on the needs of staff and the workplace, we
arranged chemical spill drills, flood drills, fire drills, special
incident drills, and confined space workplace drills to enhance
staff preparedness and ensure that all safety procedures are
understood and followed in case of emergency situations. These
exercises are designed to equip employees with the necessary
skills to effectively respond to emergencies, minimize risks, and
maintain a safe working environment.

We actively promote safety awareness among staff by providing
ongoing safety training and equipping them with necessary
protective gear. To enhance workplace safety, we also maintain
well-stocked first aid kits at each managed property and
establish clear work procedures to minimize risks.

During the Reporting Period, we organized several occupational
health and safety training sessions to enhance employees’
awareness and preparedness in maintaining a safe work
environment. These training programs covered a range of
critical topics, including safety guidelines for working at
heights, proper handling of chemicals and hazardous materials,
and the correct usage of personal protective equipment.
Additionally, we provided training on heat stress prevention
to help employees recognize and mitigate the risks of heat-
related illnesses, particularly in physically demanding work
environments. Specific guidance was also given on scaffold
work safety to ensure that employees follow proper procedures
when working on elevated structures. By equipping our staff
with the necessary knowledge and skills, we aim to foster a

strong safety culture.

Additionally, we regularly share safety tips and refresher
materials to reinforce best practices. A structured safety
checklist has been developed to facilitate routine inspections,
ensuring continuous monitoring and improvement of workplace

safety.
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During the Reporting Period, a total of 28 (2023: 31) lost days
due to work injuries were recorded. No work-related fatalities
have occurred in the past three years. In case of a work injury,
a thorough investigation is carried out, and ad hoc training
sessions are arranged as needed to strengthen staff awareness
and prevention measures. For the Reporting Period, the Group
has not noticed any non-compliance in relation to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards such as the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the laws of Hong Kong).

To further support the well-being of our staff, the Group
also emphasizes mental health alongside physical safety
in the workplace. The Group recognized that a healthy
work environment not only ensures the well-being and
safety of employees but also enhances the productivity and
competitiveness of the organization. With this in mind, the
Group joined the “Joyful@Healthy Workplace Programme”
and organized a workshop in March 2024, conducted by the
Occupational Safety and Health Council. The session, delivered
by a registered social worker, aimed to introduce staff to the
concept of positive psychology and share practical tools, such
as the “Happiness Equation” and tips for creating a happier
workplace. This initiative not only focused on improving mental
health but also encouraged our employees to adopt strategies
for fostering a positive and supportive work environment.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has developed a comprehensive procurement
procedure, including supplier selection, assessment, evaluation,
and compliance requirements. Purchases are only made from
the approved supplier list. As of 31 December 2024, we
maintain relationships with 828 approved suppliers (2023:
795), of which 99% (2023: 99%) are based in Hong Kong, and,
all adhering to these procedures to ensure the quality of our
suppliers.
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Our procurement staff carefully assess the necessity of products
and services before placing orders to avoid unnecessary
consumption. The Group also considers the environmental
impact of suppliers’ products and prioritizes those who follow
sustainable practices, such as offering durable and energy-
efficient products. In addition to price, we evaluate factors like
functionality, biodegradability, toxicity, and pathogenicity when
selecting products. We prefer suppliers with green factory
certifications or other relevant ESG credentials, particularly local
suppliers, to reduce our carbon footprint and the need for long
shipping times. Our inventory system ensures traceability of
each item, documenting its origin, purchase date, and movement

history, which helps us address any quality or compliance issues.

We implement a rigorous supplier screening process, conducting
background checks to verify the legality and registration of
suppliers. Suppliers must also disclose any violations of local
laws, environmental regulations, labor practices, or health and
safety standards. We avoid engaging with suppliers that have
questionable legal or ESG records. For significant and ongoing
purchases, we request site visits to better understand factory
operations and production procedures.

When selecting suppliers, we also consider the quality and
safety of goods, the supplier’s experience, the uniqueness of the
products, emissions during the supply process, and traceability.
Typically, we obtain three quotations for comparison. Any
procurement exceeding a specified amount undergoes a
tendering process to ensure fairness and transparency. All
tender documents are handled confidentially, and access is

restricted to relevant departments.

Environmental and social risks in our supply chain are regularly
monitored through operational checks and the scrutiny of
quality certificates. We also conduct performance reviews
to assess quality, timeliness, compliance, and customer
satisfaction. Departments are encouraged to provide feedback
on suppliers, which is then followed by the procurement team.
If a supplier’s performance falls below our standards, we expect
improvements, and repeated violations of our standards or

regulations may result in terminating or replacing the supplier.
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We also offer staff opportunities to participate in industry
exhibitions and meetings to stay informed about market trends
and advancements, promoting green procurement and ensuring

our supply chain aligns with our environmental and social goals.

PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

The Group’s comprehensive set of operational manuals,
policies, and staff handbooks defines work procedures and
upholds standards in our daily operations. These guidelines
serve as a framework to ensure consistency, efficiency, and
compliance across all aspects of our products and services.
By following well-documented procedures, our employees
can systematically deliver high-quality service while adhering
to industry regulations and best practices. Additionally, the
quality management system for our property management
services has been certified under ISO 9001:2015, reflecting our
commitment to maintaining high standards in service quality,
operational efficiency, and customer satisfaction. Through
continuous evaluation and improvement, we strive to enhance
our management practices and ensure excellence in the services

we provide.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not received any
notice of non-compliance in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided. Due to the nature of our business, recall
procedures and recall rates are not applicable to us.

QUALITY ASSURANCE
We ensure quality assurance through two key aspects: people
and facilities.

People

We cultivate a culture of continuous improvement by
encouraging employees to propose and implement
enhancements to quality processes. Employees undergo
comprehensive training on the Group’s established procedures
and standards, which define specific quality benchmarks for
our products and services. Department heads are responsible
for monitoring compliance through routine inspections of
departmental performance. If any discrepancies from the
required quality standards are identified, employees must
promptly take corrective measures under the guidance of their
department heads.
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To reinforce employees’ knowledge of internal procedures
and requirements, we conduct regular refresher training
sessions alongside specialized training on emerging topics.
Additionally, departmental meetings are held frequently, while
management meetings between the Executive Committee and
department heads ensure ongoing performance evaluation and
improvement. Frontline staff are always encouraged to provide
feedback based on their interactions with customers, enabling

continuous refinement of our service delivery.

During the Reporting Period, our managed property, Chong
Hing Bank Centre, was recognized with the Outstanding
Security Services — Industrial/Commercial Property Award
under the Hong Kong Island Best Security Services Award
Scheme 2023-2024, further demonstrating our commitment to

service excellence.

Facilities

We uphold a customer-centric approach while striving for
excellence in service quality at our managed hotels and
properties. We ensure barrier-free access and facilities for
individuals with special needs, conducting regular assessments
to evaluate and enhance the adequacy of our amenities. To
maintain a safe and comfortable environment, we implement
rigorous maintenance schedules and conduct regular
inspections to ensure our facilities meet operational and safety
standards. Additionally, we adopt sustainable practices, such as
energy-efficient lighting and water-saving systems, to enhance
environmental responsibility while maintaining high service

quality.

Our managed property, Chong Hing Bank Centre and Chong
Hing Square, received the Good Class Certification 2024 under
the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme, issued by the
Indoor Air Quality Information Centre and the Environmental
Protection Department, underscoring our efforts in maintaining

a high standard of environmental quality.
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COMPLAINT HANDLING PROCEDURES

We have a standardized complaint-handling process, allowing
customers and stakeholders to submit complaints via instant
messaging, email, or our hotline. All complaints are logged and
forwarded to the relevant department for prompt resolution.
With management involvement, if necessary, the responsible
team identifies the issue, implements a solution, and responds
to the customer professionally and efficiently.

CONSUMER DATA PROTECTION AND PRIVACY

Handling customer data is an integral part of our operations,
and we are committed to protecting privacy through strict
policies and guidelines. Employees must maintain confidentiality
and are prohibited from sharing personal data. To enhance
security, we implement a document management system with
multi-level access controls, restricting information to authorized
personnel. We also have monitoring measures in place, ensuring
any irregularities are promptly reported and addressed.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

The Group has implemented appropriate security measures to
ensure that third-party interests are respected and protected.
The Information Technology Department is responsible for
managing intellectual property rights and securing the necessary
licenses for software and hardware used in the Group’s
operations. Our licensed software is sourced from approved
suppliers. Employees are regularly reminded to avoid infringing
copyrighted works and to exercise caution when using
computer software. The installation of pirated or unauthorized
software on company computers is strictly prohibited.

Any information uploaded to the company website must adhere
to our established policy and undergo the appropriate review
and approval processes. The Group is committed to maintaining
clear, accurate, and up-to-date content on our website
and strictly prohibits the use of false or misleading product
descriptions.
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The Group is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
integrity and ethical conduct by strictly prohibiting all forms of
bribery and corruption. Employees are not permitted to solicit,
accept, or offer any bribes or unlawful payments, whether in
Hong Kong or elsewhere. To uphold this commitment, the
Group has established comprehensive policies and a staff code
of conduct to prevent corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, and
money laundering in its operations and regularly circulates anti-
corruption materials to keep directors and staff informed of any
policy updates and to reinforce compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Group encourages stakeholders to report any suspected
misconduct through our whistleblowing system. Providing
detailed information and evidence in these reports is extremely
valuable. Management will investigate any suspected suspicious
or illegal activities with strict confidentiality. If unlawful
behaviour is identified, further actions, including reporting to

relevant regulators, may be taken.

During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group
or its employees. Additionally, the Group has not received any
notices of non-compliance for the Group or any employee

regarding bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering.

The Group is committed to fulfilling its CSR by supporting
the community and vulnerable groups through both financial
contributions and active participation. We encourage our
employees to engage in fundraising campaigns and volunteer
initiatives to assist those in need.

In November 2024, the Company organized a Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) event in collaboration with the Hong Kong
Association of the Deaf’s Deaf Cafeteria, titled “Life with the
Deaf is COOL.” During the event, our team gained valuable
insights into the organization’s background, mission, and
aspirations. Beyond deepening our employees’ understanding of
the association’s work, we also engaged in interactive activities
with individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing. Through games
and hands-on experiences, we learned more about their daily
challenges and unique methods of communication.
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As part of the event, we hosted a sign language workshop,
where deaf individuals and sign language interpreters served as
instructors. They introduced participants to basic sign language
in a fun and engaging way, equipping them with practical
communication skills. This experience not only enriched our
team’s understanding but also prepared them to communicate
more effectively with the deaf community in future interactions.

To further enhance awareness and empathy, we invited guest
speakers from diverse backgrounds, including individuals who
are deaf and experts working closely with the deaf community.
They shared their personal stories and experiences, offering
participants a broader perspective on the lives of deaf
individuals. Our staff gained deeper insights into the challenges
and achievements of the deaf community, inspiring reflection on
how to foster a more inclusive society — one where everyone,
regardless of their hearing ability, can thrive together.

In the future, the Group will continue organizing various CSR
and volunteer events, leveraging the strengths of our volunteer
team to serve the community, foster a spirit of giving back, and
deepen their understanding of the people they support.
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ESG CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix C2
to the Rule Governing the Losting of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The following table provides
an overview on the general disclosures and key performance

indicators (“KPI1”) of various aspects under each subject area,

RG> tEMEBASTERSI
FRERBEEBMEIZFAAERA

ZF EHRAMERC2H NRIE ?i@)i’z
ERMEIES RR - TREMISSIRE
EHBIREEN—RIKERBREN
BIR > MEHIIERAREEZ2RZEMH
B ERHERINSRER ©

which are either cross-referenced to the relevant chapters of the

Report or supplementing the Report with additional information.

Description Reference Remarks
o 2% &t
A. Environmental
IR
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAL: #i
General Disclosure  Information on: Emissions
(a)  the policies; and Waste Management
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Water management
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
—MRiRE EMBR R REREBHR MRS - BEREE BN
BEMNESSEN . BEYEE
(@) B, K KEREE
(b) BFHETARBEARFZENEMEERAHNER
KPIAL1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
RREMIEEALL B EE RGeS o B
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse Emissions
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
MRENIEEAL2 B (HE 1) RERRE (BE2) REREHERE CEHE) HK
Kk (@R ZE MMSESEN  BERMHE)
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste management
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
RREVIEEALS FMESEEEEVAE OEHE) k(MER) ZE(WMNE BEEYER
ESB( - §ERHHE)
KPIA14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste management
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
RREWIEIEALY FELEEEEYES CUETE) kK (WER) ZE (ME BEEYER
ESB( - §ERHHE)
KPIA15 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to Emissions
achieve them.
RREVIEEALS HRFGIINREEERAEIELEEMERNS R  HK
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastesare ~ Waste management
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
MRENIEEALS HRAREREREZEZEMNGE  RERFEIINAEE BEVERE

RRAEIEEERMIRMNTER -




Description Reference Remarks
fidt 2% st
A. Environmental (Continued)
IR ()
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : ERHIER
General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Energy saving
water and other raw materials. Material usage
Water management
—feik = BRERER (BIEMER « KREMEME) AR Hife
BRER
KERER
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Energy saving
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FRENIEIEA21 REREDNERR FMEERNE « fach) @2 (0 ik
TETREE) REBE (MUSESEN « 8ERMHE) ©
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Water management
production volume, per facility).
MRENIERA22 BREAEREE WNUSESEN  SBERMHE) KEREE
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps Energy saving
taken to achieve them.
PRREMIERA2.3 ;‘E%Fﬁﬂﬁﬂ@ﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ M BRRAZFELEFHRFRMN  E5k
KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Water management  We encounter no issue
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps in sourcing water that is
taken to achieve them. fit for our purpose.
MRENIEEA24 BRKRERKELIEEMHEE  URMITINAXKNE KEREE BMEERERKRAE
BRRAEIEEEZPFNN TR o It BAE IR o
KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in N/A We do not generate
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit significant packaging
produced. material waste in our
operations.
MREWIEEA2S HEGMASEMRNEE MME) R (NER) SEEE TER BMHNEHL &S RE%
ffhE ° ML o
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 RERXAER
General Disclosure  Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the Protecting the
environment and natural resources. Environment
—fRiKE BEZTAHRRRARERENEAT ENER RERT
KPIA3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Protecting the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to Environment
manage them.
MREWIEEASL HERERIHHRERXABENEATZEREENEEEF RFRERE

FENTY -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BEA | FmIREE

General Disclosure

—RiKE

KPIA4.1

RRRNIEIRA4.L

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

A REHELS R HETAEEF ENEARZER
EEMHER -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and
the actions taken to manage them.

WA RIEEHETAEETL ENEARGIENSEE
RELTE) o

Climate change

RIREE

Climate change

RIRE(E
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Description Reference Remarks
B. Social
e
Employment and Labour Practices
ERREIER
Aspect B1: Employment
EEBI1: EfF
General Disclosure  Information on: Employment
(a)  thepolicies; and Employee retention
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Development and
have a significant impact on the issuer training
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRiNE BREFHMNREE  RERSH - TIERS - RE - T {Ef%
g Sl - RIERUREMGERER BERE
(@) HR; & BRI
(b) BFHRTABEATENEMEERAGNER o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, Employment
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
MREMIEEBLL &R BEEE MEHIER) « FRENESSN  BE
BE4EE -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employee retention
geographical region.
MREMIEEBL2 &UR « FRANRMER SHESRALEER BERE
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EBEB2 ! RFHAZE
General Disclosure  Information on: Health and Safety
(a)  thepolicies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
—RiRE BRREZETERERFEEESRBEEREN . REHEZZ
(@) BUER; &
(b) BFHETAREAXENEMEERAGNEL o
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each Health and Safety
of the past three years including the reporting year.
MREWIEEB21 BE=F (BEEREE) SFRITHMASRILE REHEZZ
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
PRENIEEB22 RIGBLIEEY - REHEZZ
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MEENIEEB23 HFIRANBEREREZ2EN  URERATRERS RREZ2

& o




Description Reference Remarks
fidt 2% st
B. Social (Continued)
e (@)
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
BREREIER (B)
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[BE B3 ERERIE
General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Development and
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. training
—MRiKE ‘ﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬂf&é@ﬁﬂ’ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁE’\Jfﬂéﬁ&ﬁﬁ‘éﬁ'ﬂﬁl% o fEIUEHl  BERIE
aE o
KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle training
management).
MRENMIEEBIL RURRESE WESKERERE  PREER) 270N%H  ZERE
BEBAL -
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Development and
gender and employee category. training
MRENMIEEBI2 RURKESEES  SREETHZINTIIRE BREIE
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 . % T#E
General Disclosure  Information on: Employment —
(a)  thepolicies; and recruitment
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Employment —
have a significant impact on the issuer dismissal
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—fRiNE BRfILE T a5aH% TH | &fE - B
(@) BR;R &% - (e
() BFHETABEARENERZERAGINELR o
KPIB4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Employment —
avoid child and forced labour. recruitment
MEENIERBA1 s EREGNERUESE T RATIHT o &fE - 25
KPIB4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Employment —
discovered. recruitment
MRENIERB42 HAARRERBRRHEREMERATRIEE R o &fE - B
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Description Reference Remarks
B. Social (Continued)
e (@)
Operating Practices
EERG
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEBS : BIEH#ETE
General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the Supply chain
supply chain. management
—MRiRE BIERMEENIRG Rt & RIS o HEEEE
KPIB5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain
management
MREMIEERS.1 HERDHMLERHE o AR EIE
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being management
implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MRENIEEBS2 HWBMERUREENES  mERTEMEMNNEERY HREEEE
B UREBEFHNRTRERSE
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Supply chain
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are management
implemented and monitored.
FRENIEEB53 W EMARMREESERANRERIERRNER > U HEREE
RERRITREERE
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply chain
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, management
and how they are implemented and monitored.
MREWIEEBS4 HATREHEEREELARFRERKRBNEG Uk HEEEE
HRERITRERAE
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
JEEBS | EREF
General Disclosure  Information on: Product and service

—fRIKE

KPIB6.1

FRSERIEIRB6.1

KPIB6.2

RRSRERN ISR B6.2
KPIB6.3

FSERIEIRB6.3

(a)  thepolicies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and

methods of redress.

BRRMERNRBENREEAZE  BE  RERMES

BURERAEN

(@) BUR; R

(b) BFHETAREAXENEMEERAGINER o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons.

E%EJZEE%E&%%W?‘céiﬁiﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁiﬁﬁlﬂﬂlﬂﬁﬁ

Number of products and service related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

RERNERRRBORHAEURBEESE o

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

Hit AR REA A EARNER -

responsibility

EmfRHEE

N

Bo
|5

A

N/A
R
N/A

TEm

Product and service
responsibility —
intellectual property
rights
EmiREEE -
M ERE

There were no recalls
concerning the provision
REBTHMLAKIE
/AU o

There were no material
complaints received
during the reporting
period.
REBTHHLAKIE
KB o

Intellectual property
rights are immaterial the
Group

HMREH NI RIERH
ERIBEATE




Description Reference Remarks
fidt 2% st
B. Social (Continued)
e (@
Operating Practices (Continued)
ZERG (8)
Aspect Bé: Product Responsibility (Continued)
BEBS : ERERF (8)
KPIB6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Product and service  Recall procedures are
procedures. responsibility — not relevant to our
quality assurance operations
MEENIERBc4 HEERTBERERLWER o EnfRFEE - DREFARMANZEFIL
HERE AHER
KPIB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,  Product and service
and how they are implemented and monitored. responsibility —
consumer data
protection and
privacy
MRENIEEBS HIUHBEEBNRRRARBEE » UREBHITRERSE . EREREEE-
HEEERRER
iz

Aspect B7: Anti- corruption

EEB7: RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a)  thepolicies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

R&s

—RiNE BRI « 8% « BEFEROAREDN ©
(@) BUR; &
(b) BFHETAREATENEMERRAGNE o
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices  Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
MREWIEER7.1 RESBARRTASIHEERLIBEEANESHARSE RES
S ENEENEE X
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
FRENIERB7.2 P BEMRRRER  URAERRTRERAE K&
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors ~ Anti-corruption
and staff.
MEENIERB7.3 HiNESKE TRENRESE R&5
Community
#HE
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[BEBS: HERE
General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the Giving back to the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to community
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
—RiNE BRVHEZ2ERTREEMTHERENRREER LS DEHE
EEEHEMENECR
KPIB8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Giving back to the
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). community
A NIE12 B8.1 ;g)ﬁﬁk%ﬁﬁ M#HB RESE HIBK BER X EEHE
EIE o]
KPIB8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. ~ Giving back to the
community
MRENIEEBs2 AFIBEMBAER (WEHNKE) o ElEEHE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Liu Lit Chi

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston

(Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Lee Wai Hung
Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl
Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian
Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher, BEs, M. Arch, HKIA, RIBA, ARAIA, MRAIC,

Assoc. AlA, Registered Architect, A.P. (Architect), MHKloD

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses, GBM, GBS, OBE, LLB (HK), J.P.

Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur
Dr. Ma Hung Ming John, php, BBS, J.P.

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, Msc(Econ), BA(Hons), FCPA (Canada),

FCA (Canada), FCA, FCPA, CPA (Practising)
Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric, CA(Aust), CPA (Practising), CFE
Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lee Wai Hung

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman)

Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses
Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur
Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric

Mr. Lee Wai Hung (Secretary)
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BIFERITESE
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Mr. Liu Lit Chi (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston

Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur

Dr. Ma Hung Ming John

Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric

Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana

Mr. Lee Wai Hung (Secretary)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger

Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher
Dr. Ma Hung Ming John

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

Ms. Tin Siu Kuen (Secretary)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Wai Hung

Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian
Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur
Dr. Ma Hung Ming John

Mr. Lee Wai Hung (Secretary)

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. Liu Lit Chi (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston
Mr. Lee Wai Hung

Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl
Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian

Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT SHREEAS

DEPARTMENT HEADS BHEE

Mr. Luk Chi Chung Head of Finance Management FEERSEE BEEEREAREE
and Information Technology ES-

Mr. Jan Kwok Wai Kim Head of Projects Management ERELE IHEEEISEE

Ms. Tin Siu Kuen Head of Human Resources AWMt AHQDBRIBEE

Mr. Wu Ka Wan Head of Property Management tARIBAEE YEEIELEE

Ms. Lau Wan Ching Head of Leasing and Asset EELLT HAELREBESENEE
Management

Mr. Tsang Wai Ka Ricky Head of Facilities Management BEmLE SR EE

MANAGERS 4T 18

Mr. Tam King Hung Peter Deputy Head of Projects EREAE EEEEIEIEE
Management

Ms. Wong Yuk Man Deputy Head of Finance FEHLLET - HIEHMEIEE
Management

Ms. Cavior Liu Senior Operation Manager BE#HEa+ SR E B TR

Ms. Cheng Suet Kiu Manager of Finance BMEEFEZLT HEEEREAREE
Management and AL
Information Technology

Mr. Leung Kin Pong Project Manager REMEE  REKIE

Ms. Yip Hiu Ming Accounting Manager Y+ FEHKIR

Mr. Law Kai Chung Jonathan Vice President — Mainland China  ZBE{R%c4E 2428 — hFE it &

and Overseas Projects
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SOLICITORS

Deacons

Gallant

P.C. Woo & Co.

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

BANKERS
Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited

China Citic Bank International Limited
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GUANGZHOU OFFICE

18A Office Tower A

339 Huan Shi Dong Road

Yue Xiu District

Guangzhou, PRC

Tel: (8620) 83758993 Fax: (8620) 8375 8071

Email: guangzhou@Ichi.com.cn

SHANGHAI OFFICE
Room 3105, Chong Hing Finance Center

288 Nanjing Road West
Shanghai, PRC
Tel: (8621) 6359 1000 Fax: (8621) 6327 6299

Email: shanghai@Ichi.com.cn

FOSHAN NANHAI OFFICE
First Phase, The Grand Riviera

1 Guilong Road

Luocun Social Management Office, Shishan Town
Nanhai District, Foshan

Guangdong Province, PRC

Tel: (86757) 63860888 Fax: (86757) 63862218

Email: foshan@Ichi.com.cn

FOSHAN SANSHUI OFFICE
Room 107, Block 3, Elegance Garden

8 Jianshe Road, Xi Nan Street
Sanshui District, Foshan
Guandong Province, PRC
Tel: (86757) 8778 6929

Email: foshan@Ichi.com.cn
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EShkaREBAEBHN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. LIU LIT CHI

aged 85, Mr. Liu Lit Chi has served as the Chairman of the
Board since 9 August 2017 and the Chief Executive Officer
since 26 February 2014. He has been an Executive Director
of the Company since its incorporation in 1970. Effective 31
December 2024, Mr. Liu resigned from his role as Managing
Director, but he continues to provide strategic direction and
invaluable contributions to the Company as the Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and Executive Director. Mr.
Liu also serves as the Chairman of the Executive Management
Committee and Nomination Committee, as well as a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liu was educated in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom and is a director of various
companies in Hong Kong and other regions. Save as disclosed
above, he has not held any directorships in other publicly listed
companies in the past three years. Mr. Liu is the uncle of Mr. Liu
Kam Fai Winston and the grandfather of Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl,
Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian, and Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EShkamEBAEBHN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

MR. LIU KAM FAI WINSTON

BA., MSc.

aged 58, Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in 1997 and was re-
designated as the Deputy Managing Director in August 2008.
With effect from 31 December 2024, Mr. Liu resigned from
his role as Deputy Managing Director. On the same date, Mr.
Liu was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board and
continues to oversee the Company'’s strategic development,
project implementation, and business operations. Mr. Liu holds
a Master’s degree in Economics from the University of London,
specializing in Finance and Macro Economics. He serves as the
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member
of the Executive Management Committee and Nomination
Committee, and a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Liu is a nephew of Mr. Liu Lit Chi (Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board) and the uncle of Mr. Liu
Kwun Bo Darryl, Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian, and Mr. Liu Kwun
Hung Tiger (all Executive Directors). Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Liu has not held any directorships in other publicly listed

companies in the past three years.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

MR. LEE WAI HUNG

LLB, FCCA, FCPA (Practising), ATIHK, MBA,

PgD in CRE

aged 61, is an Executive Director and Company Secretary
of the Company. Mr. Lee is also serving as a member of
Corporate Governance Committee and Executive Management
Committee as well as a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor of Law degree, a
Master of Business Administration degree and Postgraduate
Diploma in Construction and Real Estate. He is also a fellow of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Before joining the Company, Mr. Lee had worked
in an international accounting firm for over six years. Mr. Lee
has over thirty years of experience in corporate finance and
accounting. Mr. Lee joined the Company in 1992 and was
appointed as director in 1994. Mr. Lee is in charge of the
Company’s finance and secretarial matters. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Lee did not hold any directorship in any other public
listed companies in the last three years.

MR. LIU KWUN BO DARRYL

aged 32, Mr. Liu has served as an Executive Director of the
Company since 2023. He is also a member of the Executive
Management Committee and a director of several subsidiaries
of the Company. Since July 2021, Mr. Liu has held the position
of Director of The Rockpool Project (Team Lead) and Hospitality
Management (F&B Team Lead). He holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from Hult International Business School,
London. Mr. Liu is primarily responsible for overseeing The
Rockpool Project and The Praya, a contemporary restaurant
within One-Eight-One Hotel. Apart from the positions disclosed
above, Mr. Liu has not held any directorships in other publicly
listed companies in the past three years. He is the grandson of
Mr. Liu Lit Chi, the nephew of Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston, the
cousin of Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian, and the brother of Mr. Liu
Kwun Hung Tiger.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSHREEBAEBAN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

MR. LIU CHAK HUNG ADRIAN

aged 30, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
in 2023. Mr. Liu is also a member of the Executive Management
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee. He
has held the position of Director of Leasing Management and
Hospitality Management (Operation) since July 2021, and in
June 2023, he transitioned to the role of Director of Leasing
Management and Property Management. Mr. Liu graduated
from St. Michaels University School in Canada. He is responsible
for driving the leasing business of the Company, with a
particular focus on The Rockpool, and overseeing the property
management business. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu has not
held any directorships in other publicly listed companies in the
past three years. Mr. Liu is the grandson of Mr. Liu Lit Chi, the
nephew of Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston, and the cousin of Mr. Liu

Kwun Bo Darryl and Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger.

MR. LIU KWUN HUNG TIGER

aged 27, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
in 2023. Mr. Liu is also a member of the Executive Management
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, as well as a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company. He has held the
position of Director of Mainland China and Overseas Projects of
the Group since July 2021. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor of Science
degree with First Class Honours in Mathematics with Business
Management from Queen Mary University of London. He is
responsible for initiating and leading the acquisition of various
properties, including commercial buildings, logistics centers, and
resorts, as well as developing the Group’s overseas investment
business through joint-venture projects. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Liu has not held any directorships in other publicly
listed companies in the past three years. Mr. Liu is the grandson
of Mr. Liu Lit Chi, the nephew of Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston, the
brother of Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl, and the cousin of Mr. Liu
Chak Hung Adrian.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MR. KHO ENG TJOAN CHRISTOPHER

BES, M. Arch, HKIA, RIBA, ARAIA, MRAIC,

Assoc. AlA, Registered Architect, A.P. (Architect),

MHKIloD

aged 62, served as Non-executive Director of the Company
since May 2011 and he is now serving as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Kho holds a Bachelor of Environmental
Studies degree on Urban and Regional Planning and a Master
of Architecture degree. He is an Authorized Person under the
Buildings Ordinance, a Registered Architect under the Architects
Registration Ordinance, a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Architects, a corporate member of the Royal Institute of
British Architects, an associate member of Royal Australian
Institute of Architects, a member of Royal Architectural
Institute of Canada and an associate member of the American
Institute of Architects. Mr. Kho was an Executive Committee
member of the University of Waterloo Alumni Association and
a Committee Member of the University of Manitoba Alumni
Association from 1989 to 1990. During the period from 1997 to
2003, he was a Director and Council Member of the Wah Yan
(Hong Kong) Past Students Association Limited. Mr. Kho has
also been a Committee Member of the Professional Committee
of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations since 2009.
Furthermore, Mr. Kho is appointed as an Executive Committee
Member of the Hong Kong Fukien Chamber of Commerce
and Director of the Hong Kong Fukien Chamber of Commerce
Education Fund Limited in 2017. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Kho did not hold any directorship in any other public listed

companies in the last three years.

FERITES

BES, M. Arch, HKIA, RIBA, ARAIA, MRAIC,

Assoc. AlA, Registered Architect, A.P. (Architect),
MHKIloD

ATITE  BZE——FRAEHES
KRBT ESTRMNRETAT AT
FNEEERIRREEGERE - FhE
BERTREARSIEMUAEEREL
B o th2REMRGI T 2RI AL (2
SELEM) T 32 SEEMEE ARG T 2 s R 51
B EREEMEEEE > BEEERE
AMBETEE > RNEREEMBES S
B MEAERERMBEEEMNER
BEMBEESE - FFREEN—NNN
FEE-NNZEFHEAHEMEREHE
RERKREHTEZERMERERLE
ARERREZE U —ANEtEEZ
DR -FHEEHERBECELESE
EREE -HFEREB_ZTNEFEERE
FEEREMEMEEXZALTZESES
Bo lbsh FEER_E—LtFEEZE
AEBREBEREHESAERAEES
EHEETARATNES - [FLIKE
B MIBE=ZFA > FRELREE
EREMEHARABREERNESH
o

(o]
()
~
v
(]
>
=]
m
>
r4
O
(%]
I
>
A
m
I
(o)
-
o
m
~
@
z
m
()
~
5
=
(]
r4
5
oy
&
5
e
b
o

BExEs@m_-&= | E@ﬂﬂ%%@ﬂﬁ%%g



=y

20T LYOd3Y TYNNNY | QILIWITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT B

©

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EShkamEBAEBHN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

DR. THE HON. CHENG MO CHI MOSES

GBM, GBS, OBE, LLB (HK), J.P.

aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 1999 and he is now
serving as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Dr. Cheng is
a practising solicitor and the Senior Consultant of Messrs. P.C.
Woo & Co. after serving as its Senior Partner and Consultant
from 1994 to January 2023. Dr. Cheng was a member of
the Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He is a non-official
member of the Executive Council of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region since 1st July 2022. Dr. Cheng was the
Founder Chairman of the Insurance Authority and the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary
President and Chairman Emeritus. He was also the President
of International Alliance of Practising Lawyers. In addition to
his directorship in the Company, Dr. Cheng currently holds
directorship in The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited,
K. Wah International Holdings Limited, Guangdong Investment
Limited, Tian An China Investments Company Limited and
Towngas Smart Energy Company Limited, all being public listed
companies in Hong Kong. Dr. Cheng’s other directorship in
public listed companies in the last three years includes China
Mobile Limited and China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited. Save as disclosed above, Dr. Cheng did not hold any
directorship, whether in Hong Kong or overseas, in any other

public listed companies in the last three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
MR. AU KAM YUEN ARTHUR

aged 85, was appointed an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company on 3 December 2012 and he also serves as
a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr.
Au studied Law in Sydney and London respectively. He was
admitted as a solicitor in England in 1975 and in Hong Kong
in 1976. He is a sole proprietor of Arthur Au & Co., a firm of
solicitors established since 1979. Mr. Au is a Notary Public and
was a member of the Notary Public Disciplinary Tribunal Panel.
He is also a School Management Committee Member of the
Clementi Secondary School. He now serves as legal adviser to
the Association of Hong Kong Nursing Staff (previously named
as the Association of Government Nursing Staff) and The New
Territories North District Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Au is an active Rotarian, he was a District
Governor of Rotary International District 3450 (Hong Kong/
Macao/Mongolia) in 1990-1991. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Au did not hold any directorship in any other public listed
company in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EShkamEBAEBHN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
DR. MA HUNG MING JOHN

PhD, BBS, J.P.

aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 3 December 2012 and he
is serving as a member of the Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Dr. Ma is currently the Vice Chairman of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited, a public company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He
has extensive experience in the catering industry, as well as
property management and development. He was awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003 and a Honorary
Doctorate of Philosophy by Morrison University in 2004. As
for community service, Dr. Ma was the Chairman of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is the Chairman of
Hong Kong and Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. He also
serves as the Executive Vice Chairman and Executive Deputy
Secretary-General of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations, the Permanent Honorary President
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce. On 1 July
2015, Dr. Ma was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Ma did not hold any directorship in

any other public listed companies in the last three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

MR. CHENG YUK WO

Msc (Econ), BA (Hons), FCPA (Canada), FCA (Canada), FCA,

FCPA, CPA (Practising)

aged 64, was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company on 7 March 2014 and he is now serving as
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Cheng obtained a Master of Science (Economics)
degree in Accounting and Finance from London School of
Economics, England and a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in
Accounting from University of Kent, England. He is a Fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng has
over 30 years’ of expertise in accounting, finance and corporate
advisory services. Mr. Cheng is currently an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited,
CPMC Holdings Limited, Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited, Somerley Capital
Holdings Limited, Kidsland International Holdings Limited
and China Renewable Energy Investment Limited, all of the
abovementioned companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Cheng is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Chong Hing Bank Limited, C.P. Pokphand Co. Limited and
CPMC Holdings Limited, companies formerly listed on the Stock
Exchange which were privatised on 30 September 2021, 18
January 2022 and 11 April 2025 respectively. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Cheng has not held any directorship in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EShkamEBAEBHN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

MR. TONG TSUN SUM ERIC

CA (Aust), CPA (Practising), CFE

aged 54, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the audit and the nomination
committee of the Company in March 2018. He obtained a
Bachelor of Economics from University of Sydney, Australia,
a Master of Commerce in Professional Accounting from
Macquarie University, Australia. He is a member of CPA
Australia, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand. He is also a member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators, the Governance Institute of
Australia and the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tong did not hold any directorship

in any other public listed company in the last three years.

MS. NGAN SUK FUN MARIANA

aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 31 December 2024 and a member
of the Nomination Committee on 13 March 2025. Ms. Ngan
has over 40 years of experience in banking, having held senior
management positions at MUFG Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch.
She retired from MUFG in 2019 and has since served as an
Advisor (on a part-time basis) at MUFG, Hong Kong Branch. Ms.
Ngan has been an Independent Non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee of Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited since April 2022, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Ngan did
not hold any directorship in any other public listed companies in

the last three years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MR. LUK CHI CHUNG

FCCA, FCPA, MAEB

aged 57, Head of Finance Management and Information
Technology. Mr. Luk is a professional accountant. He holds a
Master Degree in Electronic Business and has over thirty years
of experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Luk joined the
Company in 1995.

MR. JAN KWOK WAI KIM

BEng (Civil), CEng, MICE

aged 56, Head of Projects Management. Mr. Jan is a
professional engineer with over thirty years of construction
and project management experience representing clients,
consultants and contractors in both private sector and
government funded projects in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau. Mr. Jan joined the Company in 2008.

MS. TIN SIU KUEN

aged 58, Head of Human Resources. Ms. Tin holds a Master
Degree in Human Resources Management of Macquarie
University, Australia and has over twenty years of experience
in human resources management in the banking sector. Ms. Tin
joined the Company in 2018.

MR. WU KA WAN

aged 57, Head of Property Management. Mr. Wu holds a
Master Degree in Housing Management of The University of
Hong Kong and has over thirty years of experience in property
management. Mr. Wu joined the Company in 2020.

MS. LAU WAN CHING

Msc(RE), MRICS

aged 60, Head of Leasing and Asset Management. Ms. Lau is a
professional surveyor. She holds a Master Degree in Real Estate
of University of Greenwich, The United Kingdom and has over
thirty years of experience in leasing, sales and marketing, and
asset management in Mainland China, Hong Kong and regional
markets. Ms. Lau joined the Company in 2021.

MR. TSANG WAI KA RICKY

CEng, MIMechE, CPEng, MIEAust,

APEC Engineer, IntPE(AUS)

aged 46, Head of Facilities Management. Mr. Tsang is a
professional engineer in mechanical engineering. He holds a
Bachelor Degree in Building Services Engineering of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and has over fifteen years of
experience in engineering of facilities management. Mr. Tsang
joined the Company in 2021.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
KRRBFERGES

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting
of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (the “Company”) for
the year 2025 (“2025 AGM”) will be held at 27th Floor, Chong
Hing Bank Centre, 24 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
on Thursday, 22 May 2025 at 11:00 a.m. for the following
purposes:

1. To receive and adopt the audited consolidated financial
statements together with reports of the directors and
of the auditor of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

2. To approve the payment of the final cash dividend of
HK$0.17 per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
(“2024 Final Dividend”).

3. Tore-elect:

(@) Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston as a director of the
Company;

(b) Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses as a director of
the Company;

() Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur as a director of the
Company;

(d) Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric as a director of the Company;
and

() Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana as a director of the
Company.

4. To fix the directors’ remuneration for the year ending
31 December 2025 at HK$300,000 for the Chairman,
HK$300,000 for each of the independent non-executive
directors, HK$300,000 for each of the non-executive
directors with committee responsibilities, HK$200,000
for each of the executive directors, and HK$200,000 for
each of the non-executive directors without committee

responsibilities.

o

To re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board of
Directors to fix their remuneration.
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As special business to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or

without modifications the following ordinary resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
6. “THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant
Period (as defined in paragraph (c) of this resolution)
of all the powers of the Company to buy-back
shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) or on any
other stock exchange on which the shares of the
Company may be listed and which is recognised
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong and the Stock Exchange for this purpose,
subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws
and the requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) or of any other stock exchange (as applicable)
as amended from time to time, be and is hereby

generally and unconditionally approved;

the aggregate number of shares of the Company
which the Company is authorised to buy back
pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) above shall
not exceed 10% of the aggregate number of issued
shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if
any) as at the date of passing of this resolution, and

the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
KRRBFERGES

7.

(c)

for the purpose of this resolution,

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing

of this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the articles of association of the
Company or the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to be held; or

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this

resolution is revoked, renewed or varied by an

ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the

Company in general meeting.”

“THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (c) below, the exercise by the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period
(as defined in paragraph (d) of this resolution) of all
the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal
with additional shares of the Company, including any
sale and transfer of Shares out of treasury that are
held as treasury shares (which shall have the meaning
ascribed to it under the Listing Rules from time to
time), and to make or grant offers, agreements and
options (including bonds, warrants, debentures, notes
and any securities which carry rights to subscribe for
or are convertible into shares of the Company) which
would or might require the exercise of such power(s)
during or after the end of the Relevant Period, be and
is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;
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(c)

the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise
the directors of the Company during the Relevant
Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options (including bonds, warrants, debentures, notes
and any securities which carry rights to subscribe for
or are convertible into shares of the Company) which
would or might require the exercise of such power
after the end of the Relevant Period,;

the aggregate number of shares allotted, issued
and dealt with, including shares transferred out of
treasury, or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted, issued and dealt with or transferred
out of treasury (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) by the directors of the Company pursuant
to the approval in paragraph (a) above, otherwise
than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as defined in
paragraph (d) of this resolution); (ii) the exercise of
any rights of subscription or conversion under any
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and any securities
of the Company which carry rights to subscribe for
or are convertible into shares of the Company; (iii)
an issue (or a transfer out of treasury) of shares of
the Company upon the exercise of the subscription
rights attaching to any options granted under any
share option scheme adopted by the Company; (iv)
an issue (or a transfer out of treasury) of shares as
scrip dividends or similar arrangement providing for
the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or part of
a dividend on shares of the Company in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company from
time to time; or (v) specific authority granted by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting, shall
not exceed 20% of the aggregate number of issued
shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if
any) as at the date of passing of this resolution, and
the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
KRRBFERGES

(d)

for the purpose of this resolution,

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing

of this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the articles of association of the
Company or the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to be held; or

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this
resolution is revoked, renewed or varied by an
ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the

Company in general meeting; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares open for
a period fixed by the directors of the Company to
the holders of shares or any class of shares of the
Company whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on a fixed record date
in proportion to their then holdings of such shares
as at that date (subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the directors of the Company
may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements or having regard to any
restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the
requirements of any recognised regulatory body or
any stock exchange in, any territory applicable to the
Company).”

(d)
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“THAT conditional upon Ordinary Resolutions Nos. 6 8. T(ENEFAATEEMHEFEOR7E B
and 7 set out in the notice convening this meeting being TiEREEEFEAR  BAEAT §
passed, the general mandate granted to the directors of EFERTFAIARGTESHAHRE g
the Company to exercise the powers of the Company to FVTEHBBERBRIITERLABE B3
allot, issue and deal with additional shares, including any HUAEREE ~ BITHEE RG> 81F ;
sale and transfer of shares out of treasury, pursuant to ERIHEREREFRMND Z—KIT E
Ordinary Resolution No. 7 set out in the notice convening > EHE ESMMEEREABIRE '6
this meeting be and is hereby extended by the addition ERKGBEMEAFEZERER E
thereto of an amount representing the aggregate number BF2ZEETREARARZRMDE ;
of shares of the Company bought back by the Company Bzl EzERBRAHE#BAE §
under the authority granted pursuant to Ordinary BEXAARRAREZRBBERD E
Resolution No. 6 set out in the notice convening this BTRMEH (FEEEEFRMD W
meeting, provided that such extended amount of shares B)2Z210% ° | 5
so bought back shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate g
number of issued shares of the Company (excluding ﬁ
treasury shares, if any) as at the date of passing of this E
resolution.”
To transact any other business. 9. RIEHMZEIF-

By Order of the Board AEFGm

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited BRIEEARAR

Liu Lit Chi EIE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITHARE

Hong Kong, 8 April 2025 &8> _E”_RHFMANH
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
KRRBFERGES

Notes:

1 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM is entitled to
appoint another person as his proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A member who is the
holder of two or more shares may appoint more than one proxy to attend on the same
occasion. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. To be valid, a form of proxy, together with any power of attorney or other authority (if
any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy thereof, must be lodged with the
Company’s Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not less than 48
hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

& Record dates of entitlements of the members:

(a) For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote
at the 2025 AGM to be held on Thursday, 22 May 2025, whose name should be
recorded in the Company’s shareholders book on Thursday, 22 May 2025. The
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 19 May 2025
to Thursday, 22 May 2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the 2025 AGM, all share certificates with completed transfer forms
either overleaf or separately must be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16 May 2025.

(b) For the purpose of determining shareholders who qualify for the 2024 Final
Dividend, whose name should be recorded in the Company’s shareholders book on
Friday, 30 May 2025. The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 28 May 2025 to Friday, 30 May 2025, both days inclusive. In order to
qualify for the final dividend, all share certificates with completed transfer forms
either overleaf or separately must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 27 May 2025.

4. The registration for attending the above meeting will start at 10:30 a.m. on Thursday, 22
May 2025.

5. The Chinese translation of this notice is for reference only, and in case of any inconsistency,
the English version shall prevail.

6. If a Typhoon Signal No. 8 or above is hoisted or a Black Rainstorm Warning Signal is in
force at or at any time after 8:00 a.m. on the date of the meeting, the meeting will be
postponed or adjourned. The Company will post an announcement on the Company website
(www.Ichi.com.hk) and HKEXnews website (www.hkexnews.hk) to notify shareholders of
the date, time and place of the rescheduled meeting.

The meeting will be held as scheduled when an Amber or a Red Rainstorm Warning Signal is
in force. Shareholders should decide on their own whether they would attend the meeting
under bad weather condition bearing in mind their own situations.

~

Acircular containing further information on the proposals regarding the (i) re-election of the
directors of the Company and (i) general mandates for the buy back and issue of shares of
the Company for the Annual General Meeting will be sent to shareholders today along with
the Company’s 2024 Annual Report.

As at the date hereof, the Board of Directors of the Company comprises Executive Directors: Mr.
Liu Lit Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Liu Kam Fai Winston (Vice Chairman), Mr.
Lee Wai Hung, Mr. Liu Kwun Bo Darryl, Mr. Liu Chak Hung Adrian and Mr. Liu Kwun Hung Tiger;
Non-executive Director: Mr. Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher; and Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. The Hon. Cheng Mo Chi Moses, Mr. Au Kam Yuen Arthur, Dr. Ma Hung Ming John, Mr. Cheng
Yuk Wo, Mr. Tong Tsun Sum Eric and Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana.
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+E=1+ D RIRETER

5. ZABENIXMAZEERSEZ > NEEMES #
DX R A % o

6. FERER LT \BRzBEMERER NSRS
NEREGERNAECRRESEREN 22L
ERRTIKREEEBETES  AQRARRER
548 1k (www.Ichi.comhk) R BB R B iR E 5 B b
(www.hkexnews.hk) L&A » BHIRREHZHH
2EAH  RERME -

ERBYACRRESERENSAR  eER NS
Eﬁﬁﬁ"%%iﬁlﬁiﬁ REEFREESERBT

ERBHESE -

7. HAWR)ERARRERR()AHEBERETRA
ARGz -REREZRBERZNER > BRSX
BRAAR _E_NEFR—HEXFRRE

REABSRE > AABZEFTREAENTES | BIIES
t (ERRTHERH)  BeELE GIER)  FRELE B
BREL  EEHELREERTLE ) FHTES  FRRL
£ REIFATES  BRERL  BRIFLE  BBHE
T BHNLE BERRERERT R



MARKET PRICE MOVEMENT AND MARKET CAPITALIZATION CHART
TEEBRTEEE

e Closing Price Share &K1 8
Last Trading Closing Price per Share Market C%%tallzatlon M%Ch@?fggimgjg . 2
Date of Each Month sRIkHE . et )
SABETEA (HKS %) (HK$ in million >
= AEEER) m
g 2
31/1/2023 7.33 2,775 ;
>
28/2/2023 7.47 2714 m
(0]
=
31/3/2023 6.52 2468 6 5
()
28/4/2023 6.38 2415 %
bl
31/5/2023 583 2,207 §
4 o)
30/6/2023 6.00 2,272 f
1
31/7/2023 6.17 2,336 =
e
31/8/2023 5.79 2192 -~
2
29/9/2023 5.38 2037 S EHEHMEEEEE
T H MM HHMHMHRBEE
31/10/2023 5.34 2022 SESESESESEN VNS
e e = g e =) = &
30/11/2023 527 1,995 o —HE B B BN B BN RS B
29/12/2023 540 2044 Market Capitalization T {&
' ’ March 2023 to December 2024
“E-=E=AE-SMELA
31/1/2024 503 1,904 HKS nbilon B ER7E
3,000
29/2/2024 498 1,885
28/3/2024 482 1,825
2,500
30/4/2024 463 1753
31/5/2024 450 1,704 2000
28/6/2024 461 1,745
31/7/2024 444 1,681 1,500
30/8/2024 402 1,522
1,000
30/9/2024 429 1,624 161
U2}
31/10/2024 416 1575 SN EHEBHEEHEHEHAE =
500 SH ECHCSHEH-E-N:H - i
™ [se} ™ [} < < < < s
29/11/2024 401 1518 AT HEHEHEHEHE -
2 EHE AN EEHEE 4
31/12/2024 406 1537 M EHEEEBEEE -
I
L]

NOTE: Closing price (HK$) are extracted from the web site of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. (Stock code: 00194)

Wiz BrRHEDEEEARARZMERARMNE - (RMAR 1 00194)

L EHSO
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LIU CHONG HING GROUP SIMPLIFIED CORPORATE STRUCTURE CHART

PR EEEBEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z -2 -NF+-HA=+—HIFE

ALBA HOLDINGS LIMITED OTHER INVESTORS

*LIU CHONG HING
INVESTMENT LIMITED

*ERIREERRAR

Property Property Trading &
Development Management Manufacturing

AL B B NEERE mgEE HERME

Property Investment Overseas Investment

o Liu Chong Hing Maanshan Gaoke
Chong Hing R Lor:::szarratt e e Property Management Magnetic Material

Bank Center RERH ._ & Agency Limited Company Limited
= REIHZ i .
BIRSRITHRD Barratt House 5 %iggﬁ%% .%Hmﬁ.al;x;g&%]ﬁﬁﬁ

100% 100% 90% 100% 51.5%

Guangzhou Wealth
Elegance Garden Good Property
Foshan Sanshui Management
e Company Limited
S &
BamRBL (ﬁﬁzzg;) BN
MEEERFRAT

Japan Logistic

The Rockpool Centres

B

100% 50% 90% 100%

Australia Brisbane
Office Building
RN R T EEN A KiE

Fairview Court
=2M

100% 15%

Australia Sydney
Office Building

BRI AKE

Chong Hing Square
RIEES

100% 12.5%

181-183
Connaught Road West

FEiEF181-1835%

Italy
Logistic Centres

BAFRRL

100% 25%

Chong Hing Finance
Center Shanghai

LigaRER PO

100%

*Listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited * & B A X B BER AR LH

Hotel Business

Kimpton Kitalay
Samui

(Thailand %)

100%



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP & B FXFE¥ XK

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E_F_WF+_F=+—HILEE

Interest in
the property Approximate Total gross
attributable site area floor area
Description to the Group (sq.ft.) (sq. ft.) Existing use
HEEREGEZ W‘Jithﬁﬁf‘ BREIEEEA
it FUES 474 (FHR) (FAR) REAE

Investment properties
Hong Kong:

1. Chong Hing Bank Centre 100% 7,100 110,000 0
24 Des Voeux Road Central
BIERITHL
EEET 245

2. The Rockpool 100% 32,400 42,000 C/P
402-404 Des Voeux Road West
B
EHIEFE 402-404 57
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3. Fairview Court 100% 30,000 26,000 R/P
94 Repulse Bay Road
”—“g%ﬁ
RIKEIE 945

4. 181-183 Connaught Road West 100% 10,800 184,000 H
FiiErE 181-1835%

5. The Westwood 10% - 221,900 C/P
8 Belcher’s Street
B
BEREHSE
Kowloon and New Territories:

NEERHMIR .

6. ChongHing Square 100% 12,300 182,000 C
601 Nathan Road, Mongkok
Bl EER
W A TR 2E 6015

7. Bonsun Industrial Building 100% 18,000 8,200 |/P
364-366 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan
%%I%tf”
EIRDIEIE 364-366 5%

8. Chatham Place 10% = 61,000 C/P
388 Chatham Road North, Hung Hom
FwE5
ATHE R R 1B 16 388 5%

BEHSE-&= | E@ﬂﬂ%%@ﬂﬁ%%g
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP & B FXE¥ XK

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_NFE+_F=+—HILEE

Interest in

the property

attributable

Description to the Group
FEEEGZ

it M

Approximate
site area
(sq.ft.)
B R iR
(FHR)

Total gross
floor area
(sq. ft.)
EREIEEEA
(FHR)

Existing use

bl

Investment properties
People’s Republic of China:
HhEARLME

9. Chong Hing Finance Center 100%
No. 288 Nanjing Road West
Huang Pu District
Shanghai
BIEEFPO
L&
BHE
RRAAH 28857

55,000

103,000
413,000
180,000

696,000

10.The Grand Riviera 90%
West of Luocun
Luocun Social Management Office
Shishan Town
Nanhai District
Foshan
BN TER
Ll
BEE
MUBERNHEEERE
AR EL

160,000
73,000

w

233,000

11.Elegance Garden 90%
Plot No.2, Nan Ce, Jianshe Dadao
Xinan Jiedao, Sanshui Qu
Foshan
EHRE
HLUm=KE
FmEiE R ABREAMIR

362,300

16,000

United Kingdom:
]

12.Barratt House 100%
341-349 Oxford Street
London W1C
Barratt House
341-349 421
fABW1C

8,244
7,956

o O

16,200




For the year ended 31 December 2024 E_F_WF+_F=+—HILEE

Interest in
the property Approximate Total gross
attributable site area floor area
Description to the Group (sq.ft.) (sq. ft.) Existing use
FEAEGZ &R ER BREIEEEA
it b/ES 47 (FHR) (FAR) REAE

Hotel land and building
BETHRIEF

Thailand:
el

13.Kimpton Kitalay Samui 100% 318,000 230,000 H
10/79 Moo 5, Bophut, Koh Samui,
Surat Thani 84320, Thailand
10/79 Moo 5, Bophut, #1185,
Surat Thani 84320, &[]
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Investment properties (Joint Ventures)
RENE (FELF)
Japan:

A%

14.Higashi Matsuyama Logistics Centre 50% 102,800 193,600 L
296-1,294-1,301-2,301-1,300-1,
299-1,302-1,295-1,
Oaza Shingo, Higashi Matsuyama-shi,
Saitama Prefecture
RIRLAPRAD
1% K B4R LT Oaza Shingo,
296-1,294-1,301-2,301-1, 300-1,
299-1,302-1,295-1

15.Kakegawa Logistics Centre 50% 425,600 456,000 L
102, Shobugaike, Kakewawa-shi,
Shizuoka Prefecture
B4R
EFRIBAH 11T Shobugaike 102 5%

16.Hadano Logistics Centre 50% 53,700 104,000 L
548-1, Aza Haihata, Soya, Hadano-Shi,
Kanagawa Prefecture
RFMRBDO
#2311 84 =% Soya, Aza Haihata, 548-1

753,600

BEHSE-&= | E@ﬂﬂ%%@ﬂﬁ%?ﬂg
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP & B FXE¥ XK

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_NFE+_F=+—HILEE

Interest in

the property Approximate Total gross
attributable sitearea floor area
Description to the Group (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) Existing use
TEEEEZ BB EE MRFEEERE
1Bt L/ES 5 (FAR) (FEAHR) RRRE
Investment properties (Joint Ventures)
REY# (RELE)
Australia:
B
17.310 Ann Street, Brisbane QLD 4000, Australia 15% 24,000 196,400 0]
310 Ann Street, % 2 &73 QLD 4000, 2N 1,200 C
18.309 & 321 Kent Street, Sydney, NSW, Australia 12.5% 60,000 493,300 0]
309 & 321 Kent Street, [, JEM 14,500 C
705,400
Italy:
BAF .
19. Viadell'Artigianato 12, 25% 304,295 134,786 L
Carugate, Milan
*EIN% » KB
20. Via Ligabue snc, 25% 179,962 48,136 L
Campegine, Reggio Emilia
WRER » RSB X EF R
21. ViaTorricelli 49, 25% 202,749 112,612 L
Verona, Veneto
G AN
22. ViaLongare 82/A, 25% 134,710 32,356 L
Torri di Quartesolo, Vicenza
REBEHRES  #3R
23. Bologna Freight Terminal 13, 25% 47,533 45,887 L
Bentivoglio, Bologna
FEXFR  HEEE
24. Viadel Passatore 170, 25% 58,308 34,154 L
Campogalliano, Modena
YORINFIZEEE - EETEAR
25. Corso Lombardia 61, 25% 215,439 89,276 L
San Mauro Torinese, Turin
DERRENE  HE
1,142,996 497,207
C=Commercial % H=Hotel j&JE |=Industrial T P=CarPark Efii  R=Residential €  O=Office BFI&

S=Clubhouse and recreational facilities & Fff K 5 45

L=Logistics Centre ¥ Hly



SHAREHOLDERS’' INFORMATION R ®R & i

FINANCIAL CALENDAR As at 13 March 2025

MBASNKR _E_AE=A+=H

RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
ES VN LT

Interim Results
for six-month ended 30 June 2024
BE_Z_WNEAA=+HLE
NMEA Z RS

Annual Results
for year ended 31 December 2024
BHE“ZNWHF+"A=+—HLt
FEZEFE£E

Announced on 8 August 2024

ERZZE_MFENANBAM

Announced on 13 March 2025

ENRE_RFE=B+=H2f

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
RRERAE

Annual General Meeting

RRBERE

Latest time to lodge transfer forms

ERRBR X REHAR

Closure of Register of Members
(for purpose of ascertaining entitlements
to attend and vote at the 2025 Annual
General Meeting)
LIEHHER (DB R B FE
(REEHLUE_ZS"HEF
BRRBERGRIEE)

To be held on 22 May 2025
BRIBEZRFERB -+ ZHE17

4:30 pm on 16 May 2025
—ECRFHEAHSHTFOE=1S

From 19 May 2025 to 22 May 2025
(both days inclusive)

—EBE_AFRATABEE_AFHRA—+_H

(BEMXEEER)

CASH DIVIDENDS
RERS

Interim cash dividend

FHEERE

Paid on

X{TEHA

Proposed final cash dividend

BIRKRIRERE

Payable on

XITEHE

Ex-dividend date of final dividend
REARR EREH

Latest time to lodge transfer forms

BB P X =B HAR

Closure of Register of Members
(for purpose of ascertaining
entitlements to receive
the final dividend)

HiEpHER KB P B FE
(FeE B HEWBRIARE)

HK$0.11 per share
BREEO011T

13 September 2024
“EWFENAA+=H
HK$0.17 per Share
SRBEE0.17 T

6 June 2025
“ETHFNBARH
26 May 2025
“ETHRFERAT+RH
4:30 pmon 27 May 2025
—ECRFERA+EHATFER=1+S

From 28 May 2025 to 30 May 2025
(both days inclusive)

—ECRFRRA+N\BEZ_HEFHRA=T1H

(BEMXEEEAR)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION Rz ®RE

Share Registrars and transfer office Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

=
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R ERRERE

Share listing

PR SR e

Stock Code

AR 1R

Board lot

BEE(

No. of issued ordinary share
EEITEBRRHNEE
Company’s e-mail address
NE)EBE AL

Investors and Shareholders contact

REE MRS

183 Queen’s Road East Wanchai,

Hong Kong
BEPREFELHRRA
BREFERKER—/\=3

PO+ tEiE—t——FE—t—/ 5
The Company’s shares are listed on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
KABTIRENREBHERZFMERAE
BEEE

00194

00194

2,000 shares
2,000 &

378,583,440 shares
378,583,440 f%

info@Ichi.com.hk
info@lchi.com.hk

Attention: Mr. Lee Wai Hung/Ms. Hilda Chan
23rd Floor, Chong Hing Bank Centre

24 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 29837779

Fax: (852) 29837723

Website: http://www.lchi.com.hk

B FRIERE TRESE
BBEEER T OSRE ERTR O+ =18
T | (852) 29837779

f8H : (852)29837723

498  http://www.lchi.com.hk




FINANCIAL REPORT Bk &

Independent Auditor’s Report BIAZBERES
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements GEMIEIRRMIEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT %5 17 #% 84 & %

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF LIU CHONG HING
INVESTMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 176 to 288, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a material accounting policy information

and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

&

H
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=2

HERREFRRRATRRRE

(REBZMAILZBRAE)

BER

A2 ERED (AT 78 T3P )) BB 5IH
RE 176 E288 ENERIEEEBRAT
(AT TERE)) REMBAE (UT
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malEnk  GReEnkEMEERT
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BRI B R E AR B o
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AYEEMmMPSHRRTY SEER-F
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BB o

ERME®
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ESNEFBREETEREE A FRM
MBS RIEMER -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter as they represented 66% of the Group’s
total assets, combined with the judgements associated with
determining the fair value. As disclosed in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements, the investment properties are
located in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and the United Kingdom (the “UK”). The carrying amounts of
investment properties amounted to HK$9,828,109,000 as at 31
December 2024.

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value
based on the valuations performed by an independent
qualified professional valuer (“Valuer”). Details of the valuation
techniques and key inputs used in the valuations are disclosed
in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. The
valuations have been arrived at using direct comparison method
and income capitalisation method, which are dependent on
certain key inputs and assumptions in respect of prevailing
market conditions such as unit sale rate, reversion yield and

monthly market rent.

F e £ e
HREEFEEERBEZMNEEHE
BAHTRRSMBERRNEARAE
ENEH EEFHEEHFEEE
rEMBRRRH AT REETEIE
BT EHELEEREHERNER

BREMEME

EMA B EGHEARMREN SR
ThHREME BEEEBAEEG% E[F
HETATEERMNE - HNESE
M FSERRMIEE 14 FRIRE » REWEMR
BB hE N\REME AT RETEIPE)
REEH BREYER_T-_NE+_A
=+—BHWEREEAE 9,828,109,000

JT ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &I #Z Bk & =

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuer;

° Obtaining an understanding of the valuation process,
significant assumptions and critical judgement of the
Valuer to assess if the adopted approaches are consistent

with relevant accounting requirements and industry norms;

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation models
used based on our knowledge of the property markets in
Hong Kong, the PRC and the UK; and

e Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs, including
unit sale rate, reversion yield and monthly market rent by
comparing them against market data and entity-specific
information such as rental income and tenancy summary,
on a sample basis.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE

CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &I #Z Bk & =

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Tan Wei Ming.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

13 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_NF+_F=+—HILEE

AREEm R

2024 2023
—EomE “E-=
NOTES HK$'000 HK$000
fizE AT BT

Revenue s 5

Contracts with customers RREY 551,921 378,057

Rental income AEWA 302,363 302,062

Interest and dividend income FERREWA 78,745 52,192

933,029 732,311
Direct costs BEME (437,430) (874,804)
495,599 (142,493)

Other income HtuA 8,251 13,914
Administrative and operating expenses THREERS (381,822) (332,745)
Other gains and losses Hit s K548 7 (749,654) (307,232)
Finance costs B 8 (191,794) (138,495)
Share of results of joint ventures FiteEhEEE (46,234) 22,095
Loss before tax PRI 1R (865,654) (884,956)
Income tax credit FRigiKse 9 25,296 11,869
Loss for the year KEEEIE 10 (840,358) (873,087)
Loss for the year attributable to: rEEHBEAER

Owners of the Company KAFRR (837,056) (814,937)

Non-controlling interests FEERR AR SR (3,302) (58,150)

(840,358) (873,087)

Basic loss per share SRENEBE 13 HK$ &8 (2.21) HK$#HEHE(2.15)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #GieéfEmkEMEEKRE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E_F_NFE+_F=+—HILEE %
2024 2023 :Z:
—EomE ZEI=E >
HK$'000 HK$000 =
il BT m
Loss for the year AEEHE (840,358) (873087) [
Other comprehensive expense H2ESH §
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: reEH S EEERRZER &
Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments AT EEAHMEEREZ L
at fair value through other comprehensive income EanTAEATEBERE
(“FVTOCI") (14,532) (3,364)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HEr BN EEBER
to profit or loss: 2R
Exchange differences arising on translation REBIEFRELZERZLE
of foreign operations (98,731) (61,547)
Share of other comprehensive expense FrtaEtEEMEESH
of joint ventures (7,346) (46)
Other comprehensive expense for the year (netof tax) AEEBHMEZELH (FR%E) (120,609) (64,957)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEREY HELE (960,967) (938,044)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to: SENHBEIER
Owners of the Company KNATIRER (954,263) (877,544)
Non-controlling interests R RS (6,704) (60,500)
(960,967) (938,044)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat 31 December 2024 R —_Z_ME+_A=+—H

A MBIRRER

1177 N |

2024 2023
—EomE “E-=
NOTES HK$'000 HK$000
fizE AT BT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment properties BB 14 9,828,109 9,611,370
Property, plant and equipment M BEREE 15 653,163 1,762,836
Right-of-use assets FRESE 16 6,405 1,769
Interests in joint ventures e EER 18 534,545 635,080
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATEESARMZEREZZ
BEETR 19 234,525 272,456
Other receivables HinpEaR=R 21 27,236 -
Deferred tax assets RIERMIBEE 27 29,034 20,809
11,313,017 12,304,320
Current assets REEE
Properties under development for sale FHERERME 17 462,177 865,772
Properties held for sale FHEYE 17 644,947 409,861
Inventories PR 20 33,702 32,418
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEWER 21 194,098 168,554
Financial assets at fair value through BATEBESTAERZ
profit or loss (‘FVTPL) SHEE 19 15,065 14,732
Derivatives financial instruments THEEmIA 2,001 -
Fixed bank deposits with more than three BEAZER%RIHZ
months to maturity when raised TEHRITER 22 192,296 45,085
Cash and cash equivalents RTETRAE 22 2,034,271 1,156,972
3,578,557 2,693,394
Current liabilities mEnafE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMIRER 23 442,744 439,684
Lease liabilities HE&E 24 5,561 1,122
Contract liabilities BHNEFE 25 50,820 2,235
Borrowings — due within one year B — R—ERTIE 26 1,225,123 1,774,569
Taxation payable FEFIR TR 137,868 138,425
1,862,116 2,356,035
Net current assets TEEEFE 1,716,441 337,359
Total assets less current liabilities mEERTBaR 13,029,458 12,641,679
Non-current liabilities E[37 )=
Other payables HAFE(TIRR 23 95,153 109,890
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 1,007 731
Borrowings — due after one year ER— R—EREIH 26 2,136,444 628,783
Deferred tax liabilities REIERIBEE 27 259,240 297,691
2,491,844 1,037,095
10,537,614 11,604,584




2024 2023
ZEME “EC=E
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
Bzt BRTR BT
Equity 2

Share capital 2% 28 381,535 381,535
Reserves 1 10,124,989 11,185,255

Equity attributable to: IR B
Owners of the Company EREKRE 10,506,524 11,566,790
Non-controlling interests JEE IR RS 31,090 37,794
Total equity ReRE4aEE 10,537,614 11,604,584

The consolidated financial statements on pages 176 to 288 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
13 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

MR. LIULIT CHI
CHAIRMAN
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
FERITHAER

HNFE 1762288 B 7 iZ 5 HEHRRE
A _E_RFE-RA+=—HESEZHHE
BT WA TIHIATRARESE :

MR. CHENG YUK WO
WEFMEE
CHAIRMAN OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE
BEREREEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #e#m &8 K

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_NF+_F=+—HILEE

At 1 January 2024 RZE-N&E—B—H
Loss for the year FEEFE

Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations

BATEESAHMEENG 2 #aTRAATEESRE
MEBINEBRELZEREE

Share of other comprehensive expense of joint ventures FrtEEtEHM2ES T
Other comprehensive expense for the year FFEEHMZESZ S
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERES B

Transferred from accumulated profits to statutory surplus reserve
Investment revaluation reserve reclassified to accumulated profits upon

redemption of perpetual capital securities at FVTOCI (note 19)
Dividends recognised as distribution (note 12)

HRBENEEEERINHE

BRATEEARMEENG 2 BRABAEFENIEE
a2 REBHEHE (EE19)

EREDADKZRE (i 12)

At 31 December 2024

RZE_NE+_"B=+—H




=
4
2
Attributable to owners of the Company o
BATRRMEL E
Property Investment Statutory Non- %
Share Special revaluation revaluation Exchange surplus Accumulated controlling :_°u|
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total =
MEEM RESE( EERER JEER o
2.3 A 1] 1] ERGHE 1] RREEf st R 4kt &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 o
BETT BT BT BT BT BB BT BT BT BT
(note a) (note b) (notec)
((GED) (MzEDb) (B

381,535 (23,763) 2,956,817 (9,022) 9,949 90,012 8,161,262 11,566,790 37,794 11,604,584

= = = = = - (837,056)  (837,056) (3,302)  (840,358)

= = = (14,532) = = = (14,532) = (14,532)
= = = = (95,329) = = (95,329) (3,402) (98,731)
= = = = (7,346) = = (7,346) = (7,346)

: - - (14532)  (102,675) -

(117,207) (3,402)  (120,609)

s s - (14532 (102,675) - (837,056)  (954,263)  (6,704)  (960,967)
s s s g - 366 (366) s : -
s s s 59 - s (59) s s -
s s s £ - - (106003  (106,003) - (106,003)

381,535 (23,763) 2,956,817 (23,495) (92,726) 90,378 7,217,778 10,506,524 31,090 10,537,614
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #e#m &8 K

At 1 January 2023 RZE_=%—HF—H
Loss for the year FEERE

Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations

BRATEESAHMEENG 2 #a TRAATEESR
MEBINEBRELZEREE

Share of other comprehensive expense of joint ventures FrtaEtEHM2ES
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEEHMZESZ S
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERES B

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary
Transferred from accumulated profits to statutory surplus reserve
Dividends recognised as distribution (note 12)

W — PR I 2 B B BB SME 2
HRBENEEEE R
EREDADKZRE (5 12)

At 31 December 2023

RZE_=5+"BA=+—H




Attributable to owners of the Company

AATIRRENS

Property Investment Statutory Non-

Share Special revaluation revaluation Exchange surplus Accumulated controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

MEELE RESM EERER El22
B Fk{ 51 i ERkHE & B3yl st RE#ED &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BETT BETT BETT BETT BT BETT BETT BETT

(note a) (note b) (notec)
(Mizta) (PiEED) (k)
381,535 13915 2,956,817 (5,658) 69,192 89,639 9,093,933 12,599,373 60,616 12,659,989
- - - - - - (814,937)  (814,937) (58,150)  (873,087)
- - - (3,364) - - - (3,364) - (3,364)
- - - - (59,197) - - (59,197) (2,350) (61,547)
- - - - (46) - - (46) - (46)
- - - (3,364) (59,243) - - (62,607) (2,350) (64,957)
- - - (3,364) (59,243) - (814,937)  (877,544) (60,500)  (938,044)
- (37,678) - - - - - (37,678) 37,678 -
. . - - . 373 (373) - - .
- - - - - - (117,361)  (117,361) - (117,361)
381,535 (23,763) 2,956,817 (9,022) 9,949 90,012 8,161,262 11,566,790 37,794 11,604,584
notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Bt
(a)

(b)
(c)

Special reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid and the carrying values of the underlying assets and liabilities attributable to the
additional interest in a subsidiary acquired during the years ended 31 December 2004, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2023.

Property revaluation reserve represents the reserve arising from valuation of properties under property, plant and equipment upon transfer to investment
properties in previous years.

The statutory surplus reserve (“SSR”) is an appropriation from accumulated profits by subsidiaries of the Company in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”).
In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax to the SSR until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of that subsidiary. The SSR may be converted to increase capital subject to certain restrictions set out in the
Company Law of the PRC.

RAREEIEEAREE_SENE+_A=+—0 2+ A=+—-HBR-F_ZE+_A=+—HIEERNBABMX IR ERREZK
BAREIMER 2 ERIEERAEREEZES

NEELRBEENTEERNE  BERRBETZNFERARENERMESE 2Hf o

EEBBRHERUAARDNTERBADNRRET BN  REPEARE  ARFNPEREARELE BN 10%REEHNERE LT RGHRE B
EZREEDNZMBAREMELN50%A1E - REFEAREELERHT  ZEBRFHETEAMEGERK o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #&Z&8R&mR=x
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_NF+_F=+—HILEE
2024 2023
ZECmE ZEC=
HK$'000 HK$000
BRTR BETT
Operating Activities REEY
Loss before tax PRI ISR (865,654) (884,956)
Adjustments for: HE
Loss on transfer from property, plant and equipment B EMELNE « BERBHEEA
and changes in fair value of investment properties RATEEEHEE 718,148 297478
Loss on changes in fair value of financial assets at BATEBESAEGZEHEE
FVTPL ATEEEDER 2,298 4,134
Gain on changes in fair value of derivative financial TESRTEATFEEEZSNEG
instruments (2,001) -
Dividend income from investments RERSKA (336) (13,128)
Interest income FISIA (78,409) (39,064)
(Reversal of) impairment loss recognised inrespect of &K&W 7 FiEEE (E[a])
properties held for sale = (2,086) 53,425
(Reversal of) impairment loss recognised inrespectof ~ FHEZRRERYE 7 BEESE
properties under development (E8[o]) FERR (102,961) 545267
Share of results of joint ventures b EEEEE 46,234 (22,095)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3~ BERFRHEITE 99,241 102,016
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEBERE 4,846 2,639
Finance costs B s 191,794 138,495
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE  BERZEHE 296 3,456
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBARSE 446 -
Operating cash flows before movements RTEERE BB KERERE
in working capital 11,856 187,667
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 REMERERZIEm (55,894) (18,718)
Decrease in properties held for sale FHEMEZ R 297,072 41,011
Increase in properties under development for sale FHEZERYE ZEM (50,026) (69,587)
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE2Z (Em) &b (1,947) 157
Decrease in trade and other payables BEREMEMRRZAD (2,409) (5,186)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities BHEEZIEM GRL) 47,427 (6,046)
Cash from operations RELBAERE 246,079 129,298
Income tax paid BIFER (16,981) (12,367)
Dividend received from investments BKIRERE 336 13,128
Interest received EIFIE 78,409 39,064
Net cash from operating activities RETHREZRAEIE 307,843 169,123




z
5
2024 2023 =
—EomE ZEI=E >
NOTE HK$'000 HK$000 =
pit AR R il ?
Investing Activities BEEE ’_o".
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments ~ HERAFEEEAEMEZEKE =
at FVTOC| ZRHIA 23459 - M
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRE (16,702) (42,295) I
Advance to a joint venture BERNEEEE - (61,375)
Repayments from joint ventures BEREEM 43,321 15,888
Dividend received from joint ventures REEREREZRE 3,634 3718
Net cash outflows on acquisition of subsidiaries WEEHIB AR ZH &AL P4 34 - (425,286)
Addition of investment properties LB (10,021) (19,348)
Proceeds from disposal of investment property &R EYEFRETIE 24,171 4181
Placement of fixed bank deposits withmore ~ FA={ER%EZIHZ
than three months to maturity when raised TEHRITER (192,296) (45,085)
Release of fixed bank deposits with more than I =ER%ZIHZ
three months to maturity when raised EHIRTER 45,085 37,176
Net cash used in investing activities BETEFEZIRE 35 (79,349) (532,426)
Financing Activities REEE
New borrowings raised HEEER 2,114,011 499,922
Repayments of borrowings BRER (1,153,900) (308,142)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHESR (4,765) (2,750)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE (444) (67)
Dividends paid BRRE (106,003) (117,361)
Interest paid on borrowings BAERFE (192,636) (133,744)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities ~ FYE;EENFR1S (R ) 238 656,263 (62,142)
Net increase (decrease) in cash RERFEEEEREM GRL)
and cash equivalents REE 884,757 (425,445)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January —B—-HZBeRBE$%EER 1,156,972 1,596,788
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SMERREEEIFE (7,458) (14,371)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December +Z-B=+—HZHERk
RE&E%EER 2,034,271 1,156,972
Represented by: Bp:
Bank balances and cash RITERRAE 2,034,271 1,156,972
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_NF+_F=+—HILEE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
Corporate Information section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company are property investment
and investment holding. The principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries and joint ventures are shown in notes 40 and 18,
respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE MANDATORILY
EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT YEAR
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA?”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to Hong Kong  Classification of Liabilities as

Accounting Standard Current or Non-current and

(“HKAS”) 1 related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

AR e SRR MY 5
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. FERAMITIREEITIEBMBRSE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS #R (48)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs INISSUEBUTNOT EBlEHERARERZHITIREEIE
YET EFFECTIVE BMBHREEN
The Group has not early applied the following new and ZN&EE T KIZFTIRABU T SEHEEE X
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet £ Z T REIETE BIATERE A ¢
effective:
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Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification FEPFRESERANFEIE SRHTEHHEHR

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial RETIEST AR HEZETS
Instruments?®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets ERMBREENE 105 REELEHKSED
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its REBGHENF 285  SECEZEW
Associate or Joint Venture! T4 BEEHEFRAL
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS  FBH iSRS %E| EBMEREER
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards — SEEREETA B ERFENRE
Volume 113 -F11E°
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? EBGHENE 2158 HhZ A R 2
(CHEN
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in ERMEREEANE 18 HERRIIRMKLE
Financial Statements*
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 1 HiEEEZ ATz ARz EEEMAEN -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 RIEZHE—B—BHZBRRZFEHREER
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. 8 NIEZ R E—B—Hz BRIz EEHREN
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. 4 RIZZtE—B—BHzBRRZFEREER

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned [ TFNXFrEHXEBMFERESEN (85T
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the Z4%}h> KATIEETER > RS EME
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no $R&EZBIMNEGETIAEARAENAITER
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the KRB AFSAFERRIERFMEAZE o
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE IN

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,

which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures

in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of

Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,

while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,

introduces new requirements to present specified categories

and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share

are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of the
new standard is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial
statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the

purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

3.2

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test
is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Asset acquisitions (Continued)

3.2

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values,
the remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to
the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction
does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous

consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

3.2

venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in

the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

3.2

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in notes 5 and 25.

Lease

Definition of a lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the
contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As
a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate
are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income when they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s

ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new

lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

3.2

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in joint ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

3.2

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

3.2

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwiill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

3.2

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing

transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use

assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than freehold land as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold land is not depreciated and is measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent
the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
decrease in the carrying amount of that item at the date of
transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than freehold land less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

3.2

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-

3.2

use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-

3.2

use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group
of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

AR e SRR MY 5

3. BUNREMBBEREERTIES
st R (48)

3.2 EXEHHREN (&)

ME - -BERIRFEREBETENH
& (&)

HWEBEE (RREELEN) 2TREE
BRMEF T DR HEREE > BIREE (HR
TELEM) ZREEHRERTKEE
B HRNARERE—BNER LD
MREELBUMNGCREENCEEE
W—&9 > ~EELEBR—EREELE
URREEE > SFEXEEHBIN
FREEENEAZEREEEEUNTE
EEE URZMEREELEBEMNTI
EE2E - EDERERKE » BERSK
REEUHREELEMEFTESEREE
RURREEIR LA D EC - EERREET
FEREQATFEERERER A (M5t
2) - £AEE (WTURE) NTHHNRS
B xELPEEEENHEBIRSTRE
EEf DB EEMUNREEEBUHEANE
thEE o BERERIR IR ST o

EREGRERERD  Z8E (HREE
TEUN—EREELEEN) ZREEE
EHAIWEIEER 2 EKIESTLEHE » 24T
ENgZEEEFSBBREZEE (X
REELBUN—EREELEM) NA
FTEETERERHAESEREEEZIK
HE - BEBRZELZEARRER
BRFESY ©



3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

3.2

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Properties under development for sale/properties for sale

Properties under development for sale which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development and properties for
sale are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold
land element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development for sale/properties for sale are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
a specific identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the

Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Properties under development for sale/properties for sale

(Continued)

Properties under development for sale are transferred to

properties for sale upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
property when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale
in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

3.2

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which is derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

3.2

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

e oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost and receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(ii)  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and
are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

(iif)
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured

at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line

item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.2

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“‘ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables, loans advanced to joint ventures, fixed bank
deposits with more than three months to maturity when raised
and bank balances) and lease receivables which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.2

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,

the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.2

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk before the amount becomes past due.
(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.2

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events

Credit-impaired financial assets

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a)
(b)
(c)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d)

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
(iv)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information

Write-off policy

indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.2

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances
or credit-impaired which are assessed individually, lifetime
ECL for remaining debtors are considered on a collective
basis taking into consideration of grouping of internal credit
rating by reference to past due information and relevant
credit information, and forward-looking macroeconomic
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or

loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying

amount, with the exception of trade receivables where

the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated

in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and

translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.

Specifically:

For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “Other
gains and losses” line item (note 7) as part of the net
exchange losses;

For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument
are recognised in profit or loss in the “Other gains and
losses” line item (note 7) as part of the net exchange
losses. As the foreign currency element recognised in
profit or loss is the same as if it was measured at amortised
cost, the residual foreign currency element based on
the translation of the carrying amount (at fair value) is
recognised in other comprehensive income in the fair value

through other comprehensive income/revaluation reserve;
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
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3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3.2 EXGHEKREN (&)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) ERITA &)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (48)
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Foreign exchange gains and losses (Continued) SMEEIEEE (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are

classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance

with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.2

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each
reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are
determined based on the amortised cost of the instruments.
These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the
‘Other gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss (note 7).

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign
currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated
at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom
(the “UK”) and concluded that (a) the Group’s investment
properties in Hong Kong are not held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, (b)
the Group’s investment properties in the PRC and the UK are
held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in determining
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties in
Hong Kong, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on disposal of these investment
properties. The presumption that the carrying amounts of the
Group’s investment properties situated in the PRC and the UK
are recovered entirely through sale has been rebutted and the
deferred tax on the changes in fair value of those investment
properties is recognised according to the relevant tax rules.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 December 2024 at their fair value,
details of which are disclosed in note 14. The fair value of
the investment properties was determined by reference to
valuations conducted on these properties by an independent
qualified professional valuer using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of prevailing
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the
Group'’s investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the changes in fair value reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the carrying amount of
these properties included in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties at 31 December 2024 is approximately
HK$9,828,109,000 (2023: HK$9,611,370,000).

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2024, a deferred tax asset in relation
to unused tax losses of approximately HK$253,616,000
(2023: HK$229,655,000) has been recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised on the tax losses of approximately
HK$936,384,000 (2023: HK$819,145,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future or taxable temporary differences are expected to reverse
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences, which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty. The uncertainty would depend on how the ongoing
uncertain macroeconomic environment. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are less than expected, a
material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

5. REVENUE
(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and the reconciliation of
the revenue from contracts with customers with the amounts
disclosed in the segment information is as follows:

5. W=

(i) BERFTSRANEASRE

FEEBANDITRERT RGO
BN BERFTIRE T ERAVERRINT ¢

2024

2023

—g-mE bt

HK$'000 HK$000

AT BT

Property development MEBRE 223,719 66,741

Property management MEERE 33,533 31,114

Trading and manufacturing BoRNE 89,047 82,939

Hotel operation BIELE 205,622 197,263

Revenue from contracts with customers HERAHKE 551,921 378,057

Property investment (note) MIERE (Mi3E) 302,363 302,062
Treasury investment IBRE

— Interest income —FMEIKA 78,409 39,064

— Dividend income - RERA 336 13,128

Total revenue el g 933,029 732,311

note:  Operating lease payments mainly includes base rental. Leases are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to ten years (2023: one to ten years) with monthly fixed rental.

Misk © EERNNREEEERESE  BOZHEERS
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. gz (48)
(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS (i) HEERETARMNMA DR (8)
WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_E-_NF+-A=1+—HLLFE
Property Property Property Treasury Trading and Hotel
investment development management investment  manufacturing operation Total
MERE MERE MEERE HRE ERREE HEERE fazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HETR HETR HETR HETT HEFR HETT HEFT
Property development ¥ 3E - 223719 - - - - 223719
Property management Y% &1 - - 33,533 - - - 33,533
Trading and BRRNE
manufacturing - - - - 89,047 - 89,047
Hotel operation BELE - - - - - 205622 205,622
Revenue from contracts  £1% B &AM
with customers - 223,719 33,533 - 89,047 205,622 551,921
Propertyinvestment — #J%ig 5 302,363 - - - - - 302,363
Interest income FEBA - - - 78,409 - - 78,409
Dividend income REBA - - - 336 - - 336
Segment revenue HEWE 302,363 223,719 33,533 78,745 89,047 205,622 933,029
Property Property Trading and Hotel
development management manufacturing operation Total
MEER MEEE BaRNE bl 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
Geographical markets HMEHIS
Hong Kong &H - 33,533 - 83,662 117,195
PRC H 223,719 - 89,047 567 313,333
Thailand EE = = - 121,393 121,393
Total st 223,719 33,533 89,047 205,622 551,921
Timing of revenue recognition  FEsAUN S FFRI
Apointintime % 223,719 = 89,047 51,196 363,962
Over time e = 33,533 - 154,426 187,959
Total @t 223719 33,533 89,047 205622 551,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS (i) BERZEITARNWADE (8)
WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

5. Wz (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z_=—HF+"_BA=1+—HLEE
Property Property Property Treasury Trading and Hotel
investment development management investment  manufacturing operation Total
NERE MEER NEER HEKRE BARRE GRS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETT BETR BETR BETR
Property development ¥ E - 66,741 - - - - 66,741
Property management ¥ &1 - - 31,114 - - - 31,114
Trading and B o R BiE
manufacturing - - - - 82,939 - 82,939
Hotel operation BIELE - - - - - 197263 197263
Revenue from contracts 1% B &AM
with customers - 66,741 31,114 - 82,939 197,263 378,057
Propertyinvestment  #)%1&& 302,062 - - - - - 302062
Interest income IS ON - - - 39,064 - - 39,064
Dividend income REBA - - - 13,128 - - 13,128
Segment revenue PG 302,062 66,741 31,114 52,192 82,939 197,263 732,311
Property Property Trading and Hotel
development management manufacturing operation Total
MERE MEERE B RRE TGS 4agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT BT BT BETT
Geographical markets BT
Hong Kong 58 - 31,114 - 89,187 120,301
PRC H 66,741 - 82,939 11,779 161,459
Thailand RE - - - 96,297 96,297
Total @t 66,741 31,114 82,939 197,263 378,057
Timing of revenue recognition ~ FEsRUNES A5
Apointintime % 66,741 - 82,939 35,815 185,495
Over time BEERE - 31,114 - 161,448 192,562
Total 4t 66,741 31,114 82,939 197,263 378,057




5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(i) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS AND REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES
Property development
For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer’s specifications with no alternative use.
Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
to customers. Revenue from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the completed property is
transferred to customers, being at the point that the customer
obtains the control of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and collection of the consideration
is probable.

The Group receives deposits from customers pursuant to the
payment terms of the sale and purchase agreement. Such
advance payment results in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the property construction period. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed as the contracts are for
periods of one year or less.

Property management

Revenue from property management represents charge-
out collections, which consist of payments in respect of the
operation of the properties which are payable by the tenants,
are recognised over time using output method when the
services and facilities are provided. The Group elected to apply
the practical expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to
which the Group has right to invoice, since the Group is entitled
to bill a fixed amount in advance for each month according to
the terms of the relevant lease. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(ii) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS AND REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Trading and manufacturing

For sales of magnetic products, revenue is recognised when

control of the goods has transferred to customers, being

when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific
location (delivery). Following the delivery, the customer has full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the
goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon delivery.

As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated

to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed as the contracts

are for periods of one year or less.

Hotel operation

Hotel room revenue from customers is recognised over time
using output method when the service and facilities are
provided. All the hotel operation services are for periods of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Revenue from food and beverages is recognised when the food
and beverage are delivered to the customers.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM”),
for the purposes of resources allocation or assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of goods and services
delivered or provided. During the prior year, the CODM
identified a new geographical property investment segment
located in the UK which is aggregated in property investment
segment. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segment of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

1. Property investment — investment and letting of
properties

2. Property development — development and sale of
properties

3. Property management — provision of property
management services

4. Treasury investment — dealings and investments in
securities and other financial instruments

5. Trading and manufacturing — manufacture and sale of
magnetic products

6. Hotel operation — management and operation of hotel and
food & beverage business

During the current year, the Group’s owner-occupied property
for hotel operation in Hong Kong was transferred to investment
properties upon commencement of the operating lease. The
result of the hotel operation prior to the commencement of
operating lease was included in hotel operation segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segments.

6. SEEN(E)
SEBERESR

KR DHT

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Segment revenue
Comprising:
— revenue from customers
— inter-segment transactions (note)
Operating expenses
Loss on transfer from property, plant and equipment
and changes in fair value of investment properties
Loss on changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL

BE_S-_ME+-A=+—-HIEFE

NG

BiE:

- RAlE

- EBRRS (M)

HiERY
REMENYE BERRGEBARATFEELDEHE

BRATEE ARz SHEEATEEEZYHER

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME « BERREEE

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEMRBAREE

Gain from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments ~ $74£ 4 £/ TENATBELE NS

Net exchange gains (losses) R (5518)

Segment (loss) profit 248 (5518) imF

Finance costs R

Share of results of joint ventures it aE ¥R

Loss before tax BrAIES1E

note: Inter-segment transactions are charged at prevailing market prices. MizE . EEARZERITHEKE

AR e SRR MY 5

UTARERKREZDRZAER R T



Property Property Property Treasury Trading and Hotel Segment
investment development management investment manufacturing operation total Eliminations Consolidated
MEERE MEER MEEE BERE BARHME BERE SEE 3 Ta
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETRT BETT BETT BETT BETT
304,444 223,719 48,514 78,745 89,047 205,817 950,286 (17,257) 933,029
302,363 223,719 33,533 78,745 89,047 205,622
2,081 - 14,981 - - 195
(165,522) (271,152) (34,569) (32,399) (82,312) (242,304) (828,258) 17,257 (811,001)
(718,148) - - - - - (718,148) - (718,148)
- - - (2,298) - - (2,298) - (2,298)
- - - - (88) (208) (296) - (296)
(446) - - - - - (446) - (446)
- - - 2,001 - - 2,001 - 2,001
793 (1,752) 121 (29,637) - 8 (30,467) - (30,467)
(578,879) (49,185) 14,066 16,412 6,647 (36,687) (627,626) - (627,626)
(191,794)
(46,234)
(865,654)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DHEEHE (&)
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (CONTINUED) RN RELS (8)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results WU T A SRR EF VB2 AREFRE
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by reportable segments.

KR DHT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Segment revenue
Comprising:
— revenue from customers
— inter-segment transactions (note)
Operating expenses
Loss on changes in fair value of investment properties
Loss on changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

BE-_S-=F+-_A=+—-HIEFE

NG

BiE:

- RAlE

- EBRRS (M)

HiERY

REVMELATEBEEYHEE
BATEEFABGZZ EHEEATBEEHE
HEVE BERREZEE

Net exchange gains (losses) R (5518)
Segment (loss) profit 8 (518) & H
Finance costs EUp %N

Share of results of joint ventures it aE ¥R
Loss before tax BrAIES1E
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Property Property Property Treasury Trading and Hotel Segment
investment development management investment manufacturing operation total Eliminations Consolidated
MERE MELR MEEE HHRE BRRME BELE DEEs Eafic) z&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
307,022 66,741 46,046 52,192 82,939 197,950 752,890 (20,579) 732,311
302,062 66,741 31,114 52,192 82,939 197,263
4,960 - 14,932 - - 687
(172,908) (653,389) (33,498) (33,734) (76,805) (243,880) (1,214,214 20,579 (1,193,635)
(297,478) - - - - - (297,478) - (297,478)
- - - (4,134) - - (4,134) - (4,134)
(63) (274) - - (90) (3029) (3456) - (3456)
10,903 (6,189) 78 (8,290) - 1,334 (2,164) - (2,164)
(152,524) (593,111) 12,626 6,034 6,044 (47,625) (768,556) - (768,556)
(138,495)
22,095
(884,956)
note:  Inter-segment transactions are charged at prevailing market prices. Wizt . EEARZERITHEUE o

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the %(FEDIE SHEEEKE 3FTit 2 A&
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. E& s HKFEMAR o DERF (F8) 157
Segment (loss) profit represents the loss incurred from/profit Rt AFTEEECHEEERUMFRAEZ
earned by each segment without allocation of share of results & T S EFRFEENZ &, F= 26
of joint ventures and finance costs. In addition, the Group’s 18 o b 9h » A& B Z TE AL 24s B 1% 1@ B
administrative costs are allocated to respective operating (BN EBINZIKHZENRERESEN
segments on the basis of revenue earned by individual operating %8 o ZEBE B UL DA ZA T ELS
segment. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the REFEAZR > YTAEERDERTZD
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. FARIF o

BEHSE &= | E@ﬂﬂﬁ%@ﬂﬁ%ﬁg
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

6. SEEN(E)
NEEERAR
UTARERDEZAEREERER

by reportable segments:

o

Segment assets NEEE
2024 2023
“ECmE “BCCE
HK$'000 HK$000
BETT BT
Property investment MERE 10,333,887 9,899,344
Property development MEZRE 1,436,889 1,487,817
Property management L EgE 24,450 18,540
Treasury investment RS 1,919,424 1,133876
Trading and manufacturing BARNE 119,634 115,984
Hotel operation BIERE 493,711 1,686,264
Total segment assets NEEELLE 14,327,995 14,341,825
Interests in joint ventures BECEES 534,545 635,080
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 29,034 20,809
Consolidated assets EEBE 14,891,574 14,997,714
Segment liabilities NEAaE
2024 2023
-g-mE =&
HK$'000 HK$000
BRTT BETT
Property investment MELE 217,926 225,591
Property development MR R 267,960 242,860
Property management MEEIE 2,805 2,877
Treasury investment MERE 4,529 4,986
Trading and manufacturing BoRNE 13,452 14,361
Hotel operation TBIERE 88,613 62,987
Total segment liabilities NEaGRE 595,285 553,662
Taxation payable FEfIiRTR 137,868 138,425
Borrowings EEN 3,361,567 2,403,352
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIESE 259,240 297,691
Consolidated liabilities RRaf 4,353,960 3,393,130

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to operating segments other than interests in joint ventures
and deferred tax assets. All liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than taxation payable, borrowings and deferred
tax liabilities.

AERPERBRRDERBIEER
FEECENED RIETERBEE
FREEENDEERBDE > MREM
B~ ERRIELERBEGREIN > A&
BIDEEEH I -



6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. FEEH (&)
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION HithrEEH
Property Property Property Treasury  Trading and Hotel
investment  development management investment manufacturing operation  Consolidated
MERE MERR MEER MERE BRRNE BIEEE ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT AT AT BT BT BT AETT
Amountsincludedinthe ~ BIEstENERER
measure of segment NEBEZEE .
results and segment
assets:
2024 —E-ME
Additions tonon-current  JERENE AN
assets 30,727 - 13 - 2,083 3382 36,205
Depreciation e 14,475 183 - - 3246 86,183 104,087
Loss on disposal of property, HE4 % « BiE K
plant and equipment Sz EiE - - - - 88 208 296
Loss on disposal of a HERBARSE
subsidiary 446 - - - - - 446
2023 —F_=
Additions tonon-current  JEFRENE AN
assets (note) (FtE) 457,547 224 - - 457 30,785 489,013
Depreciation e 9,404 218 148 - 3484 91401 104,655
Impairment loss recognised f5HEYE 2
inrespect of properties  JH{EEG AR
held for sale - 53,425 - - - - 53,425
Impairment loss recognised {5 & &EETYE 2
inrespect of properties  JH{EEG AR
under development for
sale - 545267 - - - - 545267
Loss on disposal of property, &4 % « BiE K
plant and equipment Bt 3t 63 274 - - 90 3,029 3,456

note:

Non-current assets exclude interests in joint ventures, financial instruments and deferred Mzt

tax assets. During the year ended 31 December 2023, included in additions to non-current
assets related to property investment operation is acquisition of investment property of

HK$425,248,000 through acquisition of a subsidiary as disclosed in note 34.

FRBEEFBESELERE B REMELR
REE-BHE_F_-F+_A=+—HLEEEH
f > MiGE34FTIRE - AMERBRMNFRGEEL
> aEEalE-—RRBARNKBERENEAR
425,248,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, other parts
of the PRC, Thailand and the UK.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue

2024

AR e SRR MY 5

6. SEEN(E)

HithpHEEH (48)

MEBFH

FEBEFUNREE FREEMME -
RE R E o

ERAERFECEIIRERZNHE
B EERFREMEZ R - AL
ERFRBEENENAREEREM
BER-

Non-current
assets (note)
JERBEE (i)

2023 2024 2023

—EBomE —ECI=E —EomE ZEC=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BB BETT
Hong Kong &5 353,608 339,524 6,859,689 7,391,202
PRC s 431,381 276,250 2,814,759 3,035,531
Thailand el 121,633 96,417 427,093 526,690
UK HE 26,407 20,120 413,372 422,552
933,029 732,311 10,514,913 11,375,975
note:  Non-current assets exclude interests in joint ventures, financial instruments and deferred Mz . IEFBEEAOFESELEET SR TAKEERIE
tax assets. BEo
Information about major customers EE § g ﬁ % #

There is no revenue from customers for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 contributing over 10%

—=F+Z ﬁ—'l'—EIJJ:EF"IEﬁﬂE

of the total operating revenue of the Group. BERZWNGEMAEBEEEWRDEE
10% o
7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hithihz KR E518
2024 2023
“ECmE —EC=E
HK$000 HK$'000
AT AT
Loss on transfer from property, plant and equipment B EMERNE « BERREBAR
and changes in fair value of investment properties N EEETHE (718,148) (297,478)
Loss on changes in fair value BATEBEFABRZEHEEQT
of financial assets at FVTPL EEEFHEE (2,298) (4,134)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME  BMERZEEE (296) (3,456)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBATGE (446) -
Gain from changes in fair value TEEMIANATEEEE KL
of derivative financial instruments 2,001 -
Net exchange losses ERFEE (30,467) (2,164)
(749,654) (307,232)




8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WMBAZE
2024 2023
ZECmE B =F
HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT
Interest on bank borrowings BRHE 189,719 136,978
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 444 67
Other interest expense Hitnfl S H 1,631 1,450
191,794 138,495
9. INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. FRifSMIER
2024 2023
ZEMmE —ZC-=
HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT
The charge (credit) comprises: T (ER) 3
Current tax: AFERE .
Hong Kong Profits Tax BETER 7,104 6,090
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) HEI R 3,368 2,610
UK Corporation Tax HEEATR 1,226 3,466
11,698 12,166
Overprovision in prior years: B FEBERE .
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEMER (12) (30)
PRCEIT hE R EFRFIR (1,343) (3,513)
(1,355) (3,543)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (‘LAT’) mE 1 g ER 6,081 3516
Deferred taxation (note 27) EERIA (fifzE 27) (41,720) (24,008)
(25,296) (11,869)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED)

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before

tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

9. FisRiER (&)
FEEZRMER B RIGS BRI
AR Z HARINT :

2024 2023

ZECmE —E-=HF

HK$'000 HK$000

AT BT

Loss before tax BRI AIESIE (865,654) (884,956)
Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% BIREK165% (ZBZ=%F 1 16.5%)

(2023: 16.5%) ABRZEBNE (142,833) (146,018)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures Pt E LB BT E 7,629 (3,646)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose ~ AEIMERZRBE 129,376 161,086
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERRBA Z R E (29,217) (25,133)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERRE (1,355) (3,543)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REDMBEEIRBETE 11,327 10,397
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised R ERREDNRBEE (1,595) (607)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences KN EREEEZ

not recognised nExe 4,170 2,009
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries AEMEARERE 2 MBAR

operating in other jurisdictions FRREZZE (7,876) (9,350)
PRCLAT FE LB ER 6,081 3516
Tax effect of PRC LAT FETHIEER 2 RETE (1,003) (580)
Tax credit for the year TEERBESR (25,296) (11,869)
notes: MisE

(a)

(c)

=

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon implementation of the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

The Group has estimated the tax provision for PRC LAT according to the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
the determination by the tax authorities upon completion of the property development
projects and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the provision for
LAT is calculated.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group commenced the procedures for
settlement of LAT for the Group’s completed residential project in Foshan, Guangdong
Province with the relevant tax authority. In determining the actual LAT liabilities with the
tax authorities, the basis on which LAT is calculated has to be revised.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, LAT liabilities of approximately HK$6,081,000
(2023: HK$3,516,000) was provided in the profit or loss for the remaining phases of the
residential project in Foshan, Guangdong Province.

The applicable UK corporation tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2024 is 25%.

() FRAFNERDA > BREENSREEMSROEHEL
GEMBRRUBREAMG - FENGRENETER
STRERIIEFIA9 16.5% 515

(b)  BHPEAREMECERERE (RERERE) RkE
EFFIEERAR > FEREARRMEEENRE
#25% °

(0  RERERZRRRNERRE  cEEERRTEL
g Es - AR IR ERENARRERENERE
EEMRTREEME  REAUEFIREEEH T
RERBHENGEEE.

HE_Z-_—F+-A=+—HER FEEEHRLE
EEERLHLUTESTNETERBERRENEL
MIEEREEFE - ERBREERLEERER
B > WBER IS ERI T EER o

HE_Z-N&E+ZA=+—HILEE BAHRE
REBLUTNETEERIMEERABEOEE
6,081,0007% (ZEZ-=4 : %3 516,0007T) °

(d BE-_E-_ME+_A=+—-ALEEERMNEEAT
REA25% °



4
10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. xFEEHE :f:
2024 2023 2
—E-mE it St A
HK$'000 HK$'000 3
BB i =
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: ~ AEEFEEATHIRIE §
Staff costs 8TIME 150,023 140,372 &
Staff retirement schemes contributions, net of B TIRREFIER > HFRRULHRR L
HK$762,000 (2023: HK$125,000) forfeited B762000T (CEZ=F .
contributions 7B 125,0007T) 4,090 4,679
Total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) STMAMEH (BEEEWS) 154,113 145,051
Auditor’s remuneration TZERETE &
— audit services — Bt IR 2,670 3,542
— non-audit services — FFEEIRE 981 3,974
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BERRBITE 99,241 102,016
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 4,846 2,639
(Reversal of) impairment loss recognised inrespect of i EME 7 B EEE
properties held for sale (included in “direct costs”) (&[o]) /3 (BIE7E TEIEME)) (2,086) 53,425
(Reversal of) impairment loss recognised inrespect of ~ fFHEREHYE 2 B EERE
properties under development for sale (included in (8[0]) R (BIEE TEEMA))
“direct costs”) (102,961) 545,267
Government grants (included in “other income”) B #RBh (I ¥E7E TELAHUTA L) - (2,428)
Selling expenses (included in “administrative HERY (B1EE MTEREERY)
and operating expenses’) 57,808 4,367
Gross rental income from investment properties BEYEATRSIA (302,363) (302,062)
Less: direct expenses of investment properties B EREEHRERAZ
that generated rental income during the year KENXERER 35,758 27,171
(266,605) (274,891)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group HEE_=F+"A=+—HLFE >

recognised government grants of approximately HK$2,428,000 HBRERAT XBEEXESHEMAE
from the local authority for the purpose of encouraging the AV 4E > <& B E S5 BRI
development of the group entity engaged in new and high #E#£24280007 - WRIMNMHEIEE L
technology sector. The grants received are in substance akind RTRHEEESEMN—BEEMFIIT > B
of immediate financial support to the group entity with no BRKRMNIEREETE > LEES S B
future related obligations and are recognised as income when HL/EB R AW A - BSLE@HEIS R A
the approval of the local authority has been obtained. There are  I{EfRIE {4 o

no other conditions attached to these grants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS # &

Bt #5 R R MY 5E

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. EF - THAHSRESHS

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2023: 12) BIHEMF IS (ZTEZ=F:123)
directors were as follows: BEZMEWT :
Other emoluments
Hithi
Performance
related
Salaries incentive Retirement
and other payment scheme Total
Fees benefits (notee) contributions emoluments
SERMN
2 )id BHE BikiEf
bk HitigF (GED) sHElfR Fel
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT AT AT AT
2024 —E-mE
Executive Directors (notea)  $1{7E % (fftsa)
Liu Lit Chi Ba 300 10,389 - 559 11,248
Liu Kam Fai Winston BEiiE 200 6,799 - 437 7,436
Lee Wai Hung TR 200 4,356 - 435 4,991
Liu Kwun Bo Darryl BEERE 79 2,918 - 239 3,236
Liu Chak Hung Adrian BEALE 79 3,009 - 236 3,324
Liu Kwun Hung Tiger BESLE 79 3,205 - 196 3,480
Non-executive Director (noteb) JEH{TESE (Hiztb)
Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher FERER 300 - - - 300
Independent Non-executive ~ BIZIEHITES (Mizkc)
Directors (note )
Cheng Mo Chi Moses HRE 300 - - - 300
AuKam Yuen Arthur &R 300 - - - 300
Ma Hung Ming John BB 300 - - - 300
Cheng Yuk Wo BREHAN 300 - - - 300
Tong Tsun Sum Eric EEH 300 - - - 300
Ngan Suk Fun Mariana (noteg) ~ B&fZS (st g) - - - - -
Total st 2,737 30,676 - 2,102 35,515




11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. EX  (THAZRESME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Other emoluments
Hitif &
Performance
related
Salaries incentive Retirement
and other payment scheme Total
Fees benefits (note e) contributions emoluments
HEREN
R $2EE piady wiEb
ng HithigF (Mizte) BEle P
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT BT AT BT
2023 —E_=
Executive Directors (note a) HITEE (Mfizta)
Liu Lit Chi BIg 300 9,850 - 559 10,709
Liu Kam Fai Winston BE{fE 200 6,194 - 418 6,812
Lee Wai Hung &M 200 4163 - 416 4779
Liu Kwun Bo Darryl BEELE - 2,051 - 162 2213
Liu Chak Hung Adrian BEERLL - 1,918 - 156 2074
Liu Kwun Hung Tiger BEERLE - 2,248 - 129 2377
Non-executive Director (noteb) JEHITEDS (fizEh)
Kho Eng Tjoan Christopher HER 300 - - - 300
Independent Non-executive ~ BIIIEHITES (Miztc)
Directors (note c)
Cheng Mo Chi Moses BRE 300 - - - 300
Au Kam Yuen Arthur &iRE 300 - - - 300
Ma Hung Ming John BB 300 - - - 300
Cheng Yuk Wo BRERAN 300 - - - 300
Tong Tsun Sum Eric EBE#X 300 - - - 300
Total st 2,500 26,424 - 1,840 30,764
notes: Fitz
(@)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection  (a) PR TESZ e EBEEBAATIRAEREH 2R
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. BAER -
(b)  The non-executive director's emoluments shown above was for his services as a director of ~ (b) FAERTESES e BREEARATSRBATDES
the Company. ZIR%BR -
(©  Theindependent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services ()  LHIBIIERTES ML BHEATANES ZRF
as directors of the Company. =1
(d) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the  (d) R AERHERIAESES LR RS TAL (B
five highest paid individuals (including directors) as an inducement to join or upon joining BF) XA EAME  (EAMARERRMAKER R
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which a ZRBIBREEE BE_S-NE+-_B=1+—HkK
director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 December TEC=E+ZA=+—HIREEE  TEEEKRE
2024 and 31 December 2023. R EZ HEM S o
(e) The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference to the individual ~ (e) BE_E_NFE+-BA=+—HR-ZEZ=F+"H
performance of the directors and approved by the remuneration committee of the Group =t+—HUImMEEERRREHE 2 REIRESNER R
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. REE > THFEEFHESERE o
(f) The Group has been providing accommodation to the directors at no charge. The estimated (f) NEE-EHEENESRERE EVMIENEISE
money value of the benefit in kind is HK$5,136,000 (2023: HK$4,318,000). A5 13600070 (ZEZ=4 : #14,318,0007) °
(@) Ms. Ngan Suk Fun Mariana was appointed as independent non-executive directoron 31 (g)  EHAZTR-E-_MNFE+_A=+—BHREGATA

December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included five directors (2023: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out as above. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the remaining two highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
are as follows:

AR e SRR MY 5

11. EF - THEZERESHE (B)

FNAERLEREHEEBAERLR
BEEXE(CE=F . =Z8E%) » Him
HEHIME - BE_T-_=F+_81
—t+—HIEFENGRTMEREHES
(MIEARATERHITEAEH) BIFH BN %
BUTF -

2024
—EomE

2023
—m——

—= =

HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT
Salaries and other benefits TEMEMEF = 4,684
Retirement scheme contributions RIREFHR = 395
- 5079
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the JEARRABTEEN RS HMAE T A S
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the F » EEFEEULTEHERA -
following bands is as follows:
No. of employee
BTAH
2024 2023
—ECmE —B=E
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 712 000,001 752 A% 2,500,000 75 - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7% 2 500,001 752 A% 3,000,000 75 - 1
12. DIVIDENDS 12. g8
2024 2023
—EomE —EC=E
HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT
Dividends recognised as distribution duringthe year: ~ ERHERDRZIEE
Interim dividend paid for 2024 — HK$0.11 per share ~—ZE-MEE KPR ESH
(2023: interim dividend paid BT (CEZ=F .
for 2023 — HK$0.11 per share) BR-E-_=FHHRE aﬂﬁ
#A10.117T) 41,644 41,644
Final dividend paid for 2023 — HK$0.17 per share T EFERRERESR
(2023: final dividend paid BE0UT(CEI=F:
for 2022 — HK$0.20 per share) BRZEZZFRHERE aﬂﬁ‘
#1£0.207T) 64,359 75,717
106,003 117,361

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK$0.17
(2023: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023 of HK$0.17) per share, in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$64,359,000 (2023: HK$64,359,000) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by
the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ERBESHERE AE-_TNE
+ZA=+—HUEFEZXRPERESRK
B0/ (T2 I=F &EZT=
F+ZA=+—HLEEEZXRERESE
AR B4 0.17 70) » HAYAEE 64,359,000 7T
(ZEZ=%F ' B¥64,359,0007T) » &
HESgES LARERERREAEX
g LESRERIE o



13. BASICLOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$837,056,000 (2023: HK$814,937,000) and on 378,583,440
(2023: 378,583,440) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No diluted loss per share has been presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various residential, commercial and
industrial units and retail stores under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to ten years (2023: one to ten years), with
unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held
by lessees only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease

13. SRREXEHEE
ARAFERREGESREREIBTLKE
REEARNFRRELZEHEELBE
837,056,000 T (ZE =& : N B
8149370007t ) R A FEE BT H
i BZ378583440 ( = & = = .
378,583,440 %) 5t&

BE_ZT_NWE+-A=+—HKZ-E
=+ ZA=+—HLEFERSEE
ABESER  Ft#ESREBFNAE
2o

14. IREME
AEBRBELSEHEUAAFTAHES
EHET  BEMIXEBAURTERS o
HEBEEAR—FI+E( T2 T=F:
—FH+F) TEEESFEEMNFEE
EREEHABEAFERMBEILSM o

HRFTAREIUERERESBNINEE
ERFE WAEBRAEEBENZH
MmARINERR - HESGEFEZRIER
BEEGRNSHAEAZHERREE
ERBEMENERE -

term.

HK$000

BETT
FAIR VALUE ATEE
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE_=%—H—H 9,480,355
Currency realignment BB (33,581)
Additions 120 19,348
Reclassify from completed properties held for sale BRTHHEVEEHNE 21,659
Acquired on an acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) AW EEIE AR MES (e 34) 425,248
Disposal HE (4,181)
Loss on changes in fair value AT EEEEESE (297,478)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ2Z=%+"A=1+—H 9,611,370
Currency realignment B EE (73,5006)
Additions = 10,021
Reclassify from property, plant and equipment (note 15(b)  #1% * BB Rk B E 24 (5t 15b) 769,000
Disposal HE (24,171)
Loss on changes in fair value ATEESEHEE (464,605)
At 31 December 2024 RZ2ZMF+-A=+—H 9,828,109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

During the year, the unrealised loss on property revaluation
amounting to HK$714,598,000 (2023: loss on property
revaluation amounting to HK$297,774,000) is included in profit
or loss.

In estimating the fair value of investment properties, it is the
Group’s policy to engage independent qualified professional
valuer, which is not connected to the Group which has
appropriate professional qualifications and recent experience
in the valuations of similar properties in the relevant locations
to perform the valuations. The management works closely
with the valuer to establish the appropriate valuation model
or techniques and inputs to the model. The fair value of the
completed investment properties in Hong Kong and outside
Hong Kong at 31 December 2024, and 31 December 2023 have
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on those
dates by the following Valuers:

AR e SRR MY 5

14. HEME (&)
FRABERYVWEEHESEEBE
714598000 c (ZEZ=F : WEE
BRI 297,7740007T) EGIEEEE
HRAY o

ERAMELTFEBER  ZEBBBER
TEEREL S EREEGEMETEE -
% { (B B £22 2 £ ) 3 4 R » 3 12 4R R
B ELUMEETHEREEENE
EERRITIAKE - BEIEERGEMS
TEaE BIBENGERMMGHER
B@MASE EBREBRINEEY
ERZE_NFE+ZRA=+—HKRZZ
Z=F+ZA=+—HHRAFEEIR
BUTHEMRZEBRETHNHES
W

Location of the investment properties Valuers Qualification

REMEREH (& 1B f

HK/PRC Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
(2023: Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Ltd.)

&8 /HE AR EERIHEBRAT EENEMEEER
(Z2Z=F | gRIEETGERERAR)

UK Cushman & Wakefield Limited Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

B BERT HEERKTAZMEE

The valuations have been arrived at using direct comparison
method by reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties in the same locations and conditions
or, where appropriate, by capitalising the market rentals of
all lettable units of the properties by reference to the rentals
achieved in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar
properties in the neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate
adopted is made by reference to the yield rates observed by
the valuer for the similar properties in the locality and adjusted
based on the valuer’s knowledge of the factors specific to the
respective properties.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

HENEZEBUED 2 ZEREME KK
BHNEUMENTRERNSZTHE
BEMNEEARMBERUYERNE
BERUE YA o] 1 B IR
mIHHE (RERE) SH - EFFAN
BRELERDESEZAEMMZMERN
BUMESRRAENRTER > BERE
HEMAAMAANEYEERNEER
RABREA -

EHFAYMEQATEER  WENESK
RIEAESEBRIAR -

TRINLERKRBEVENATFEENM
EENER (EREREFRANMGER
MRMAZH) » URBEATEESESR
MM ASHAIMERNEE > RAFE
B BEDEEATEERBRHRR (B
—EF=MRA) o



14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

14. R EWME (8)
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held by the Group in the Relationship

consolidated statement Valuation technique(s) Significant of unobservable

of financial position and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value

FERFERIRENET TARBFHNEYH

RisAMERRR EERENEEEH EXTARERFHNEH BATEEMRER

Investment properties in Hong Kong Direct comparison method

with an aggregate carrying amount B8

of HK$176,970,000 The key input is

(2023: HK$207,000,000) FTELYS

EERNLENECRRERE

176,970,000 C (ZEZ=% : (1) Unitsalerate Unit sale rate, taking into account the time,  Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
#1# 207,000,000 75) (1) E{HEER location, and individual factors, such as would result in an increase in the fair

frontage and size, between the comparable  value measurement of the investment
and the property, ranging from HK$86to  properties by the same percentage
HK$10,463 (2023: HK$92 to HK$11,300)  increase, and vice versa.

per square feet for propertiesand ranging ~ FRFEMEB(IHEBEK—B LA &%
from HK$1,490,000 to HK$2,500,000 REMEN AL EEFEHERNE
(2023: HK$1,500,000 to HK$2,600,000) L1810 » 2544

per unit for car park spaces.

ZRINE S RHRNERYERS

ZENERNRE > MARRFE > ¥R
E(HEERTEABTHRAEK6T

EABM104637 (CBZ=F B2

EA111,3007T) > FEEHARISE(

H7# 1 1,490,000 70 £ %% 2,500,000 78

(ZBZ=F . B¥ 1500000 TEEE

2,600,0007z) °

Investment properties in Hong Income capitalisation method

Kong with an aggregate carrying WRERIE
amount of HK$6,451,230,000(2023:  The key inputs are
HK$5,973,460,000) TZEYS
EEENR BN EGREERE
6,451,2300007% (ZEZ=%: (1) Reversionyield Reversionyield, taking into account of the A sslight increase in the reversion yield
it 5,973,460,0007T) (1) THEEMERE capitalisation of rental income potential, ~ used would result in a significant
nature of the property and prevailing decrease in the fair value measurement
market condition, ranging from 2.4% to of the investment properties, and vice
4.5% (2023: 2.4% to 3.5%). versa.
ZRIBERSWABRNE  WERER AENERENRREEEEH L
REmn ) MHENERETA24%E LLREMENATEESEREK
45% (ZZZ=H 1 24%E 35%) ° TH o R2Z7A o
(2)  Monthly market rent Monthly market rents and unit salerate, ~ Aslight increase in the monthly market
and unit sale rate taking into account of time, location and rent used would result in a significant
2 SEmEEER individual factors such as frontage and size, increase in the fair value measurement
BlHEEK between the comparable and the property, ~ of the investment properties, and vice

ranging from HK$39 to HK$200(2023:  versa.
HK$42 to HK$214) and HK$27,297 (2023: FiBMIER MBS EEEM L -

HK$27,153) per square feet per month.  BEREVENATLEBEEEEA 2;3
ZEIIRM B REREAYES L k2R ®
BZENENRR  MERKEE 8 B
TiEHE I AR T ARMAE 9 TES .
#2007T (ZEZ=F | Btk 42w E A =
21470) REMHEBRTEASTHRBLE o

2729770 (CEZ=5  BME27,1537T) 0 -
11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
SEBGARREMES)
REESMBIKRR

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

EHENEEEH

AR e SRR MY 5

14. BEME (8)

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EAFIRERHNEN

Relationship

of unobservable
inputs to fair value
AARRGHNEY
ARTHEENRE

Investment properties in the

PRC with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$417,495,000 (2023:

HK$484,633,000)

EFENREYEEREEARE
4174950007 (ZEZ=% !

71 484,633,0007T)

Investment properties in the PRC
with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$2,368,250,000 (2023:

HK$2,523,725,000)

AR R RREERS

2,368,25000075 (ZB==
#1182 523725,0007T)

Direct comparison method

BB

The key input is
TEEYA

(1) Unitsalerate

(1) BfBEER

Income capitalisation method

BB AL

The key inputs are
TEEYA

(1) Reversionyield

(1) TEHRHEHRE

(2)  Monthly market rent
2 EANmEHEE

Unit sale rate, taking into account the time,
location, and individual factors, such as
frontage and size, between the comparable
and the property, ranging from Renminbi
(‘RMB”) 13,000 to RMB22,100 (2023:
RMB13,300 to RMB20,000) per square
meter for properties.

TRIIRME AR RMEEYER
SZENERRR > MEAKREE B
HEBREASTARAARE 13000
EARE221007 (ZE2=F | AR®
13,300 E AR#20,0007T) ©

Reversion yield, taking into account of the
capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of the property and prevailing
market condition, ranging from 4.6% to
5.0% (2023: 4.6% t0 5.0%).
ZRIELHEWAERRE  MELER
REmR BRENEREEA46%E
50% (ZBZ=F : 46%F50%) ©

Monthly market rents, taking into account
of time, location and individual factors
such as frontage and size, between the
comparable and the property, ranging from
RMB264 to RMB500 (2023: RMB264 to
RMB600) per square meter per month.
TRIIRME A RERNZENERS
ZENENRR > MAERAE  §AT
GHRE I ARTLRERSSTAREA
RiE264 T E ARIES00T (ZE =5 !
AE#264TEARKE6007T) ©

Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
properties by the same percentage
increase, and vice versa.
FIENEMHERE—BLA &
REMEN \JZF{E#;&H*%E’JE
DL » RZIMA o

Aslight increase in the reversion yield
used would result in a significant
decrease in the fair value measurement
of the investment properties, and vice
versa.

PN EREEREM LS
BYRBENENATEENEFEX
T8 R2ZI#A

Aslight increase in the monthly market
rent used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value measurement
of the investment properties, and vice
versa.
FANEAMEHEEERER L
BYRBNENATEBENEREX
TR k2



14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
SEBGARREMES
REEEMBIKRR

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

EHENEEES

14. 9 EME (&)

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EAFURERHNEN

Relationship

of unobservable
inputs to fair value
AARRBHNEY
BATEERMRR

Investment property in the UK
with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$414,164,000 (2023
HK$422,552,000)
ERENR BN = AIREEHE
41416400070 (B =5 B
422,552,0007T) °

The fair values of all investment properties at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 were measured using valuation
techniques with significant unobservable inputs and hence were

Income capitalisation method

WEHEAE

The key inputs are
TEEHA

(1) Reversionyield

(1) TEHRHEHRE

(2)  Monthly market rent
(20 EANEHEE

classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Reversion yield, taking into account of the
capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of the property and prevailing
market condition, at 4.35% (2023: 4.03%)
ZRIBTHEWABAE  MERER
REmR  BERENEREEES4.35%
(ZEZ=F:403%) ©

Monthly market rent, taking into account
of time, location and individual factors
such as frontage and size, between the

comparable and the property, at GBP10.28

(2023: GBP9.45) per square meter per
month.
ZTRINE S RHRNERYERS
ZENENRE > MAERAE ﬁﬁﬁ
BHEASTAK10285E (5=
FYHKI45EEE) o

Aslight increase inthe reversion yield
used would result in a significant
decrease in the fair value measurement
of the investment properties, and vice
versa.
FIEMRARNEREEREM L
BYRBENENATEBENEREX
T8 RZIA

Aslight increase in the monthly market
rent used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value measurement
of the investment properties, and vice
versa.
FANSAMEHEEREM L
BYRBNENATEENEREX
I RzA o

2 NE+"A=+—HERZIZZ=
F+-RA=+—HREREMENATF
BEDIBEFATRRNEABAZH

ZEERN > WOEA AT EERES

=#RA °

FRREBAHELE=HRA -

0
Z
>
4
2]
>
-
F)
m
v
o
~
|
T
#
#
B

\ E@ﬂﬂaaﬁaméﬂg

- &=

L EHSO



N

20T L4Od3Y TYNNNY | QILINITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT B

o

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Hotel
land and

4 A
I =]

Bt #5 R R MY 5E

15. V% - BERSEE

Other
leasehold
land and

Plant and

Furniture,
fixtures,
motor vehicles
and computer

buildings buildings machinery equipment Total
EELH HitfE T4 i RE
RigF RigF BERKSE - ERREHERE aE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT BB BRI BT BT
CosT o8
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=%—HF—H 1,574,301 105,136 55,441 452,992 2,187,870
Currency realignment EXxREE 3981 - (731) 807 4057
Additions 110 409 - 457 41429 42,295
Disposals HE - - (542) (8,282) (8,824)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZB=1+—H 1,578,691 105,136 54,625 486,946 2,225,398
Currency realignment EXER (3,155) - (1,081) (1,772) (6,008)
Reclassify toinvestment properties ~ EFEERBNE
(note (b)) (Fit3E (b)) (1,089,421) - - (212965 (1,302,386)
Additions )l - - 2,083 14,619 16,702
Disposals HE - - (884) (3,418) (4,302)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ZMFE+ZA=+-H 486,115 105,136 54,743 283410 929,404
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION #f& R ifi
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HF—H 113,188 26,927 34844 191,444 366,403
Currency realignment ExpE 126 - (469) (146) (489)
Charge for the year AEETH 44538 2,377 3,484 51,617 102,016
Eliminated on disposals R ER - - (452) (4,916) (5,368)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H 157,852 29,304 37,407 237,999 462,562
Currency realignment ERpE (197) - (759) (757) (1,713)
Reclassify to investment properties ~ EHHERRENE
(note (b)) (Ft3E (b)) (160,209) - - (119634 (279843)
Charge for the year KEETH 41,712 2377 3246 51,906 99,241
Eliminated on disposals P& RS - - (796) (3,210) (4,006)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=+—H 39,158 31,681 39,098 166,304 276,241
CARRYING VALUE IRE(E
At 31 December 2024 RIE-ME+-B=1+—H 446,957 73,455 15,645 117,106 653,163
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=5+_A=+—-H 1,420,839 75,832 17,218 248,947 1,762,836




15.

notes:

(a)

(c)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

Hotel land and buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease or 2% to 3%

Other leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the term of the lease or

2% to 3%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures, motor vehiclesand ~ 10-20%

computer equipment
No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

During the current year, the Group’s owner-occupied property with carrying value of
HK$1,022,543,000 was transferred to investment properties upon commencement of the
operating lease. Fair value of the owner-occupied property at the date of transfer amounted
to HK$769,000,000 resulting in a loss on valuation of HK$253,543,000 charged to profit or
loss during the year.

The management of the Group concluded there was indication for impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of certain property, plant and equipment
relating to hotel operation in Thailand (2023: Hong Kong and Thailand) with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$422,943,000 (2023: HK$1,119,081,000 and
HK$437,483,000, respectively). The management of the Group estimated the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units (‘CGUs”) to which the assets belong based on fair
value less costs of disposal. In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the
Group engaged an independent qualified professional valuer to perform the valuation.
The hotel in Thailand, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, was measured using income
approach and discounted cash flow projections with 3% growth rate and pre-tax discount
rate of 10%. While the hotel in Hong Kong, as at 31 December 2023, was measured using
residual approach on a redevelopment basis. The key unobservable inputs used in the
valuation included the gross development value on completion status and estimated project
redevelopment cost.

Based on the results of the assessment, management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of the respective CGUs based on the fair value less cost of disposal
was higher than its carrying amount. No impairment is recognised for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

15.
sk

(a)

(c)

ME - BER=E (R)

LM% BERRFEEENREREEUTIIEX
e

BIELHRIET BB 2 BN ER
2% % 3%

HitfAE D RigF BEEZENERS
2%ZE 3%

R R 10%

Rt RE - EHRK 10-20%

BB

KARRLHASFRNE o

AEE AEEARENERYEREBEABK
1,022,543 000 TEEAREYE - FEBAZEEY
E¥MATBERZHET769,000,0007 » BHLEFSE
# 253,543,000 » st AR B EANESE

AEFEEERAEERENS  THRE(ZEZ=
FEBRRE) EEEENYE RERREBEET
TREFE A IREEENEK4229430007T
(ZEZ=F: DR AEE1,119,081,0007T K # &
437,483,00077) - ZEBEEBREATEEARE
RAGGEEMBNREEEEUNERER TR
EHEENENRATEER  AEEZREBIGERE
SEEMETIGRE B S MER-E_=
F+ZA=1+—B > ZEEEREARAZNBRR
EMERHEN BAKEERA3% RABHREXA
10%  BIE—E-_=F+_-_B=+—R> FBAEEH
BREGEIEERER - ARGERRMENTER
THRZHAESEE TRENERSEAENGIER
BREMA o

REFEER  XAEQAEBERT  RATFEERE
HERAHE  HRREELBMZAKEEESH
HEAEE BHE_Z_MER_S_=F+_8
=+—BLEEEBERIMME o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

AR e SRR MY 5

16. FRESE

Leased
properties

HEME
HK$000
BT
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_ME+-A=+—H
Carrying amount REE 6,405
As at 31 December 2023 RZB8-_=%+"A=+—-H
Carrying amount FREE 1,769
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE—_E_ME+-_A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge TE 4,846
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-=E+-A=1+—HLEE
Depreciation charge TE 2,639
2024 2023
ZECmE -
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT
Expenses relating to short-term leases BICHRTRE RN ER 712 4,072
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R H4E%E 5,921 6,889
Additions to right-of-use assets {EREEELN 9,482 2,122

The Group leases various offices, director and staff quarters for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one to two years (2023: one to two years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various
offices, director and staff quarters. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the expense relating to
short-term leases recognised above.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, lease liabilities
of HK$9,482,000 (2023: HK$2,122,000) are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$9,482,000 (2023:
HK$2,122,000).

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

FEBAKEXFHESPAE - EF
MEIES HEARNEEEHA—
EHF(ZEI=HF . —E2F) - #HER
MERBERIBERGEEERN > ERE
ZEERE BRI - AEF
E T2 & HA PR AN 5T (i A~ AT S RO HA PR 5
RAERMEZRILEE S REAIEG®T
HEAMR ©

rEETHASHEE EEKETHE
B UEHPHAEER BT WE
RZEZ=F+"B=+—H " ZiEH
HEHSEE FB R HAE EERNE
B2 ieAfEEHEHE M -
BEt—_Z_mME+_B=+—H°#HE
BEBI482000(ZE-_=F: &
#2,122,0007T) SRERAFERAEEEARTE
9,482,000 (ZZE =4 : ##2,122,000
70) BT HERR ©
BRTHEARENHAEEEPIERE
moh > MEBEFEMEAEMOE o
HENEETSRIEEENIERG o



17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of properties
under development for sale of approximately HK$462,177,000
(2023: HK$865,772,000), net of accumulated impairment of
HK$442,306,000 (2023: HK$545,267,000), was expected to
be realised after twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of properties
held for sale of approximately HK$633,233,000 (2023:
HK$409,861,000), net of accumulated impairment of
HK$51,339,000 (2023: HK$53,425,000), and HK$11,714,000
(2023: HK$11,714,000) are located in the PRC and Hong Kong,
respectively.

The cost of properties held for sale recognised as an expense
during the year amounted to approximately HK$295,091,000
(2023: HK$94,436,000).

Reversal of impairment loss on properties under development
for sale and properties held for sale were recognised during
the year amounted to approximately HK$102,961,000 and
HK$2,086,000 (2023: impairment loss of HK$545,267,000 and
HK$53,425,000), respectively.

17. FHERRTME FHEME

A ZE_NME+ZRA=+—H ' FHE
BRERYEIREBELNA B 462,177,000
TT(ZTET=4 : B 865,772,0007T) °
0B R 51 B &5 38 78 5 442,306,000 7T
(ZEZ =% B¥545,267,0007T) > 7&
HATESR SR+ AR B &R -
A_E_NE+_A=+—H &FH
EVEREELN A B 1 633,233,0007T
(ZEZ =% #%409,861,0007T),1
PR R &t iR (B A5 18 B 16 51,339,000 7T (=
T =4 BH534250007T) RE A
BHE11,714000c(Z 2 =5 | BE
11,714,000 7T) B RMURHEREHE °
FR BRIARIZEHEMERE
#7781 295,091,000 (Z B - =
£ 94,436,000 7T) ©

FHEZRPTMERGTHEYEZRE
BERAERBIEATHDROABE
102,961,000 7t 2 7 #2,086,0007T ( =
T =4 #B1E545,267,000 7T K # KK
53,425,0007%) °

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. S EENERE
2024 2023
ZEME ZTZ=
HK$000 HK$000
BETT BETT
Cost of investments in joint ventures — unlisted ~ REREELE A —JELT 90,660 90,660
Loans advanced to joint ventures (note e) BERTAERE (Hizte) 366,435 409,756
Share of post-acquisition results and other PR R 2 ERAM 2N
comprehensive income, net of dividends MR E B S
received 77,450 134,664
534,545 635,080
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

18. A8 ¥ D (8)
TIAXERR _—_S_-_MWE+_-H
=—+—BRZE-=F+"H=+—H

BEXESSEE .
Place of Proportion Proportion
incorporation/ Class of of ownership voting
Name of company Notes operations shares held interest power held Principal activities
AFER M MM/ & FRisRIRIVER 21 4 5] BEREEZIH TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
- 13 ZEC= —ECmE - St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BETR BETR BETR BlETR
Value Investing Group (a) HongKong/Japan Ordinary 50% 50% 50% 50%  Propertyinvestment
Company Limited (‘Value E4/B% EiER WERE
Investing”)
EEREERERAR
Clear Miles Hong Kong Limited ~ (b) Hong Kong/Australia  Ordinary 50% 50% 50% 50%  Propertyinvestment
(‘Clear Miles) &8/ 2N BiEk MERE
AM 310 Ann Street Investor (c) Australia Ordinary 15% 15% 15% 15%  Propertyinvestment
Unit Trust (‘Ann Street Unit | EiER MELE
Trust”)
Golden Partners Investment (d) HongKong/ltaly Ordinary 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property investment
Limited &8/ EXH Lk MERE

The Group and the other joint venturers are contractually
agreed sharing of control and have rights to the net assets of
these entities. The decisions about the relevant activities of
these entities required unanimous consent of the Group and
the other joint venturers. Accordingly, these investments are
accounted for as joint ventures.

notes:

(a) In November 2017, the Group entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Value
Partners Group Limited (“Value Partners”) to acquire 50% of the issued share capital in
Value Investing which in turn through a wholly-owned subsidiary holds 100% of the trust
beneficial interests in the properties located in Japan, held under operating leases to earn
rentals.

Upon completion, the Group exercises joint control over Value Investing and the financial
results and financial positions of Value Investing is incorporated in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

FEFRRAEMEEERGVNEDEE
g TEAENELEERINFEENE
Mo ARELEERNEMESHINRAER
EXAEENMHEMEESN-—REE -
I EREERAEREARK -

MisE

(@) R-B—t&+-R FENEEEEEARAF(TE
B))sTuBEE  BABEREEEERAR50%
WEETRE  LRBHZENERR > FH 100% 8
HNRAME  RECEROMRRAS o

RBEME  AERBEEREEEARARARME
EEHNES MEEREEEERADNMHEEXE
MMBERR > KU LT ATEBNGRSHBRE
¢ o



18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

In September 2018, the Group entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Value
Partners to acquire 50% of the issued share capital in Clear Miles which in turn through a
wholly-owned subsidiary holds 100% of the beneficial interests in the properties located in
Australia, held under operating leases to earn rentals.

Upon completion, the Group exercises joint control over Clear Miles and the financial
results and financial positions of Clear Miles is incorporated in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

On 21 December 2021, the Group and Value Partners have agreed with Clear Miles under a
contribution agreement (“Contribution Agreement”) that each of the shareholders will inject
by way of interest-free and unsecured shareholder loan with no fixed repayment date of
Australian dollar (“AUD") 55,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$307,340,000) pro
rata to their respective equity interest in Clear Miles.

Such contribution is to enable Clear Miles to acquire 25% attributable interest in a property
situated at Kent Street, Sydney (“Property”) (with each of the Group and Value Partners
acquiring 12.5% attributable interest in the Property) through the subscription of an
aggregate of 110,000,000 units in the AM Kent Street Investor Trust at an issue price of
AUD1 per unit at a total consideration of AUD110,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$614,680,000). 11,000,000 units are to be subscribed on or before 21 December 2021
while the remaining 99,000,000 units are to be subscribed on 31 March 2022. Advances
of the shareholders loan under the Contribution Agreement are to be made by the
Group and Value Partners in tranches as required by Clear Miles to meet its subscription
payment obligations. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made an
advance of shareholder loan to Clear Miles amounting to AUD49,500,000 (approximately
HK$279,131,000) under the Contribution Agreement.

In February 2021, the Group entered into a unit holder deed with Valuer Partners and AM
310 Ann Street Equity Pty Ltd to establish Ann Street Unit Trust which holds 100% of
the trust beneficial interests the land and buildings located at 310 Ann Street, Brisbane in
Queensland, held under operating leases to earn rentals, at a consideration of approximately
AUD15,000,000 (approximately HK$90,660,000).

Upon establishment of Ann Street, the Group exercises joint control over Ann Street
Unit Trust and the financial results and financial positions of Ann Street Unit Trust is
incorporated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting.

On 10 July 2023, the Group and Value Partners Asia Pacific Real Estate Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Value Partners Group Limited, formed a joint venture, namely
Golden Partners Investment Limited (“Golden Partners”), which is held as to 50% by the
Group and 50% by Value Partners Asia Pacific Real Estate Limited. Upon establishment
of Golden Partners, each party agreed to contribute shareholder loan of Euro (“EUR”)
7,000,000 (equivalent to HK$61,375,000) to acquire 50% of the total issued units of the
Cromwell Italy Urban Logistic Fund, which owns seven logistics assets in northern Italy,
at the aggregate consideration of EUR13,084,000 (equivalent to HK$112,297,000). The
completion of the acquisition of the units was on 27 July 2023.

Upon completion, the Group exercises joint control over Golden Partners and the
financial results and financial positions of Golden Partners is incorporated in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

Loans advanced to joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment
terms. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the loans are considered as part of
the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures.

18. SEEFEH ()
it : (4)

(b)

(c)

RIE—N\ENR  xEFAABETUEERZ B
AClear Miles 50% M B #4174 > iBBH2 BB
AT FH100% EHHENIE » RIBEETALLUE
S o

RB TR » ZEEH Clear Miles Bhfi kR HE HIRY#
712 M Clear Miles {9813 = MM BN » K ME S
ESATEBNGEEMBRES o

RIEZ—E+"B-+—-H x&EEAXBEEH
Clear Miles 2R —BH E % (THERE)) » SR
R HE R B7E Clear Miles IRIELL G » UGB &
R R EE T B B S AR R S UR K 55,000,000 7T
(=R 481 307,340,000 ) AR HE o
ZEHBRTE Clear Miles B U EBRE B AK
170 B 3 17 B SR B % {5 5 & ££ 110,000,000 18 & fif
B 75 =0 U B — (B i 1 2B JE Kent Street 89472 (T34
¥)M25%EGEERS (FEENMBRESBNBERNE
M 12.5%FE L 2) > 484184 R 1 110,000,000 75
(HHE L #1614,680,0007T) ° 11,000,000 18 & fiI
BERZE-—F+-BA-t+—HAozaRE; R&ET
99,000,000fBEMER-_E-__£=B=1+—H:R
B HEREBETREERNEIEHFEIREE
1R ¥ Clear Miles (IR S HLIEL » UBITHABAR
BEHBE_E-__H+-A=+-—H cEERE
H & 5387 Clear Miles B IR R E TR 49,500,000
7T (481 279,131,000 7%) °

RIEZ—5ZF> AEEHEEMAM 310 Ann
Street Equity Pty Ltd S s] B F A A 24 B
Ann Street Unit Trust > ZEEHFEURELTEMA
B #3310 Ann Street {9 1 3t F1 12 ¥ #9 100% 15 55
Bnn RECEROUBEEAS  RENARIE
15,000,000 7t (4974 90,660,000 7) ©

R B5TR % » A% B ¥ Ann Street Unit Trust B i £
EIEHI B H /7 > 1 Ann Street Unit Trust #9 B 75 % &
ME BN BUER LA ATEBNG S HEERER
¢ o

RIEZ=FtB+H s5EHEERIAER
& Golden Partners Investment Limited (TGolden
Partners]) » H 2 £ B £5 12 50% > B 12 55 B2 50% ©
Golden Partners i I &> E AR EHERKER
7,000,000 Ex 7t (10 & 1A 493 # 61,375,000 75) LA UK EE
Cromwell Italy Urban Logistic Fund B 2 17 & {i 48 &
#50% > ZEESERANILHEE CEMRPLOEE »
{8497 13,084,000 81 7t (1 & 14 # ¥ 112,297,000
) B EMMERER S =t +tHARM

TR % > KAEEH Golden Partners B i [F12
#9#71 » B Golden Partners 98 # £ &M B #5A0R »
BN ER A AT EBNGEMEERES o

mEELRRENERARER  REEAEEEER
R s AREEIAZERRERAGELXREN
—&% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 18. EEEE#N ()

The consolidated financial information of Value Investing, which T3 ABEIBEERARATRERE
is prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting BAfS¥RESZEBIGRSI 2 4S5 E R ¢
Standards, is set out below:

2024 2023

“ECmE —EC=E

HK$000 HK$'000

AT BT

Current assets REEE 614 636

Non-current assets FRBEE 367,433 445856

Current liabilities M =N 42,625 102,452

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEER 614 399
Current financial liabilities (excluding other nEF e R (FeEEMEMRRTHR)

payables and provisions) 42,505 102,328

2024 2023

—E-mE St

HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BT

(Loss) profit for the year AEE (E518)EF (18,831) 24,166

Other comprehensive income for the year rEEHEMEEWE 213 186

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year ZZEE2H (L ) Nz4E%E (18,618) 24,352

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial W EEEEBEBEARARZELRES
information of Value Investing to the carrying amount of EFEBERBHELESHMBRTIRPESD
the interest in a joint venture recognised in the consolidated &% ©

financial statements:

2024 2023

—E-mE St

HK$'000 HK$000

AT AT

Net assets BEFH 325,422 344,040
Proportion of the Group's ownershipinterestin =~ AEBFHMLEBEREERRBRARZ

Value Investing FrE#ER 2 0 50% 50%

162,711 172,020

Deemed investments BRARERE 30,294 64,667

Pre-acquisition profits B AR F (5,080) (5,080)

Carrying amount of the Group'sinterest in Value ~ AREBEMEEREEBBRATZ
Investing ERREE 187,925 231,607




18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 18. =¥ K= (&)

The summarised financial information below represents the M it > B8 B k5 A &£ B AR IE
information of the Group’s joint venture that is not individually BAZ &&M¥ 2 HEZ54E%E .

material:
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2024 2023
ZECmE “BCCE
HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BT
The Group's share of (loss) profit for the year KFEEAERFRG (B518) &5 (36,819) 10,012
The Group's share of other comprehensive rEEFEEMMGEMZESH
expense for the year (7,452) (139)
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEEREBRFEEE ) k&
(expense) income for the year (44,271) 9,873
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s FERRZAERE ERREERE
interests in these joint ventures 346,620 403473

19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI AND FINANCIAL 19. AT EEHAEM TR

ASSETS AT FVTPL EmTAREBATEESAER
Z2EMEE
Financial Equity
assets instruments
atFVTPL atFVTOCI Total
BATEETA
BAFEETA Hitn2ElEZ
BRZEMEE EZIR ek
notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000
Bzt BETT BT BETR
2024 —E-mE
Listed equity securities EhRkEES (a) 15,065 247 15,312
Unlisted equity securities FLEmRAES (b) = 211,067 211,067
Perpetual capital securities BRPERES (c) - 23211 23211
15,065 234,525 249,590
Analysed as: NEEA .
Listed in Hong Kong REBLM 12,408 23,458 35,866
Listed overseas s £ 2,657 - 2,657
Unlisted JEEH - 211,067 211,067
15,065 234,525 249,590
Analysed for reporting purpose as:  M{ERE Z BH1EA
Non-current assets FrRaEE 234,525
Current assets REBE 15,065
249,590
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

19.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI AND FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FVTPL (CONTINUED)

19. BAFEEFARMEZEWEZ
B TARBAFEEFART
ZEMEE (B)

Financial Equity
assets instruments
at FVTPL at FVTOCI Total
BATEEHA
BATFEEFA Hitt2EWEZ
BRZERMEE #HIE 4z
hotes HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
fisE BT BT BT
2023 —ZE_°=
Listed equity securities EhRRES (a) 14,732 227 14,959
Unlisted equity securities JELEHRRAES (b) - 227,113 227,113
Perpetual capital securities BRPERES (c) - 45,116 45,116
14,732 272456 287,188
Analysed as: NEEA .
Listed in Hong Kong R&EBELH 14,732 45,343 60,075
Unlisted JEE - 227,113 227,113
14,732 272,456 287,188
Analysed for reporting purpose as:  MA{EIREZ BDES
Non-current assets FRHEE 272,456
Current assets RBBE 14,732
287,188

The Group’s equity instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets

at FVTPL that are denominated in currencies other than the

functional currency of the relevant group entity are set out

AEELERERBRINEREUINT
BEZRATEEFAHMEE KD 2 #
mTARBATFEEFABZZERE

below: BT
Denominated
in United States
dollars (“US$”)
DES R
HK$'000
BT
As at 31 December 2024 BE_T-_ME+-A=1+—H 42,647
As at 31 December 2023 BE_Z_=F+"A=1+—H 65,242
notes: M5

(a)

(c)

As at 31 December 2024, listed equity securities classified as financial instruments at
FVTOCI held by the Group amounting to approximately HK$247,000 (2023: HK$227,000)
are carried at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, unlisted equity securities classified as financial instruments
at FVTOCI held by the Group amounting to approximately HK$211,067,000 (2023:
HK$227,113,000) are carried at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held perpetual capital securities amounting to
approximately HK$23,211,000 (2023: HK$45,116,000) which are carried at fair value at the
end of the reporting period. Such investments are issued in August 2020 and July 2019 with
a fixed distribution rate of 5.5% and 5.7% per annum payable semi-annually for the first
five years and reset to the prevailing 5-year U.S. Treasury plus the initial margin every five
years thereafter. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the perpetual capital securities
issued in July 2019 were redeemed.

Q) MRIZTWE+ZA=1+—H > xEEFRZFEURE
HANATEENE  HEARATEEH AL M2
AhEzERTAN EHRAESNAEK 247,000
T(ZEZ=F : #1227,0007T) °

b) WRZZ-MEF_B=+-—-0> FEEMFEUR
ERANATEEFE DEARAFEEHAR
tEEREZEE TN ETRAZSNABE
211,067,0007t (222 =4 : #%227,113,0007T) °

0 RIB-ME+ZA=+—0 > cEEFREEURE
HANATEENZ HBEABERAESESNS
# 1232110007 (Z B Z = & : ##45,116,000
7)) c RSN ZETENBRZE-NELtRE
7 REXREEABESS%R57% BRESEEK
BN HEEXEBRENEREEREE RN
EREXREE -HE_T_MFE+_A=1+—HLE
B ZE-NEtBRTNERBESESCHER o



Z
s
20. INVENTORIES 20. 78 8
2024 2023 '2
—E-mE -EC=E a
HK$'000 HK$000 3
BETR i
The Group’s inventories comprise: rEEFEEEE: §
Raw materials R 2,249 2,545 &
Work in progress TR 9,846 10,370 o
Finished goods K 19,700 16,854
Other inventories HhEE 1,907 2,649
33,702 32418
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense duringthe RAFERIBASZHZFER TN S
year amounted to approximately HK$71,702,000 (2023: #&##71702000c(Z =% B
HK$67,429,000). 67,429,000 7T) °
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. BEZ R EHMEUWERTR
2024 2023
ZECME “E-=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT
Trade receivables B R REWERTR 34,115 32,103
Lease receivables T E R 4,902 5,825
39,017 37,928
Deposits paid BT 5,271 9,712
Other receivables and prepayments HEWERT R BT IR 126,993 65,039
VAT receivables eI ER 50,053 55,875
221,334 168,554
Current e 194,098 168,554
Non-current JERE 27,236 -
221,334 168,554
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with A _E_=F—H—H 'EFRFEHNZE
customers amounted to HK$39,138,000. 5 FEW AR TR 2 1 39,138,000 7T ©
notes: M5
(a  Considerations in respect of sold properties are payable by the purchasers pursuant tothe  (a) EBXEREEANEMNEMBEENEZRE - HHYE
terms of the sale and purchase agreements. There is no credit period given on billing for MIREREEEN HXERMBH - BZXFP I
rental of properties. Monthly rent are payable in advance by the tenants. Trade customers FRIR¥930-90 H 2 S EHER o MAREHRK »
or tenants settle their accounts with an average credit period of 30 to 90 days. The aged REZRPAAEZRERARAERKZLABE
analysis of trade receivables and lease receivables of approximately HK$39,017,000 (2023: 39,017,0007¢ (ZEZ =4 : #¥37,928,000 70) 2Bk
HK$37,928,000) presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is BT
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE - St
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT
Within 30 days 30HA 13,445 18,765
Between 31 days to 90 days 31E90H 17,086 14,822
Over 90 days BB H 8,486 4,341
39,017 37,928
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2024, included in the trade receivable and lease receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$7,893,000 (2023: HK$9,294,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, debtors with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$2,922,000 (2023: HK$2,505,000) were past due
and aged over 90 days at the end of reporting period but the Group has not provided
for impairment loss. Debtors that were past due but not impaired related to a number of
customers that have a good track record of credit with the Group. Based on past credit
history, the management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered to be fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

(c) All of the Group’s trade receivables and lease receivables are denominated in the functional
currency of the individual entities within the Group.

(d) Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set out in note 36b.

22. FIXED BANK DEPOSITS WITH MORE THAN THREE
MONTHS TO MATURITY WHEN RAISED/CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from

0.01% to 2.10% (2023: 0.01% to 2.55%) per annum. The fixed

deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 1.30% to 5.15%

(2023: 1.35% to 5.60%) per annum.

The Group’s bank balances and fixed bank deposits that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of

the relevant group entity are set out below:

%Tli (EE&EMBE\I&EE* % (48)

b) RIB-EFE+ZBAZ+-—H st ABZEKERK
B R 2 B ERARE A B 27815 7,893,000 70 (=
D= #B9,2940007) 0 RBERERL -
HRERER - BRE(E B 2,922,000 7T R FEURER R (2
TT=6 1 #12,5050007) 0 HERERRBEHRE
BRBB0 R » AEE L ERZSER 2 HEFR
REE mMRAEEZPBENERTRRET > BR
BERBBEIERRERERR - REBENEER
B EEERALERANEEERRAETANE
BHBENRAEATT2RE  RILBERRZSEiRE
HERE - ERTENZSERTAETERY -

(0  FEBEMAEZEBRRANEERIGRRUAER RN
BRIREZ AR ETIE -

) ERESREMEREROAENE #ERRKE
36B °

22. ZFAZEREIMZEMIRITE
MORTERRRE

IRITERMEUT B EAENF L
NEEF0INE2I%(ZE =
0.01% E 2.55%) o E A ERMH B E & F
B NEEFEL30%ES15% (ZE_=
£ 1 1.35% F5.60%) °

AEELIFERERBRNINEGES
ENRITEMRERRITER > |RIINM
o

Denominated

Denominated  inJapanese Yen Denominated Denominated Denominated

inAUD (“JPY”) inHK$ inRMB inUS$

WRTEIE MBESIE WARSIE RARKSIE WETTHIE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BETT BT BETT

Asat31December2024 HE_E-_ME+"_A=+—H 30,805 42720 378 110,537 927,798
Asat31December2023 HE_E-_=#F+"HA=+—H 26,921 73,297 297 477,964 160,161

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36b.

BB ST s EEHIEE 36b o



23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. BB R HMME SRR

2024 2023
ZECmE —2o=f
HK$000 HK$000
BETR BT
Trade payables BaEMRR 9,158 10,908
Construction costs and retention payables BEMEKRERRES 143,607 135,804
Deposits received in respect of rental of REMEREZ EWRE
investment properties 121,321 139,156
Rentals receipt in advance WS 9,351 8,613
Deposits received (note) BuRE (s 147,444 151,249
Other payables HE(IERRR 107,016 103,844
537,897 549,574
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months & : R+ ={EA RN RE&E
shown under current liabilities (442,744) (439,684)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months K+ ZEBRIMBHERE AR
shown under non-current liabilities 95,153 109,890

note:  The amounts represent refundable deposits received from subcontractors for the purpose
of securing their performance in respect of construction contracts in favour of the Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the

Mis . SRARUS EERBRNATRERS  URFEER
RENRAEBNERESRMNET o

B2 R RARAIRE U EZE B DAY

invoice date. T
2024 2023
—ECmE —EC=
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT
Within 30 days 30HA 9,158 10,908

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

24. LEASELIABILITIES

MEEYZTIEEHAA30H - *&H
ERERBEREERE > URERAE
FEAS BRI E EHIRSZ AT ©

24. HE&E

2024 2023
ZECmE —E°=
HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT
Lease liabilities payable: ERAEA(E:
Within one year —ER 5,561 1,122
Within a period of more than one year but —ERERBEME
not more than two years 1,007 731
6,568 1,853
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months 3 : IWREIBE T+ @R R
shown under current liabilities FIEEE NS (5,561) (1,122)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIERBEET T ZER &I
shown under non-current liabilities EHENEH 1,007 731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25. A aE

2024 2023

“ECmE —E-=E

note HK$'000 HK$000

ik AT AT

Sales of properties MIEHE (a) 50,820 2,235

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised

TRETTFERINNRZFES DA

in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. 4ESHNEEHER
Sales of properties
2024 2023
—EomE -Z-=
HK$000 HK$000
BETT BETT
Revenue recognised that was included RENEROSEENER
in the contract liabilities balance at the BREEFP A AR
beginning of the year 2,235 8,401

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$8,401,000.

notes:

(a) Sales of properties

The Group receives deposits from customers pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase
agreement. The deposits result in contract liabilities being recognised until the customer
obtains control of the completed property.

(b) Contract liabilities as at the end of each reporting period are expected to be recognised as
revenue in subsequent year.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

RZZE_=F—A—H’' 6NaETH

2188 401,000 7T ©
Mt
(a)  WmEssE

FEBAREEBEHAENGRRERE RS - KL
HENEERES  BEERFNBETIMEMZH

o

(b)  BERSHRNENEERFABET - ERIBKA

ENAREAEERERNERRDAE (INESEE
HIE) MAERZE R BB ARARBIEE



26. BORROWINGS 26. &
2024 2023
ZECME “EC=E
notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ik BETR BT
Secured bank borrowings BIERRITER 2,421,955 1,550,694
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRIRRITER 930,000 850,000
Amounts due to non-controlling P IE AR R AIA
shareholders (a) 9,612 2,658
3,361,567 2,403,352
The carrying amounts of the secured bank B {EZEERIREE !
borrowings that are repayable: (b)
Within one year —FR 285,511 921,911
Within aperiod of morethanoneyear ~ —FHERBBRE
but not exceeding two years 92,106 28,508
Within a period of more thantwo years ~ RIEHREFRBBEE
but not exceeding five years 1,944,509 454243
More than five years BiRRE 99,829 146,032
2,421,955 1,550,694
The carrying amounts of unsecured bank B IRBITERNRABERS
borrowings that containarepayableon  EEREEBER (BTRERE
demand clause (shown under current BET)  BEEE:
liabilities) but repayable:
Within one year —&ERN 930,000 850,000
The carrying amounts of other HtERHNREBEELRES
borrowings that containarepayableon  {BE{#=
demand clause 9,612 2,658
3,361,567 2,403,352
Less: Amounts due within one year shown i : EREIEE T —ER
under current liabilities FIEAMY £ %8 (1,225,123) (1,774,569)
2,136,444 628,783
notes: D
(a) These borrowings are unsecured and repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2024 and  (a) FEENAERIFREREREE RS- MEK
2023, the entire amount is non-interest bearing. —E_ZE+”"B=1+—H > 2HEERHIE o
(b)  Theamounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. (b) BEXTERERGEFEECERERIE o

(c)

As at 31 December 2024, HK$ denominated secured bank borrowings of approximately
HK$2,103,329,000 (2023: HK$1,204,909,000) and unsecured borrowings of
approximately HK$930,000,000 (2023: HK$850,000,000), RMB denominated secured
bank borrowings of approximately HK$19,993,000 (2023: HK$22,088,000) and Thai
Bahts (“THB") denominated secured bank loans of approximately HK$298,633,000 (2023:
HK$323,697,000) are variable-rate bank borrowings which carry interest at Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (‘HIBOR”) plus a margin of 0.8% to 1.60% (2023: 0.9% to 1.25%)
per annum, 100% (2023: 100%) of the People’s Bank of China (‘PBOC”) prescribed interest
rate per annum and Minimum Loan Rate announced by the Bank of Thailand (“MLR”) minus
1.5%, respectively.

The effective interest rates ranged from 4.35% to 5.40% (2023: 4.50% to 6.57%) per
annum. Details of assets pledged are set out in note 30.

(c)

RIEZME+ZB=+—H  UBEIEZHIEH
BITESM A 2,103,329,0007T (ZBZ=4F : Bk
1,204,909,000 7% ) K 1% % & 5 49 7 1 930,000,000
T(ZEZ =4 $1850,000,0007T) » UA R
BEZRITERNBER 19993000 (ZE-_=F: &
122,088,000 %) MU ZAKFIEZ B EFRTERD
#1%298,633,0007T (ZBZ =% : #1323,697,000
7T DHAUEARTREREESM0.8%E 1.60%
(ZBEZZF:09%E1.25%) FIERENIEET R
BL100% (ZBZ =% : 100%) 2HE A REITEEF
KT B ERRRERTAGNREERFIERL5%

BRANENTEELS%ES540% (ZEZ=F : 45%
F6.57%)  BIEREEFBHNMEE30 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

AR e SRR MY 5

27. BRIEFRIA
MEBINGEMBRARMS > ETIEE
MEEERBEBEIKHE - UTHAMITE
BRER B 2 IRIERR IEAEER AT -

2024 2023

“ECmE “E-=E

HK$'000 HK$000

AT BT

Deferred tax assets BERBEE 29,034 20,809
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEEE (259,240) (297,691)
(230,206) (276,882)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the

current and prior years.

Difference of

UTFAREERAEERNEEEDRE
B IBELERIBLE (EE) WRHE
& o

Revaluation of
investment

accounting and properties
tax depreciation inthe PRC Tax losses Total

BEHERE Ef7EHE
mEZER ZIREME RIEGH st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$/000
BT BT T BETT BT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—H—H 53,537 286,294 (31,526) 308,305
Charge (credit) to profit or loss IR18zERPER (Gt A) 4,207 (21,848) (6,367) (24,008)
Currency realignment BB . (7,415) - (7,415)
At 31 December 2023 RZBE_=%+_A=+—H 57,744 257,031 (37,893) 276,882
Charge (credit) to profit or loss I8z R0 (Gt A) 4,418 (33,769) (12,369) (41,720)
Currency realignment ERAE - (4,956) - (4,956)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_NE+_"_B=+—H 62,162 218,306 (50,262) 230,206

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses of approximately HK$1,190,000,000 (2023:
HK$1,048,800,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$253,616,000 (2023: HK$229,655,000)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax loss of approximately
HK$936,384,000 (2023: HK$819,145,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2024 are tax losses of
approximately HK$106,730,000 (2023: HK$73,946,000) that
will expire within 5 years from the year of originating. Other tax

losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

RHREREBHFR xEBHBOBE
1,190,000,0007c( — & — = F£: &
#%1,048,800,0007T ) 2z KX & A 11 1B
BER AEIRERKRER c EPHNE
W 253,616,000 c( — T =ZF: B
229,655,0007T) ERRT AIRLERIEE
E o AR EEATERRFHEFRIE > HER
4B 936,384,000 T (ZE_=F : &
# 819,145,000t ) = i I8 &5 18 It >k F&
RAEERBEEE - R_E-_ME+=
B=+—B> > kBB RNEGEPEIEE
SEERIFERIPANMREBEROE
#106,730000 T (Z B =4F: B
73,946,0007%) o HAt#RIEES 189 RERIR
HiEEE T —FE o



27. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$94,052,000 (2023: HK$77,895,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$1,042,719,000 (2023:
HK$1,122,493,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

27. IREMIE (&)
REFETCEMBREZ BZSZTN\E
—B—H#E » PEMEA S BEUEF
k2B BEBMTAING - BNEAEHE
RESOIEH O E R E R 2 R > MAR
BREEREAE R RigRER > &
HARGEMBRRMPEHBATR
FiaH 2z TR E R A1 94,052,000 7T (=
T =4 : B¥77,8950007T) EHIEIE
MIEEME o

RIBERR > AEETIRINERERS

HB1£1,042,719000c(ZEZ=F: &

#£1,122,493,0007t) ° E %A R A 5E

FE R R 5 ) B LU 81 5% 5 mT 3 30 B B 1

EERE O RUEMZETBRINERERM
RIRIERIBE E ©

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. fg7s
Number
of shares HK$'000
RR%E BETT
Issued and fully paid: BRETRSERE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R-_E_=&—HF—H"
and 31 December 2024 —_E_=F5+”"B=+—Hk
“Z_mE+-A=+—H
Ordinary shares of no par EEEZZER 378,583,440 381,535
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company'’s share option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 April 2012, for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees, and expired on 24 April 2022. Under the
2012 Scheme, the Company could grant options to eligible
employees, including executive directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company at
HK$10 per option. Additionally, the Company could, from time
to time, grant share options to outside eligible third parties at
the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the
total number of shares in respect of which options could be
granted under the 2012 Scheme was not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.
The number of shares in respect of which options could be
granted to any individual was not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.

Options could be exercised at any time from the date of grant
of the share option to the 5th anniversary of the date of grant.
The exercise price was to be determined by the directors of
the Company, and would not be less than the higher of the
nominal value of the Company’s share on the date of grant, the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, or the closing price of
the shares on the date of grant.

No options were granted under the 2012 Scheme since it was
adopted. The 2012 Scheme expired on 24 April 2022.

AR e SRR MY 5

29. RRIpHAEETE

SATRENR _S——FEMNA-+AH
BRZ RABRRMRMD A (TS
— &3 TEENRABBEE
ERGERES  ZFtEERZETZ
FMNAZ+MBEER - REBE-_ZT—ZF
2 KA RAEERES (84X A
AIREMBATZNITES) IRHEARE
USRI B 10 TR B A AT RY ©
tEoh > KRB A REARR > HEES
MEREAEERINAE=FEHKHD
HARE o

ERERERATDRRELIAET » RIE
“E - REIEZ RMDEH
AEBHARRREMEFEEEITRG
210% > MEEAEN A LR EEZ
RNBEAFEBHAATREMEREE
BITIRIDZ 1% °

R 3 HR A T $B th B R B T 4F PO 4
BRI - TRBRAATNEEEE
MR A ATRA R R Ff -
BRI B RAAER R E 2R T
9 7 B 48 2 B 2 IR A I (B B
B o

ZE— T FETEE A LR E IR IR
HEf#gE . _E—"FHEN S -
OB _+HmHEm °



30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30. EEIEH
At the end of the reporting period, the assets shown as below RIREHAK » ZEEHBATE FRIE
were pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities made KR TFHIBEECIRIBFRIT > WERE
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available to the Group. EBRT—MIEITRE o
2024 2023
ZECmE “BCCE
HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Hotel land and building and other equipment BIE DRI F REMEE 468,678 493598
Leasehold land and buildings AL RIET 51,223 52,717
Investment properties KEY=E 4,520,251 4,781,625
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. BEXKIE
2024 2023
—E-mE —®-=
HK$000 HK$000
BETR BT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not BOBRRGEHERR LBEZ
provided in the consolidated financial BREY
statements in respect of:
— Property, plant and equipment/ - BERRE/REVE
investment properties 22,761 12,155
— Capital commitment to unlisted equity — LRSS E A
security - 20,317
32. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 32. RERLHKIE
THE GROUP AS LESSOR EEEALEAA
All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next FFEYXEZEEAH—FT+ENHEY
one to ten years (2023: next one to ten years). (ZB-=F . —FE+F) -
The Group as lessor had contracted with tenants for the ZNEBE{EALEEABIRUTRIRZETA
following future minimum lease payments: ST HBEBERTL
2024 2023
—ECmE -
HK$000 HK$'000
BRTR BT
Within one year —ER 232,771 269,325
In the second to fifth year inclusive REZZERFEA (BEERRE) 436,031 682,986
Over five years hER 1,490 7,452
670,292 959,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

For its eligible employees in Hong Kong, the Group operates
a defined contribution schemes registered under the MPF
Scheme.

Contributions payable by the Group to the MPF Scheme are
determined based on the rules underlying the respective
schemes and are charged to consolidated statement of profit
or loss. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employees contribute 5% of
the relevant payroll to the MPF Scheme while the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll to the MPF Scheme.

In addition, certain employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC are members of state-managed
retirement benefits schemes. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to these retirement
benefits schemes is to make the specified contributions.

AR e SRR MY 5

33. IBAREFE
FEBAEBZGERESERT —ER
EMRETE > WAERRE St T -

FEBRBEREE ZEBRURTE
HEERMZMHR > R EGASIRmRINR -
BETFEHEEAREAURETRE
# > RAEBZEEDHERE - RiIRHE
BEstE > BETABEAMABEMRS%
REBEEE A > MAEETFRZERM
BT ARSI 5% maaTas st EIHR

st > AEBERABERIIZBBARZ
ETEEABRREBERKRENE 2K
B -ZEMBARARENEETES
EE @ iR tRAB ) 5T &I /F (R - LU A
BER - AEEHZFRAEBANEEZ
ME—BETEHEE K -



34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 6 April 2023, Premium Reality Company Limited and Bliss
Alliance Global Limited, both indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company (collectively referred to as the “Purchasers”),
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Ascot Real
Estate Investments GP LLP, Aviva Life & Pensions UK Limited
and PSP Jessica Trustee Limited (collectively referred to as the
“Sellers”). Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the
Sellers agreed to sell, and the Purchasers agreed to purchase,
the entire interest of Barratt House Unit Trust, Barratt House
Nominee 1 Limited and Barratt House Nominee 2 Limited
(collectively referred to as the “Subsidiaries”), which holds the
legal ownership of the property situated at Barratt House,
341-349 Oxford Street, London W1, UK at a consideration of
Great British Pound 44,000,520 (equivalent to approximately
HK$426,805,000).

On 6 April 2023, completion of the acquisition had taken
place immediately following the entering into of the sale and
purchase agreement. Upon completion, the Company, through
the Purchasers, hold 100% equity interest in the Subsidiaries.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in
accordance with HKFRS 3 and considered the property as a
single identifiable asset. Consequently, the Group determined
that substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
(excluding cash and cash equivalents) acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset and concluded that the acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RECOGNISED AT THE DATE OF
ACQUISITION

34. BB AT
MRZZBEZ=FMANRB > xAFRBESE
& Mt B A T Premium Reality Company
Limited 5z Bliss Alliance Global Limited
(# %8 AT & 7 1) B Ascot Real Estate
Investments GP LLP, Aviva Life &
Pensions UK Limited £2 PSP Jessica
Trustee Limited (48 f8 A T & 75 1) 5T 1L
BEEmZ - REEEHZ  BEHRAEH
£ B 5 [@ B # B Barratt House Unit
Trust ~ Barratt House Nominee 1 Limited
# Barratt House Nominee 2 Limited
(BTNEBAR) NEE#ERE > U
B HEE e BWLH 2 #341-349
3% Barratt House ¥ 2 W A & £ # >
18 744,000,520 3% % (18 & ¢ 49 8 1
426,805,0007T) ©

—ZE-FMANH > AR EEHR
& WIS RZTHE > &R
BEBE A B AT 100% FIARHE

FEREZERIFFBM B HREERE 358
FERAEEMEEDRIE > LERAME - K
B R R EHAR —THR A B & - R
FEBBERENEEE (FEEREM
REFEER) WEFREATEERE
PE—HARREETR > LT HERD
7 WRREBNEERR —BER

FUWBBAHINEENMAR

HK$000
BT
Investment property REYE 425,248
Other receivables HEW 2,723
Cash and cash equivalents BEMREEEER 1519
Other payables HER (2,685)
426,805

Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of subsidiaries: WEMBAREENRS R34 .
Consideration paid in cash MREZANRE 426,805
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B SRITERREEHRE (1,519)
425,286
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net cash, which
includes the borrowings, net of bank deposits and cash, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

AR e SRR MY 5

35. EXEBERE
AEBHESAETEER ) UBRREAE
EETSERITEERFESERER
S ARMNNERHEARAZHERT
> ARRBREKRLOHR KAEEZE
FEsRmRE A FE M mE L o

FEEZENEBRPRE (BEER
HRIRITERKRIRE) RAEABRREMS
e (BREERTREREIRMHRF) M

EABDEFREMRABELER - (FR1R
ANZ—87 EFEREAMARBIL
EEZHBARR RIFEESZERZ > &
ERREBZARE - BITHMRURE
THEENEORAEEES SN TEHA
EREBELREE -

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. M T H
36A. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6A. R TEDE
2024 2023
—ZomE —E°=
HK$'000 HK$000
BETT BETT
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATBESABRZEHEE 15,065 14,732
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATBEHARMZEKGEZEGZTE 234,525 272,456
Financial assets at amortised cost DM A ARNEREE 2,717,834 1,720,235
Derivatives financial instruments fTEsmIA 2,001 -
Financial liabilities ERERE
Amortised cost BIHR 3,888,455 2,939,876
36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36B. A EEBREREER
POLICIES

Details of the Group’s major financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), liquidity risk, and credit risk and impairment
assessment. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

ZEETMITAZFBNRESAERMEAR
E-AnFERIABMZAREED
SRR (EERRE - P REREREER
)~ RBETRERE - FEEREREE
fh o AR AREZET AR ZBERET!
T EEENZSARETEERE
o URRENRFAENERSERNE
Jitt



36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk

(i)  Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in

foreign currencies and, hence exposures to exchange rate

fluctuations arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities, including intra-group balances at the end of
the reporting period that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant entities are as

36. M T A (&)
36B. R EIEEERIBE ()

T 35 B

(i) BEmEE
FEEERENRZEUINEEIT > i
NERERKBTE -

REREHR > ZEBLERERIES
BLUONIEBZEBEEREBAE &
EEEQBERGHRAAREENT ¢

follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-mE —BocE —EomE k- St 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BETT
Group - c]|
HK$ against RMB BEIARE 378 297 - -
JPY against HK$ HERHE 42,720 73,297 - -
AUD against HK$ pickizg e it 30,805 26,921 - -
US$ against HK$ ETRBE 967,788 225,403 - -
RMB against HK$ AREBR B 110,537 477,964 19,993 -
Intra-group balances SEATERELR
HK$ against RMB BEIARE 100,119 102,306 1,138,869 1,206,307
THB against HK$ IR B 121,266 122,285 - -
GBP against HK$ HER A 467,634 469,332 - -

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arises.

Z< 5 [ B A 3 % S BE ¥R ELER o AT
EEBEERMENINERR > 7EE
BEREREERPEEINERREKIR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 1%

(2023: 1%) increase and decrease in HK$ against US$ and 10%

(2023: 10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against JPY, RMB,

THB and GBP. The respective percentages are the sensitivity

rates used when reporting foreign currency risk internally

to key management personnel and represent management’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign

exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding

foreign currency denominated monetary items and also intra-

group balances denominated in foreign currencies and adjusts

their translation at the year end for the respective percentages

change in the exchange rates.

A positive number below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss
or increase in equity where HK$ weaken 1% (2023: 1%) against
US$ and HK$ weaken 10% (2023: 10%) against JPY, RMB, THB
and GBP. For a 1% (2023: 1%) strengthening of the HK$ against
US$ and HK$ strengthening 10% (2023: 10%) against RMB,
THB and GBP, there would be an equal and opposite impact on

AR e SRR MY 5

36. M T A (8])
36B. HZEIGEREEREE (8)

hi5E B (48)

(i) EMmEE (&)

BRE D
TREFSETEEHBERETEER LFH
RTEI% (T2 =5 1%) U KRB
THE - AR~ RHMAEFHEEE FF
B TE10% (ZBZ=4F : 10%) B8
E - EEARLEBRERATIRNETEERE
ANBERSFFANBRELE ) KT
CEEHEXRTRENENEENES
BT o MR E DT EFBUNMEEN
KEHEREERUIIMETIENERR
BERER TMEEXZENE ALK
BEFRAE o

TRAEHRTABERETRELIS (Z
TT=F 1 1%) RRHE - AR Tk
MEFEEZEI0% (ZFTEZ=4F . 10%) B
mA T RIE I o BB RETHE L%
(:7__¢ 1%) RS AR ~ REEM
HEEAEION (ZZZ=4F: 10%) & >

the profit or equity, and the balances below would be negative. A eSS A RREEHER S MmN
2, mMTryGengEaseo
2024 2023
“E-mE St
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Profit or loss 183
HK$ against RMB AERARE (32) (25)
US$ against HK$ %ﬁh}%m 7,747 1,337
AUD against HK$ R B 2,572 2,248
RMB against HK$ ARERBE 7,560 39,910
JPY against HK$ HERBE 3,567 6,120
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 miks
HK$ against RMB BEIARE 103,875 110,400
US$ against HK$ ETRBE 400 652
THB against HK$ RFR B 12,127 12,229
GBP against HK$ HER B 46,763 46,933

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the

year.

REEEENER  SRESHHESR
HYSNEE JE B M A B AR M - B2 F 48K
ZHYE BRI A R AR Z YRR ©



36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows

of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes

in market interest rates. The Group currently does not have

an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management

monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging

significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate fixed perpetual capital securities, bank deposits,
lease liabilities and borrowings. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its variable-rate bank
balances and borrowings. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly attributable to fluctuation of HIBOR and prevailing
interest rates offered by the PBOC and MLR. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rates of interest so
as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s
exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in
the liquidity risk management section of this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on

the exposure to interest rates for the Group’s derivative and

non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period.

The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments

outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding

for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points)

fluctuation is used when reporting interest rate risk internally

to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

AR e SRR MY 5
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(ii) FIEREfE (&)

BRED
TXHHEREDRHREBEAEERITE
RIIETTETAERTHRERZNFIEXR
REE c MUESMRBERINBEHREK
BN EMTAEEERFRMKREISHA - A
BHTEEEASERANEREREAL
S0 FEMMNEE(ZZT =4 . 50%
T KRBEBHAXRESIERENE
EREsHaIETE o

2024

2023

—ECmE —EocE
Change in basis points Change in basis points
HEEH
+50 -50 +50 -50
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT BT BT
Profit or loss (net of tax) e (FRE) (5,629) 5,629 (5,995) 5,995
Numbers in bracket mean decrease in profit or increase in loss. R B AR o

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its

investments in listed equity securities measured at FVTPL

and FVTOCI, and perpetual capital securities measured at

FVTOCI. For equity securities measured at FVTPL quoted in

the Stock Exchange, the management manages this exposure

by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different

risks. In addition, the Group also invested in certain listed

equity securities and unquoted equity securities for long term

strategic purposes which had been designated as FVTOCI.

The management will closely monitor the price movement of

the securities and regularly review the performance and asset

allocation of the portfolio.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective listed equity instruments and
perpetual capital securities had been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/

lower:

e the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December
2024 would decrease by approximately HK$1,507,000
(2023: post-tax loss would decrease by approximately
HK$1,473,000) or increase by approximately
HK$1,507,000 (2023: post-tax loss would increase by
approximately HK$1,473,000), respectively, as a result
of the changes in fair value of listed equity securities
classified as financial assets at FVTPL; and

e the Group’s investment revaluation reserve would increase
by approximately HK$2,346,000 (2023: HK$4,534,000)
or decrease by approximately HK$2,346,000 (2023:
HK$4,534,000), respectively, as a result of changes in
fair value of listed equity securities and perpetual capital
securities measured at FVTOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate

by the management to finance its operations and mitigate the

effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors

the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with

loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had available
unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately HK$223,707,000
(2023: HK$1,391,510,000). Details of the amounts utilised at
the end of the reporting period are set out in note 26.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on the
contractual maturities of the undiscounted financial liabilities
and lease liabilities including interest that will accrue, with
reference to their respective contractual interest rate, and
for those variable-rate instruments, by using the appropriate
prevailing market rates at the end of the reporting period as
stated in their contracts.

AR e SRR MY 5
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TERRDESREE > AEEEER
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7 1£1,391,510,000 7T ) © 7 ¥R & HA R 45
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36. M T A (&)
36B. R EIEEERIBE ()

Liquidity risk (Continued) RENE & A (48)
Within More than Total
Weighted 1yearor 1year but undiscounted
average repayable less than More than financial Carrying
interest rate on demand 5years 5years liabilities amounts
—FR —EBE KRR
MERETFIE EEXEE IFEAEE LFEEE SHEGFEEE IR {E
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000
AT BT BT T BETT BT
2024 —E_mE
Non-derivative financial liabilities  JE(TESRIEE
and lease liabilities RiEaR
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENIRIE - 437594 89,294 - 526,888 526,888
Lease liabilities HEaRE 5.90 5,784 1,016 - 6,800 6,568
Bank borrowings (note) RITIAR (3T 567 1,099,691 2469946 106,311 3,675,948 3,351,955
Amounts due to non-controlling FE(IIEEEIRAR R
shareholders - 9,612 - - 9,612 9,612
Total b 1,552,681 2560256 106,311 4,219,248 3,895,023
2023 —E-=
Non-derivative financial liabilities  JEfTE &SRB R
and lease liabilities RHEE&R
Trade and other payables B REMEMIRE - 426,634 109,890 - 536524 536,524
Lease liabilities HEaE 494 1,187 744 - 1,931 1,853
Bank borrowings (note) RIT1ET (MIsE) 625 1885436 623733 160,640 2,669,809 2,400,694
Amounts due to non-controlling FE(IIEEIRAR R
shareholders - 2,658 - - 2,658 2,658
Total ] 2,315,915 734,367 160,640 3,210,922 2,941,729
note:  The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are subject to change if ~ F3f : st AETAESREBEIETIAZSE  BREH

changes in variable interest rates differ from those estimates of interest rates determined at

the end of the reporting period.

HEzE@HRARREBHEEAREZ M HIRET
BEER(FHES -

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “within 1 year or repayable on demand” time band in
the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2024, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$930,000,000 (2023: HK$850,000,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the
Company believe that such bank loans will be repaid within one
year after the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
and the total undiscounted cash outflows amounted to
HK$984,351,000 (2023: HK$903,827,000).

ERFIEADIT T - HEREERIRRVER
TEROEE TREXZ—FEREE K
e RZE_MFE+_A=+—H  Z%F
$R1TE BV AR AR ZE 4 1 930,000,000
7T (ZZE =4 | #1 850,000,000 7T) ©
ZRINEENMERT  EFMRAER
TARKROIRETHEEMNEREERIBMER o
AABEFHEE > ZFRITERRERR
EHRE—ERNRBERGEFAEZTE
EEMBHEE  RMENREREL
XE 7478 1 984,351,000 T (B - =
71 903,827,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties

default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial

losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are

primarily attributable to trade receivables, leases receivables,

deposits paid and other receivables, loans advanced to joint

ventures and bank deposits. The Group does not hold any

collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks

associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables and lease receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 23% (2023:
29%) and 68% (2023: 66%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the trading and manufacturing
business segment.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group also has policies in place to ensure
the new customers/tenants are with sound credit quality.

In addition, the Group performs ECL assessment on debtors
with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired
individually. The remaining debtors are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration of grouping of internal
credit rating by reference to past due information and relevant
credit information, and forward-looking macroeconomic
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Deposits paid and other receivables

The management of the Group regularly review and assess

the credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12m

ECL to assess the loss allowance of deposits paid and other

receivables since these amounts are neither past due nor with

fixed repayment terms, and there has not been a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In this regard, the

directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk

is not significant.

Loans advanced to joint ventures

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of
joint ventures. The Group’s credit risks in these balances are
mitigated through the value of the assets held by these entities
and the power to jointly control the relevant activities of these
entities. The management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition.
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for loans advanced to joint ventures are
insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

Bank balances (including fixed bank deposits)

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the
Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

36. M T A (8])
36B. MFERIEEIEEERKE (&)
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal credit rating

Description

15 & b Be iRt B 5F 1d (48)
FEBNASEERRTREEUATS

8.

Trade and lease receivables

Other financial assets

PEEETR it B 5% R GREKERTR HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have  Lifetime ECL — 12mECL
any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
BERE HFEANENRRE  BUREMAHTRE RHREEHE- 1LEREBEESE
I REEHE
Watch list Debtor usually settle after due date Lifetime ECL — 12mECL
not credit-impaired
BERYE BHEARERARGRES RBREEHE- 1LEREBEESE
IREEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
initial recognition through information developed internally not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
or external resources
fed ! FEREEZEBRNIIMERRZINERNERIENR 2HEREESE- 2URBEESERE
1 IREEHE IREGHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
B ETEEAREENENER LURBEESE- 2BEBEERE-
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount iswrittenoff ~ Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
e BTEBAERREMBERENEE  BEXAERIRERK  SEKEME EEERMSHE

[EIBYATAE



36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

36. M T A (&)
36B. R EIEEERIBE ()

15 & b B R B 5F 14 (48)
TRFVFEEEHEEEHNEER
b2 - AR TRAAE B RHEREE

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
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financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

2024 2023
ZECmE It St 3
Notes  External credit rating Internal rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
Wi SMMEETS LERE 12{ER 2 HRBEEEE IR BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BBTR AETT AETT BETR
Financial assets at amortised cost
NEHREARNEREE
Trade receivables and 21 N/A (note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 13,635 16,320
lease receivables TR (z2) SHRSEEHE (Ba)
BERERIRT R N/A Lowrisk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 23,339 21,263
RERK TR REkR 2HBHEEEE (Bh5TM)
N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 2,043 39,017 345 37,928
TER BREE 2 ETREE SRS (ERTE)
Deposits paid and other N/A (note 1) 12mECL
receivables TER (FfzE2) LERBHEESE
EfffREEM
At EMERT 85,816 70494
Loans advanced to N/A (note 1) 12mECL
joint ventures TER (K1) LERBEHEESE
BRFRELE 366,435 409,756
Bank balances AaltoAal N/A 12mECL 1,168,846 349,157
RITEER AalZEAa3  FER R2ERTEHEERER
AltoA3 N/A 12mECL 1,047,423 827,691
A1ZA3 REH R2ERTEHEERER
BaaltoBaa3  N/A 12mECL 9,755 2,226,024 24697 1,201,545
BaalEBaad A 2R EHEEHE
notes: MizE
1 For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information 1. MABCEEREEENS 2EEFERAER TG

to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

FERREEBMRREIE-EAELT

Not past due/No fixed repayment terms

EBH BEIEERIER
2024 2023
—E-mE —E°=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT
Deposits paid and other receivables BYfrEEMEMREKERT 75,029 70,494
Loans advanced to joint ventures BYFRELE 366,435 409,756

BEHSE &= | E@ﬂﬂﬁ%@ﬂﬁ%ﬁg
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
36B. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
notes: (Continued)

36.
36B.

=58

ERNE

ERMIA (&)
MBRAREEBEREE (8)

glﬁ&ﬁ{ﬁﬁiﬂt(ﬁé)

2. For trade and lease receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approachin 2. HEZRAERKRNMES » REFBMBREED
accordance with HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors Fo% AEBAERBCH 22 HEHEESE
with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the expected HEBEE REARGFEHAGERAENEEA
credit losses on those balances by using a collective assessment, grouped by internal credit Sh o REBFERASTEEEUNSNEETRIEN
rating. ZERBNEREESE
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating EAFEENEERAREREZ -39 AEBAHE
for its customers. The following table provides information about the exposure to credit FEARBEETE TREMEHEZRKERR
risk for trade receivables and leases receivables which are assessed based on collective HERKIRSEERRNER  ZEERRUERR
assessment within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). As at 31 December 2024, debtors RAERURRAREZNERCEESERANAES
with significant outstanding balances with gross carrying amount of HK$25,382,000 (2023: (G REERE) FHFH - RITZWESZ
HK$21,608,000) was assessed individually. B+ HEBEAKRGEEHRREREEABE

25,382,00075 (ZEZ=1 . #121,608,0007T) BfE
BANEERTM -
Gross carrying amount HMEREE
Trade receivables
B R REARR:
2024 2023
—FomE b
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Internal credit rating RIS TR
Low risk BERE 6,064 7,186
Watch list BRRE 4,650 6,629
Doubtful =5 2,921 2,505
13,635 16,320
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over HHEEEDERNERAREREHNBERERS
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is MENXMG TRBETEBSHALZHAINE
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management WREMERAE  DENHEEETHEZ » UE
to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated. No loss allowance was REREEEHEANEREREUER HNEER
recognised in the profit or loss as the management considers the amount is immaterial. DASELIREA » I BN BRRDEEERE
36C.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 6C EMTHAATEENE
INSTRUMENTS

Fair value measurements and valuation processes AFEENEMHERE

The management performs regular reviews to determine the EEBHE{TEHBERURTESENGE

appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value FMAAFEBET=HIEHAZIE o

measurement.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group HEAFtEEHEEN AT EBER » K&

uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where ERuJfEERATIEURREHIE - (HES

Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages independent —4RBIEA B > AEBMBRBIIST

qualified professional valuers or other service providers to REZ(G(EME RIS HERIEIT

perform the valuations. The management works closely withthe B BIEEEGEMBRSE > Af4E

valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and EXEIZISEMNGELSMNEAEE o

inputs to the model. The management reports the findings to EIEETEHRAATSESSREHESLER

the Board of Directors of the Company regularly to explain the fREESENEGEATEERENERE -

cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.



36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36C. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (Continued)

36. AT A (48)
36CEMTHAAFEEE (8)

AFEEFEMGKERE (8)
TYREEMARECZEETREERK
BENRATEENGES ERE A
&R o
TEEBIETHEEREHREBEURR
SFHERNRATEESZE - TRIEHERM
following table gives information about how the fair values of ZREBEEZ AFEBEEARNEL (BEE
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation = BMEERERIXANBEAZE)
technique(s) and inputs used).

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
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in determining the fair value of various financial assets and

liabilities is disclosed below.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The

2024
—E-mE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1R5 BZRR B4R ]
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETR BT BETR
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEEABEZ
EREE
Listed equity securities EHRAES 15,065 - - 15,065
Equity instrumentsat FVTOCI ¥ AT(EE AR
PENEZESTIR
Listed equity securities FHRARES 247 - - 247
Unlisted equity securities JELHRRAES - - 211,067 211,067
Perpetual capital securities HEIREAE RS - 23,211 - 23,211
Total e 15,312 23,211 211,067 249,590
2023
—F°=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4R | BZRR 488
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BT AT AT AT
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEEHABRZZ
EHEE
Listed equity securities LR EES 14,732 - - 14,732
Equity instruments at FVTOCI  BATEE AHf
PEWEZEETR
Listed equity securities LR EES 227 - - 227
Unlisted equity securities FLEHmRAES - - 227,113 227,113
Perpetual capital securities ERAERES - 45,116 - 45116
Total T 14,959 45,116 227,113 287,188

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the

year.

FR>E— BREFZRANZEHE

LEEES -

LEHRAESFHSEEEBARXZPAFS
MRS ARTEEABEE QA FEE -

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices from relevant stock
exchanges.

BExEs@m_-&= | E‘G/ﬂﬂﬁ%@ﬂﬁ%ﬁg
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
36C. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes (Continued)
The fair values of perpetual capital securities are determined
based on indicative prices provided by the dealers and brokers.
In addition, the Group makes comparison of the indicative
prices with the prices obtained from pricing services providers
to substantiate the indicative prices of these securities. The
key inputs used in the valuation models are the interest rate
data, which are observable at the end of the reporting period.
The objective of valuation models is to arrive at a fair value
estimation that reflects the price of the financial instrument
at the reporting date, which would have been determined by
market participants acting at arm’s length.

The fair values of unlisted equity securities are determined with
reference to market values of underlying assets, which mainly
comprise investment properties located in Hong Kong held by
the investees and take into account the discount for lack of
marketability. The valuation of the properties was principally
arrived at using the comparison method, in which property is
valued on the assumption that the property can be sold with
the benefit of vacant possession. Comparison based on prices
realised on actual sales of comparable properties is made for

similar properties in the similar location.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of the Group’s other financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised costs in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets

AR e SRR MY 5

36. R T A (48)
36CEMTAAFEEE (8)

ATFEEFEMEERE (8)
BEAFTHHERBENERPERRS
B A FEEREE R RAEL AR MH
BUIERMEERERE o IL5h > ZEERIE
THERRATEERBHERF LES
FIERINMULEE » UL KA BSESFH
BETRMEEREMIRE - HERINE
ERABHBFNRYE  ZHBEERS
HARBF AT VR A - EREANER
RENARMEMTAETRSAHED
B2REURATEBHRSERNATE
BfEE -

EBEFLDTREAESHNATEERESS
HREENTISEE  TEREMRRE
ABFANEBEREMENTIRER
REBHERZHIGEMEL TN - Y%
HETEZERLEREL  BRZIMERS
HEBMMFHBYEMLE - ERER
BEAR LMY EARUNYEREEUN
UEBRNERHEEERME -

FABZEERREERARGEMBR
KALUBHERESARNEMEREER
TRBEZIREEREQTEERES -

THMEEF=RNATEFENHLR

Equity

instruments

at FVTOCI

ROTREHA

Hitn2mE iz

ZHHEIEA

HK$000

BT

Balance at 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—F—H%& 233,966
Total net losses recognised in other comprehensiveincome  REfMZ EkE AR 235518 (6,853)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+"R=+—H%& 227,113
Total net losses recognised in other comprehensiveincome  REMZ2 EkE AR 2 25518 (16,046)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZE_NE+_"_B=1+—H%H 211,067




36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

36C. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of

financial assets (continued)

Included in other comprehensive income is loss of

approximately HK$16,046,000 (2023: HK$6,853,000) related

to unlisted equity instruments at FVTOCI held at the end of the

reporting period.

The majority of the Group’s investments are valued based on
quoted market information or observable market data. A small
percentage, 1.4% (2023: 1.5%), of total assets of the Group, is
based on estimates and recorded as financial assets with Level
3 fair value measurements. Whilst such valuations are sensitive
to estimates, it is believed that changing one or more of the
assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions
would not have a big impact on the Group’s financial positions.

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in

36. M T A (&)
36C. ERMTHEAATEENE (8)

EHMEEF=RNATEHSENALE
(48)
Hth2mutam N e 1E40 88 16,046,000
THER(ZE =4 #%6,853,000
7o) BN R EHEGEEHRENRAT
EBETAHEMEZEREZIFELTEET
BER -

NEBMAIBONIEERRIERETIZE
ERAEHERNTHBBRETHEEN - &
REBRBRBENR/NEG 1.4% (ZFEZ=
F115%)  WIREBEAEEE=RFIKE
EERAR - ILEEH G BRIZEER
ﬁ’ﬁ#—ﬁiy@ﬁ RESEFER
EENAERRE  HETFTEHAER
w&&#ﬁmmik%go

37. MEGFBHEENARZHIR

TREFHETAEEREZHEENER
2t BiEREMIFRESEE  MEEF
HEENERRMLERERE » KRR
NIRERE > BEXEENESRER

(2]

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows &XTPHWDIEAMZ EENIRER o
from financing activities.
Lease Dividend Interest

Borrowings liabilities payable payable Total
f&m HEARH RS EfFS ekl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BETR BETR
At1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HF—H 2,208,320 2,504 - 7018 2217842
Financing cash flows HERSR 191,780 (2,817) (117,361) (133,744) (62,142)
Finance costs MR - 67 - 136978 137045
New lease entered ERE - 2122 - - 2122
Dividends recognised as distribution ERRANRKZKE - - 117,361 - 117,361
Currency realignment ExpE 3,252 (23) - - 3229
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZF+ZA=+—H 2403352 1,853 - 10252 2415457
Financing cash flows RERER 960,111 (5209)  (106,003) (192636 656,263
Finance costs HBRA - 444 - 189,719 190,163
New lease entered HE - 9,482 - - 9,482
Dividends recognised as distribution ERRANRKZKE - - 106,003 - 106,003
Currency realignment EXxRE (1,896) (2) - - (1,898)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=+—H 3,361,567 6,568 - 7335 3,375,470
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

38. ZABMBIR AR HE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
“E-ME o=
HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties REYE 2,152,000 2,257,900
Property, plant and equipment M BEREE 488,324 496,532
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 6,405 1,769
Investments in subsidiaries MEBARZEE 1,191,455 1,003,716
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATBEAAHMZEKGEZEGZTE 42,455 67,707
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW B AR ERR 5,319,275 5,245724
Deferred tax assets RLERIBEE 29,034 20,809
9,228,948 9.094,157
Current assets REEE
Properties held for sale FHEME 2,808 2,808
Trade and other receivables B 5 REfREERTR 50,390 4910
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEBESABRZEHEE 15,065 14,732
Fixed bank deposits with more than BFEAZEB %I EHARITEM
three months to maturity when raised 7,516 26,877
Derivative financial instruments fTEEmIA 2,001 -
Cash and cash equivalents RTEIRERS 1,433,093 736,843
1,510,873 786,170
Current liabilities pi =L
Trade and other payables B 5 REMETRR 13,537 21,184
Lease liabilities HEaE 5,561 1,052
Borrowings — due within one year ER — R—EREIH 1,186,998 1,747,680
1,206,096 1,769,916
Net current assets (liabilities) REEE (Bf) 38 304,777 (983,746)
Total assets less current liabilities wEERRBER 9,533,725 8,110,411
Non-current liabilities E| ik =N
Other payables HAnRE IR 40,280 42,790
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,007 731
Borrowings — due after one year R~ R—EREH 1,846,331 307,228
Non-interest bearing advances from subsidiaries ~ HiB AT 2 % S &% 335,046 339,731
2,222,664 690,480
7,311,061 7419931
Capital and reserves BXRfHE
Share capital Rz 381,535 381,535
Reserves fitfe 6,929,526 7,038,396
7,311,061 7,419,931

N
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The financial statements were approved and authorised for BIFEHEREN _E_HFF=A+=H%E
issue by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2025 and are EZEEEHIERIE#RT > YHTIAL

signed on its behalf by: RKREE .
CHAIRMAN AND CHAIRMAN OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AUDIT COMMITTEE
FERITEER BRZEZEEETE
MR.LIU LIT CHI MR. CHENG YUK WO

ERERE EEAEE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. ZATFMBRARKEHE () 8
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) E
MOVEMENT IN THE COMPANY’S RESERVES i/ NSKE L A §
Property Investment =
revaluation revaluation Accumulated g
reserve reserve profits Total ﬁ
MEELGHE REEHEHE REET st ;
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT BT AT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—H—H 448 (52,994) 7,521,841 7,469,295
Loss for the year KEEEE - - (317,706) (317,706)
Fair value gain on investments in RATEEAHMZERE
equity instruments at FVTOCI ZERTAZ A TEERF - 4,168 = 4,168
Total comprehensive income AEE2ENE () 8%
(expense) for the year - 4,168 (317,706) (313,538)
Dividends recognised as distribution BERRANTKZKE = - (117,361) (117,361)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE_=&+"B=1+—H 448 (48,826) 7,086,774 7,038,396
Loss for the year EEEFBR - - (1,015) (1,015)
Fair value loss on investments in RATEES AEthEEiE
equity instruments at FVTOCI ZRGETAZ AT EESE - (1,852) - (1,852)
Total comprehensive expense for rEEEELHELE
the year - (1,852) (1,015) (2,867)
Investment revaluation reserve BATEEFAHMZERE
reclassified to accumulated profits 2 HEIRHIB AEHRE
upon redemption of perpetual BN BRERNENZ
capital securities at FVTOC KEEMHE = 59 (59) -
Dividends recognised as distribution BEHERADKZEE - - (106,003) (106,003)
At 31 December 2024 W=Z-mE+=B=+-A 448 (50619) 6979697 692952
39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 39. FABATIEEIE
(A) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (A) BAEBtALEZ S
2024 2023
ZEMmE —Z-=
HK$'000 HK$000
AT BT
Expense paid and payable to directors of the ERY IR AAARDESR
Company or its affiliates HEAM AT
Rental expenses HER 4,024 -
The Group had no other material significant transactions with <& B EBIRHA A TETIIEAIS ©

related parties.

(B) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENTPERSONNEL (B) X EEIEASME

The emoluments of key management personnel of the Group FR > ZXEFETESIEAESZHMMNOT
during the year were as follows:

2024 2023
ot Sl -g-=

HK$000 HK$000

BETT BT

Short-term benefits FaHAER 58,773 53,679

Post-employment benefits BERAKEF 3,931 3,663

62,704 57,342
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The emoluments of directors and key executives are ZEEZERFEITHAEZEHMHHEFMNES
SEREARRRTISERERE °

determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B 7 R &R MY 5%

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

40. FEMBAR

AZE-—mE+-B=+—HAK_T
—=&#+ZB=+—8>FxATZTE

MEBABERIT :
Place of Issued
incorporation or ordinary
establishment/ share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiary Notes operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
B3 AT BRITLE FAFREERTREIEE/
WBAREE Wt M S B/ sREE ERES 2R TEEH
Directly Indirectly
Big it
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE  -E-=F IECmE CTC=F
% % % %
Abaleen Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 100 - - Propertyinvestment
s 7£100,0007T WERE
Alain Limited Hong Kong HK$9,500 100 100 - - Investment holding
HERRAF & 19,5007 REER
Bonsun Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100 100 - - Property investment
BSLEERAA &# #9507 MERE
Bright Ocean Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - 100 100  Food and beverage
& 1100007 Bt
Chong Yip Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 100 - - Money lending
RIEBBERRAT &# 71 1,0000007C BREH
Chong Yip (Nominees) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - - Provision of nominees
services
8% () BIRAF &# BT R ARE
Devon Realty Limited Hong Kong HK$200 100 100 = - Propertyinvestment
EEMEBRAT & B 2007T MERE
Donington Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200 100 100 - - Property investment
& A 2007T ES
Global Access Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
&# BT REER
Golden Harbour International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100 Property investment
BEEIRERAE &E AT ES
Harvest Gate Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 = - Propertyinvestment
SERERRAT &# BT MERE
Heng Kin Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 - - Property investment
HEEERRAR & BT ES
Honour Speed Development Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 - - Investment holding
BEREERAT & B 1007T REER
Hugh Glory Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - - 90 90  Investment holding
BEARAH & A 1007T REER



40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

40. FEME AT (8)

Place of Issued
incorporation or ordinary
establishment/ share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiary Notes operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
RS BRITLE FAFREERTREEE/
WBAREE Wi Mt EE s/ sMEE EMEF 2L TEER
Directly Indirectly
Hig it
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEomE  CECZ= ZEomE  CEC=
% % % %
Hugh Wealth International Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 - - Investment holding
BBERERAR &4 11007t REER
Jacot Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 - - Investment holding
EBBRAR &# BT REER
Joyce King Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
FHEERAR EA BT REER
Ko Yew Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200 100 100 - - Property investment
BEERAT &# 1 2007T WERE
Liu Chong Hing Estate Company, Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
BRIEEXERAR & #110,0000007 RELR
Liu Chong Hing Godown Hong Kong HK$72,000,000 100 100 - - Propertyinvestment
Company, Limited
BRIEAGRERAR &E 7#172,0000007% MERE
Liu Chong Hing Property Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 100 = - Property management
Management and Agency Limited
BRIBYMEEERRERRAR B 1 1,000,0007 MEER
Luxpolar Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - - 100 100 Property investment
BB BT S
Noble Wealth Venture Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Hi# BT RERER
One-Eight-One Hospitality Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100 Investment holding
Management Limited
&# BT REER
One-Eight-One Lobby Café Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 - - Foodand beverage
&E #110,0007 &t
Queen Profit International Hong Kong HK$61,540 83.75 83.75 - - Investment holding
Investment Limited
HRERRERRAR &E 615407 REER
Richview Property Management Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - 100 100  Property management
Company Limited
ERMEEEERAR &4 110,000 WEEE
Royal Best Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
EERERRAT &E BT REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #4

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

40. X EMEB AT (4)

=]
TN

BB WK

Place of Issued
incorporation or ordinary
establishment/ share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiary Notes operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
B3 AT BRITLE FAFREERTREEE/
WBAREE Wi M EE s/ &R EMEF 2L TEER
Directly Indirectly
HiE it
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE  CZCZ= ZEomE  CZZ=
% % % %
Sino Pink Development Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 - - Hotel operation
ERERERAR &4 BT BESE
Speed World Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - - 100 100  Investment holding
ERERERRAR &# B 1007T REER
Strong Zone International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
BHERERAR &4 BT REER
Supreme Stone Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100  Investment holding
HEREERAT &i# BT REER
Top New Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - - 90 90  Investment holding
MERERRAR &4 B 1007T REER
Top Team Limited Hong Kong HK$200 100 100 - - Investment holding
& 2007t RERR
Trade Castle Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100 Investment holding
BRARAR &A BT REER
Trend Able Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100 Investment holding
ERREBRAT &E BT REER
Wealth Bond Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100 Investment holding
& BT REER
Wealth Good Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 - - Investment holding
BHEEBRAT &# BT RERR
Yue Tung Ching Kee Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100 100 - - Property investment
BRETERAE & 712,000,00070 E
Foshan Nanhai Hugh Glory Property (i) PRC HK$500,000,000 - - 90 90  Property development
Development Company Limited
HLEEEEENELRERAD HE 71 500,000,007 MEER
Foshan Top New Property (i) PRC HK$612,500,000 - - 90 90  Property development
Development Company Limited
BUHHERNEREERAT HE 71 612,500,000 7 S
Guangzhou Trade Castle Property (i) PRC HK$8,500,000 - - 100 100 Property investment
Consultancy Limited
BMHEREHEAAERAR HE 71 8,500,00070 MERE
Guangzhou Wealth Smart Property (i) PRC HK$1,000,000 - - 100 100 Property management
Management Company Limited
ENTRHNEEERRAT HE #11,000,0007 MEER



40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

40. FEME AT (8)

Place of Issued
incorporation or ordinary
establishment/ share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
Name of subsidiary Notes operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR BRITLE FAFREERTREEE/
WEAR &R Wi Mt EE s/ &R EMEF 2L TEER
Directly Indirectly
g
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEomE C3I= ZEomE  C3C=
% % % %
Maanshan Gaoke Magnetic Material (i) PRC RMB65,370,000 - - 51.54 5154 Manufacturing of
Company Limited magnetic materials
BRIBHEMEMRERAT HE AR#65,370,0007 SUEHE AR
Shanghai Huang Pu Liu Chong Hing (i) PRC US$34,600,000 - - 100 100  Property investment
Property Development Company
Limited
LEEHE A E i E R HE 34,600,000 %7t MERE
BRAH
Choengmon Real Estate Company Thailand THB400,100,000 - - 100 100  Hotel operation
Limited
el 400,100,000 % BEEE
Eagle Venture General Partners UK GBP100 - - 100 100  Investment holding
Limited
HE 10058 REER
Barratt House Unit Trust Jersey GBP56,093,489 - - 100 100 Property investment
ERS 56,093,489 Hi{ S
Bliss Alliance Company Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - - 100 100  Investment holding
HEREYHE S REER
Blossom Success Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Hong Kong
AR EBRAT LRELHE/BE (S REER
China Link Technologies Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$100 100 100 - - Investment holding
Hong Kong
RERLHE/BE 100%7T REER
Determined Resources Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1,000 100 100 - - Shareinvestment
Hong Kong
HBRYHE/BE 1,000%7T RIARE
Earnest Wealth Company Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - - 100 100 Investment holding
BREYHE e REER
Premium Realty Company Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - - 100 100 Investment holding
HEEYHE S REER

0
Z
>
4
2]
>
-
F)
m
v
o
~
|
T
#
#
B

= | rgv/ﬂuaa%améﬂg

- &

L EHSO



N
20T LYOd3Y TYNANNY | QILIWITLNIWLSIANI ONIH ONOHI NIT g

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The majority of
these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong. The principal activities
of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

AR e SRR MY 5

40. T EMBE 2R (&)

BE5Ra HAEEXEIEEREKX
TEZAEENRBRARZECHYIR L
ROBERD BREHMMBRATE
# o BEIRIBR TR ©

BENBAT B ESFRERITEMGRS

R

RAREHR > ZRBHAHMBARE

EMEFrBEANMBAE - ZFHE
AEPAREREREREE - LEKHE

AR EEZEFRFIIWMT

Number of subsidiaries

MEARHA
Principal activities Principal place of business 2024 2023
TEEH TEERUE “ECME ZZZ=
Hotel operation and management PRC - 1
BIERE R E f
Investment holdlng British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong 11 13
REER EBEYHE /B
Property investment Hong Kong 2 2
MERE A
Inactive Hong Kong/PRC 8 7
HEER E#&/h
notes: M5

(i) The companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC.
(i) The company is non-wholly owned sino-foreign enterprises established in the PRC.

(i) At the end of the reporting period, the Group does not have non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have individually material non-controlling interests.

() ZERAERPERLZIEEELE
(i) ZFRFARNRPERILZPHEELERF -

(i) REREHERX > FEFMEBERFEAFERRFEE
HIFREMBEAT
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